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Letter from the Chairman
Dear Shareholders,
I am very sorry to start this report by recalling the passing of our Chairman, Giovanni
Colaiacovo. He was the founder of Colacem S.p.A., together with his brothers.
From the onset, Giovanni was able to handle the challenges of the markets with wisdom
and helped turn Colacem, a small local business, into a leader in Italy and across the globe.
He was a person known for his incredible kindness and compassion who we will dearly miss. I am certain that his
valuable teachings will be an example and a guide for all of us.
As regards the year ended, characterized by an overall deceleration of the Italian economy where GDP grew by just
0.2%, cement production grew by 0.3%, while the ready-mix concrete segment posted 0.9% growth.
In Italy, it is worth mentioning the active role we have played in streamlining the offer of the two cement and concrete
segments, also through the acquisition of the Spoleto plant by Colacem in the cement sector, and the merger of
Calcestruzzi Gubbio S.r.l. and Inerti Galeria into Colabeton S.r.l. in the concrete sector.
In addition, the constant focus on expanding the scope, targeting new foreign markets helped to achieve even stronger
performance.
The guiding principle of sustainability continues to remain central part of our strategies, managing environmental
protection, economic and social development with an ethical and interconnected approach.
It gives me great satisfaction to say that the 2019 consolidated financial statements, that we present to you, show the
Group's considerable financial and capital strength, as a result of its positive earning capacity. As in the past, the
results achieved in our core business were encouraging in Italy, good in the Tunisian-based company CAT, and
outstanding in the Caribbean, where Domicem and its subsidiaries were able to operate in an expanding market with
ever growing prospects.
The Group's non-core companies showed satisfactory level of performance, confirming the positive trend of recent
years.
We must, however, remember that 2020 opened with the continuation of positive data, thanks to government
strategies aimed at prioritizing a widespread network of infrastructure works, of which the country is in dire need of.
Unfortunately, starting in March, with production activities and social life coming to a halt because of the unexpected
and unthinkable coronavirus pandemic, this crushed the national and international economy, causing a phase marked
by acute uncertainty and instability in the business cycle. Although this moment in history is extremely complex, it is
important to stress that the foundations of our Group allow us to look to the future with measured optimism. On the
one hand, we are hopeful that our country, in order to overcome the very serious consequences of the public health
emergency, will soon be able to use the resources coming from the "Next Generation EU" recovery package. This
package will be allocated to an extraordinary public investment plan designed to stimulate long-term sustainable
growth to make the country more competitive. It should have a positive impact on employment, on the wellbeing of
citizens and offer benefits to future generations who risk paying the highest price of this crisis. On the other hand, we
are fully aware of the fact that we have a strong corporate organization, made up of passionate, capable and tenacious
people who represent our real wealth.
And, in this sense, I would like to conclude with the words of Steve Jobs:" Technology is nothing. What's important is
that you have faith in people, that they're basically good and smart — and if you give them tools, they'll do wonderful
things with them.",

The Chairman

6
8
7
8

Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

Business Philosophy
Financo is the holding company of the Colaiacovo group, active in the core-business of the production and
marketing of cement and concrete.
The subsidiary Colacem is the third Italian manufacturer in the cement sector as is Colabeton in the concrete
sector. In addition to the Tracem and Inba transport companies, developed according to the core companies,
Financo is involved in diversified sectors such as tourism-hotel, insurance, radio television, up to the sports
sector with the Misano World Circuit "Marco Simoncelli" of Misano Adriatico.
The philosophy of the Financo Group is the result of a family business tradition based on the excellence of the
products and services offered, on the use of the best available technologies, on an organization of trained and
capable people and on a long-standing know-how.
Relations with stakeholders, based on involvement and dialog, have been at the center of this philosophy,
because it is thanks to the knowledge and cultural exchange between different subjects of a community that the
most advanced results can be achieved. These are some of the real elements that can well summarize the
Group's approach to sustainability, reaffirmed in the Mission and Vision.
Mission
The Financo Group contributes to making the realities in which it operates better and more livable, creating
economic, cultural and social value. The Group companies are constantly engaged in the challenge of global
markets, with the will to be leaders and precursors of innovations in industrial policies, organization and working
methods.
Vision
Sustainability and ethical dimension of entrepreneurial activity are values that represent the Group's vision right
from the start. The aspects of special sensitivity to environmental impact and safety at work are evidenced by
investments in staff training and industrial plants, always attentive to scientific and technological advancement.
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Group Code of Ethics
The Financo Group, as Financo S.r.l. as Parent Company and its subsidiaries, has adopted a Code of Ethics
and takes as its guiding principles compliance with the law and regulations, within a framework of integrity,
fairness and confidentiality. The search for competitiveness on the market is pursued in compliance with
competition law.
The Financo Group operates by adopting a dynamic vision of the context in which it moves, with the aim of
transforming the challenges into real goals, focusing on strengthening the credibility and trust of the
stakeholders.
Each Group company acts with the utmost commitment towards sustainability, adopting the best available
technologies to maximize the positive impacts on the communities and minimize as much as possible the
negative ones, in each country where it operates.
In terms of social responsibility, the Group allocates important resources to protect the safety of workers, and
the various aspects of life in our surroundings. The Group fosters studies, works together with public authorities,
protects the historical and cultural heritage, promotes cultural activities and encourages social life. It takes all
the necessary steps to remedy any pre-existing environmental damage.
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Structure of the

Group

International presence

HAITI
Citadelle United S.A.

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
Domicem S.A.

JAMAICA
Buying House Cement Ltda.

SPAIN
Cementos Colacem Espana S.L.U.

TUNISIA
Les Ciments Artificiels Tunisiens S.A.

ITALY
Colacem S.p.A.
Colabeton S.p.A.

ALBANIA
ALBANIA __________
Colacem
ColacemAlbania
AlbaniaSh.p.k.
Sh.p.k.
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2019 Results
Before moving on to the brief analysis of the key financial data for 2019, we must unfortunately draw attention
to the extremely serious pandemic known as Covid 19, which in the first few months of 2020 struck the entire
planet adversely affecting both production activities and aggregate demand in all the world's economies, a
calamity that experts predict will not end in 2020 but could even continue into 2021, bringing with it the inevitable
negative economic effects that had already arisen in the first quarter of 2020.
Global economic growth remained subdued during 2019. International trade expanded again in the third quarter
with the prospects for development negatively affected by uncertainties caused by the outbreak of the COVID19 pandemic.
The Global economy during 2019 was subdued with the performance of the manufacturing sector consolidating,
while that of the services sector remained largely stable. The preliminary trade agreement signed between
China and the United States led to the easing of trade tensions which should help to remove the obstacles to
international growth.
In the euro area economic activity was slowed down by the weakness of the manufacturing sector, which
continued in the last part of the year, buoyed by domestic demand and by consumption in particular, which
strengthened thanks to the positive developments in employment. GDP continued to grow in Spain, France
and, to a lesser degree, Italy; it returned to growth in Germany, at a very low rate but slightly above expectations.
On the whole, the construction sector in Europe continued to show increased resilience.
With reference to the Italian construction market, which is where the main Italian companies in the Group
operate, the National Association of Italian Constructors (ANCE), within its report, indicates that in 2019 the
construction sector recorded for the third consecutive year a 2.3% increase in investments in real terms (1.5%
in 2018), which on the whole amount to approximately €130 billion at current market values, an absolutely
negligible increase for a sector that has fallen to historical lows in the past 11 years and, compared to 2008,
has suffered a contraction of over 30% in production levels; this downturn has caused the closure of around
130 thousand companies and the loss of over 640 thousand jobs. According to ANCE, Italy's construction
industry trends in 2019 did not appear uniform. Northern Italy started to grow, Southern Italy is still facing
challenges, while the figures for Central Italy were positive, but still way below the figures recorded in the North.
The sector was still driven by the residential building renovation market and the private non-residential sector,
but the year just ended also saw a first positive sign in the public works sector.
Against this backdrop, which characterized the Italian construction segment in 2019, the numbers for the
cement manufacturing sector at the national level fell. Since the onset of the crisis in 2008, production in the
sector has declined by more than 57%, although it seems that the slump has stopped in recent years, where,
for the third year running, production has posted a positive result.
The Financo Group, within the economic environment described, has sought to operate carefully, seeking to
seize all the opportunities that have arisen despite the difficulties that have stricken the economy in general.
The main companies of the Financo Group, such as Colacem, Domicem, CAT and Maddaloni Cementi, saw a
marked improvement in financial results.
The Financo Group ended 2019 with a consolidated turnover of 523.5 million euro, reporting an EBITDA of
101.3 million euro and an EBIT of 54.5 million euro, all improving with respect to 2018 results.

Consolidated Sales
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(the comparative figures for the previous year were 466,5 million euro, 79 million euro, and 33.5 million year,
respectively).
Group profit was 10.6 million euro (in 2018 the result for the year was 11.7 million euro as it included nonrecurring
income items not shown in the 2019 financial statements). Cash flow for 2019, which is perfectly in line with the
previous year figure, amounted to 58 million euro after allocating amortization and write-downs for 39.1 million euro.
The substantial alignment of the result for the year compared to the 2018 figure is mainly attributable to a significant
improvement in the operating revenue, in the amount of 42.5 million euro, that helped to largely offset both the increase
in operating costs, in the amount of 21.4 million euro, and the negative effect of financial expenses, totaling 8.8 million
euro, which in 2018 came to 1.4 million euro as it included a nonrecurring positive income item, in the amount of 8.8
million euro, attributable to the sale of derivatives.
It would be impossible to constructively and effectively comment on the analysis of economic data for 2019 without
first saying a few words about the extremely serious COVID-19 pandemic which struck the entire planet in the first few
months of 2020. The negative impact of the pandemic on both production and aggregate demand was apparent in all
economies. Experts predict that this disaster is unlikely to end in 2020 and could even continue into 2021, bringing
with it the inevitable negative economic effects that already surfaced in the first quarter of 2020.
Key financial highlights
Net revenue
Other revenue and income
EBITDA
% on revenues
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs
Operating income (EBIT)
% on revenues
Group Net Result
% on revenues
Cash flow (income + depr./amort. + value adjustments)
% on revenues

2019

2017

523,467

2018
466,528

445,345

46,395

60,857

27,011

101,304

79,029

33,121

19.4%
46,760

16.9%
45,565

7.4%
47,763

54,544

33,464

(14,642)

10.4%

10,564

7.2%
11,663

- 3.3%
(26,363)

2.0%

2.5%

-5.9%

57,953

58,020

11,543

11.1%

12.4%

2.6%

J
Revenues by Business area

Employees by Business area

Cement - 76.0%

Cement - 77.4%

Concrete - 19.5%

Concrete - 11.1%

Transportation - 0.7%

Transportation - 8.1%
Diversified - 3.4%

Diversified - 3.8%
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Corporate positions
of the Parent company
BOARD
BOARDOF
OFDIRECTORS
DIRECTORS
Francesca Colaiacovo

Chairman

Maria Carmela Colaiacovo

Vice Chairman

Carlo Colaiacovo

Director

Stefano Farabbi

Director

Mariano Spigarelli

Director

Paola Colaiacovo

Director

Giuseppe Colaiacovo

Director

Cristina Colaiacovo

Director

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
Alcide Casini

Chairman

Renato Zanotti

Acting Auditor

Paolo Agnesi

Acting Auditor

Antonio Di Giovanni

Alternate Auditor

Luca Vannucci

Alternate Auditor

SUPERVISORY BODY
Michele Luigi Giordano

Chairman

Lorenzo Belloni

Member

AUDITING FIRM
DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A.

Limited liability company
Registered office in Gubbio [Perugia] - Via della Vittorina 60
Share capital 6,000,000 euro fully paid-in
Tax Code, VAT number and registration number
in the Business Register of the Court of Perugia: 00261100549
Tel. +39 07592401 - Fax +39 0759240265
www.financo.it - info@financo.it
Certified email (PEC): financo@legalmail.it
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Management Report
Dear Shareholders,
this is the first time that we find ourselves commenting on the consolidated financial statements during a situation
which has been an emotional roller coaster. The Chairman of Colacem S.p.A., Giovanni Colaiacovo, passed away a
few weeks ago. He was the founder, together with his three brothers, of the group. It is an enormous loss for all of
us. He was an exceptional entrepreneur with a great sense of humanity, which often proved fundamental in keeping
the company united and close-knit. To best honor him, we can only strive to carry on his work, building upon the
lessons he taught us: honesty, professionalism, dedication to work and loving what you do. A lover of art and beauty
he transferred this passion to our well-kept industrial facilities. A very optimistic person, always gentle and calm in
demeanor, capable of getting along with everyone. He will be dearly missed.
The consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group for the year ended 31 December 2019, report a profit of
10,564 thousand euro mainly attributable to the solid performance of the Group as a whole. Italian and foreign sales
grew; the positive economic impact due to a series of Financo Group reorganization transactions resulted in adding a
new company, Spoleto Cementi S.r.l, into the scope of consolidation. This was the result of the acquisition, by the
subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. which took place in April 2019, the transfer of the business unit, essentially consisting of
the Ragusa (RG) plant owned by Colacem S.p.A, to the wholly-owned subsidiary Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. in
February 2019 and included within the scope of consolidation, the merger by incorporation of Calcestruzzi Gubbio
S.r.l., a subsidiary already included on a line-by-line basis in previous consolidated financial statements, into
Colabeton S.p.A., and finally the merger by incorporation of Inerti Galeria S.r.l., a company previously consolidated
using the equity method, into Colabeton S.p.A.
The year just ended was characterized by an increase in consolidated operating revenue, in the amount of 42,481
thousand euro (+8.1%) which, as already mentioned, can only be attributed to the improvement in overall sales
revenues (+56,939 euro), offset by the decrease in the item Other revenue and income which in the previous
financial statements was positively impacted by the economic effects resulting from the sale of the entire investment
held by Colacem S.p.A. in the company Colacem Canada Inc. which came to a total of about 39 million euro.
The increase in sales led to an increase in production costs for 21,401 thousand euro (+4.3%) that saw the Financo
Group achieve an EBIT of 54,544 thousand euro, an increase compared with the figure reported in 2018, which was
33,464 thousand euro.
KEY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DATA
Financial highlights for the Financo Group
Revenue

2019

2018

523,467

466,528

Other revenue and income

48,414

64,666

Changes in inventories

(3,802)

(4,860)

1,787

1,051

101,304

79,029

% on revenues

19.4%

16.9%

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs

39,090

39,738

7,670

5,827

Operating income (EBIT)

54,544

33,464

% on revenues

10.4%

7.2%

Group Net Result

10,564

11,663

Increase in own work capitalized
EBITDA

Other provisions

% on revenues

2.0%

2.5%

Cash-Flow (income + depreciation/amortization + value adjustments)

57,953

58,020

% on revenues

11.1%

12.4%
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[*] EBITDA (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization”): performance indicator calculated by
the Group as a result for the year, adjusted for the following accounting items: (i) taxes (ii) net financial income
(expenses) including value adjustments to financial assets, (iii) other provisions and write-downs including credit
write-downs, (iv) depreciation/amortization of tangible and intangible assets. It should be noted that the criterion for
determining the reported EBITDA applied by the Group may not be the same as that adopted by other companies or
by other groups and, therefore, the balance obtained by the Group may not be comparable with that determined by
the latter.
[**] EBIT (“Earning Before Interest and Taxes”): performance indicator calculated by the Group as a result of the
financial year gross of the following Income Statement items: (i) "net financial income (expenses)" including value
adjustments to financial assets, and (ii) "taxes". The Group believes that it represents a useful indicator of its ability
to generate profits before financial management and tax effects.
[***] EBITDA FOR THE CALCULATION OF COVENANTS (“Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization”): performance indicator calculated by the Group as a result for the year, adjusted for the following
accounting items: (i) taxes, (ii) net financial income (expenses) including value adjustments to financial assets, (iii)
other provisions and write-downs including write-downs of receivables, (iv) depreciation/amortization of tangible and
intangible assets, (v) leasing fees listed in the table of costs for leased assets in the amount of 1,830 thousand euro.

[thousands of euro]

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands of euro)

2019

2018 Difference

Change
% 19/18

Revenue

523,467

466,528

56,939

12.2

Value Added

197,371

172,250

25,121

14.6

Gross Operating Margin (Ebitda [*])

101,304

79,029

22,275

(28.2)

% on revenues (Ebitda margin)

19.4%

16.9%

Amortization and depreciation

39,090

39,738

(648)

(1.6)

7,670

5,827

1,843

31.6

Operating income (Ebit [**])

54,544

33,464

% on revenues (Ebit margin)

10.4%

7.2%

Other provisions and write-downs

Net financial income and (expenses)

(63.0)

(1,397)

(7,400)

(529.7)

(629)

(792)

163

20.6

Earnings before tax

45,118

31,275

Tax
Profit for the year including minority interests

19,931
25,187

10,271
21,004

9,660
4,183

(94.1)

Value adjustments to financial assets

(Profit) Loss for the period relating to minority interests

(8,797)

21,080

13,843

(44.3)
(19.9)

(14,623)

(9,341)

(5,282)

(56.6)

Profit (Loss) for the year

10,564

11,663

(1,099)

9.4

Cash Flow (Income (Loss) + Depreciation/Amortization +
Provisions + Value adjustments)

57,953

58,020

(67)

0.1

350,090

335,420

14,670

4.4

(123,968)

(138,134)

14,166

10.3

21,066

18,460

2,606

14.1

1,031

3,386

(2,355)

(69.6)

Equity
Net Financial Position with Third parties
Technical investments
Equity investments

The economic indicators shown below may not be directly comparable with those used by other companies, as there
is no uniform way of expressing the aggregate data taken as reference for the calculation and therefore the value
obtained by the Group may not be comparable with that determined by other companies.
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2019

2018

3.02%

3.48%

Profitability ratios
R.O.E.

Net Income / Shareholders' Equity

R.O.I.

Operating Income/Net Invested Capital

11.32%

6.88%

R.O.S.

Operating Income / Sales

10.42%

7.17%

Financial equity ratios
Debt Equity

Net financial position/ Shareholders’ Equity

0.38

0.42

Liquidity ratios

Gross Working Capital / Current Liabilities

1.66

1.59

Efficiency Ratios
Per-capita Revenue

Revenue/No. of Employees

Employee Performance

Revenue / Cost of Labor

268
5.45

234
5.00

NET FINANCIAL DEBT
The total net financial position totaled 112.4 million euro. The financial exposure towards third parties
decreased significantly, dropping from 138.1 million euro in the previous year to 124.0 million euro in the year
under review.
[thousands of euro]

NET FINANCIAL DEBT

2019

2018

29,509

42,451

182

474

Cash and cash equivalents

29,327

41,977

Current financial receivables (B)

14,615

8,781

2,838

2,761

Others
Current financial debt (C)

11,777
(42,713)

6,020
(65,723)

Current portion of Bank borrowings

(35,834)

(47,565)

(6,879)

(18,158)

Liquidity (A)
Cash

From associates

Current portion borrowings from Other Lenders
Net current financial debt D=(A+B+C)

1,411

Non-current financial receivables (E)

11,856

8,460

From subsidiaries

7,108

1,064

From associates

1,662

1,859

From third-parties

3,086

5,537

(125,627)

(126,419)

Payables to banks

(79,605)

(97,296)

To third-parties

(46,022)

(29,123)

Net non-current financial debt H = (E+F)

(113,771)

(117,959)

TOTAL Net financial debt (D+H)

(112,360)

(132,450)

Third party adjusted net financial debt

(123,968)

(138,134)

Non-current Financial Payables (F)

(14,491)
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GENERAL ECONOMIC FRAMEWORK
Before we analyse and discuss the financial performance of the main industrial areas in the world, we must say a few
words about the extremely serious COVID-19 pandemic. This event struck the entire world during the early months of
2020, with a negative impact on both production activities and aggregate demand in all the world's economies. Experts
predict that this situation will not end in 2020, but is likely to continue into 2021, bringing with it the inevitable
unfavorable impacts on the economy that had already came to light in the first quarter of 2020. This issue will be
further discussed in the Business outlook and corporate continuity section included in this management report.

WORLD
According to the Bank of Italy's Economic Bulletin published in January 2020, global economic growth was limited in
2019. International trade returned to growth in the third quarter, against the outlook which remains uncertain and has
been exacerbated due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
In a broadly similar way, the ECB reports that global economic activity in 2019 remained moderate, where, also in this
analysis, the global manufacturing sector firmed in the last quarter of 2019, while the services sector remained broadly
stable. The preliminary trade agreement signed between China and the United States led to the easing of trade
tensions which should help to remove the obstacles to international growth.
Again, according to the ECB the outlook for global economic activity, excluding the euro area, remained subdued
despite showing signs of stabilization. The global composite output Purchasing Managers’ Index (PMI) excluding the
euro area increased moderately in December. The manufacturing component in particular picked up in the fourth
quarter, signaling a firming of global manufacturing activity, which had gradually weakened since early 2018. The
services sector remained resilient and grew further in December.
The ECB also reported that oil prices in 2019 were supported only temporarily by the OPEC+ group of major oil
producers, who extended their production cuts in early December. Prices spiked at around USD 70 per barrel in early
January, following a rise in tensions in the Middle East, but fell back quickly after tensions eased.
The ECB highlighted that the annualized US real GDP growth stood at 2.1%. Despite the modest pick-up in activity
from second quarter growth of 2.0%, economic activity moderated as a result of weak investment, the fading effect of
the 2018 tax reform and the maturing business cycle.
The ECB, as regards Japan, reported that in early December, the government of Prime Minister Abe announced a
fiscal package to tackle downside risks to activity stemming from a weak external environment and recent natural
disasters. Under the package, fiscal spending amounts to 2.4% of GDP, which puts it among the largest fiscal stimulus
packages enacted under “Abenomics”. The package will largely be implemented in 2020‑ 2021. It should be noted
that the impact of the package on the economy partially offsets the recent increase in VAT. In addition, weak
manufacturing pushed growth into negative territory in the last quarter of 2019.
For the ECB, in the United Kingdom, economic activity appears to have slowed progressively over the fourth quarter of
2019. Confidence indicators remain subdued and well below their historical averages. The outcome of the December
election and the large majority obtained by Prime Minister Johnson remove the short-term risk of a no-deal Brexit at the
end of January, as the Withdrawal Agreement has now become law. However, the United Kingdom is facing a tight
deadline to reach an agreement on its future relationship with the European Union towards the end of 2020, and
therefore policy uncertainty remains high.
As for China’s economy, the ECB reports that the country is showing signs of stabilization and should benefit from the
Phase 1 trade deal with the United States. The trade agreement can further support growth by improving net trade and
lowering trade-related uncertainty.

EUROPE
According to the Bank of Italy's Economic Bulletin, economic activity in the euro area was held back by weakness in
the manufacturing sector, which based on the available indicators, was likely to continue in the last part of the year.
According to Eurosystem staff projections, published in December, inflation would remain well below 2% over the next
three years. In the third quarter, GDP growth in the Euro area remained unchanged at 0.2% on the previous quarter.
Economic activity was buoyed by domestic demand and by consumption in particular, which strengthened thanks to
the positive developments in employment. Against a backdrop of weak world trade, the contribution of net exports was
slightly negative. GDP continued to grow in Spain, France and, to a lesser degree, Italy; it returned to growth in
Germany, at a very low rate but slightly above expectations.
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The industrial sector remained the weakest one, with economic activity contracting again in the summer quarter and
with an especially sharp drop in Germany.
According to the Bank of Italy, in the fourth quarter of 2019, growth appears to have remained moderate: in December,
the Bank of Italy’s €-coin indicator, which estimates the underlying GDP trend in the euro area, stood at very low
levels. In the two months October and November, the fall in industrial production attenuated slightly, also thanks to
the performance of Germany’s industrial sector, which was better than expected.
According to the ECB, real GDP increased by 0.1%, quarter on quarter, in the fourth quarter of 2019, following growth
in the previous quarter, due to a sharp contraction in the manufacturing sector, while the services and construction
sectors continued to remain more resilient. Domestic demand contributed positively to growth by 1 percentage point,
while net exports and changes in stocks, provided a negative contribution of 0.8 and 0.1 percentage points
respectively. Overall, the GDP growth in the fourth quarter led to an annual GDP increase of 1.2% in 2019, down from
the 1.9% recorded in 2018.
In the fourth quarter of 2019, the ECB highlighted that employment continued to grow, increasing by 0.3% over the
previous period. Most euro area countries saw an increase in employment, but this was more concentrated in the
construction and services sectors. The level of employment currently stands at almost 4.3% above the pre-crisis peak
recorded in the first quarter of 2008. Taking into account the latest increase, there has been cumulative growth in
employment in the euro area, with 12 million more people in employment than at the time of the trough in the second
quarter of 2013.
According to the ECB, private consumption in the euro area increased 0.1% quarter on quarter, following somewhat
stronger growth in the third quarter. In this regard, the ECB highlights that employment growth strengthened in the
fourth quarter of 2019 in an environment of robust wage increases. This implies steady growth in households’ real
disposable income and supports consumer confidence and spending.
The ECB also reported that non-construction investment grew by 8%, quarter on quarter, in the fourth quarter of 2019,
on account of a 20% quarterly rise in investment in intellectual property products, mainly related to Ireland. Meanwhile,
quarterly machinery and equipment investment growth slowed in 2019 and contracted in the fourth quarter, an
outcome which was mirrored in the particularly weak industrial production of capital goods in that quarter. The loss of
momentum partly reflects remaining elevated economic uncertainty and weaker demand conditions.
According to the ECB, housing investment increased by 0.4%, quarter on quarter, in the fourth quarter of 2019,
reflecting a moderation in the growth momentum in euro area housing markets. Although housing investment growth
decreased for the third consecutive year in 2019, recent short-term indicators and survey results point to positive but
slowing momentum. Construction production in the buildings segment dropped by 1%, quarter on quarter, in the fourth
quarter of 2019, marking its third consecutive quarterly decline.
After a rebound in export growth in the Euro area, the ECB reported that preliminary trade goods data to November
indicate a stabilization of extra euro area exports, which have been characterized by pronounced volatility, most likely
associated with stockpiling behavior related to concerns about the possibility of a hard Brexit in October 2019. Data
show relatively resilient growth in exports to the United States and a firming recovery in exports to Turkey and China,
while exports to the rest of Asia remain subdued. On the other hand, intra-euro area goods exports and imports
declined in October and November, reflecting weakness in euro area industrial production and economic activity. The
latest release of national accounts data shows a marked decline in imports in the third quarter of 2019, mostly driven
by trade in services, which contracted strongly by 5.1% after posting 8.4% growth, quarter on quarter, in the second
quarter.

ITALY
According the Bank of Italy's Bulletin, GDP remained more or less unchanged in Italy in the last quarter of 2019,
above all owing to the weakness of the manufacturing sector. GDP rose by 0.1 per cent in the third quarter, boosted
by domestic demand and above all by household spending. Investment declined, especially that in capital goods.
The contribution of foreign trade was negative owing to a slight reduction in exports and a sizeable increase in imports.
On the basis of these assessments, the Bank of Italy estimated that GDP growth in 2019 as a whole was around 0.2
per cent.
The Bank of Italy's bulletin reports that in the third quarter of 2019, investment fell slightly because of the decline in
purchases of capital goods, although investment in construction increased.
The increase in disposable income recorded in 2019 by the Bank of Italy, boosted household spending in the summer
months; the propensity to save remained essentially unchanged. The decline in consumer confidence in the autumn
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could, however, signal a slowdown in consumption in the fourth quarter. Household spending in the third quarter of 2019
accelerated to 0.4% for both durable and semi-durable goods, an upward trend that also continued in the fourth quarter.
The propensity to save remained at around 9%.
Italian exports reflected weak growth in international trade in the third quarter of 2019. Nevertheless, the current account
surplus remains large and Italy’s net international investment position is still close to balance. In the third quarter, the
volume of exports of goods and services declined by 0.1 per cent, in the face of persistently weak international trade.
Transport equipment, metal products and food products contributed the most to the growth in goods exports, hit by the fall
in the mechanical machinery sector and – following strong growth in the preceding quarters – the pharmaceutical sector.
As far as the labor market is concerned, according to the Bank of Italy employment grew in the third quarter of 2019, while
the unemployment rate fell while labor costs slowed.
With reference to the Italian construction market, which is where the main Italian companies in the Group operate, the
report of the National Association of Italian Constructors (ANCE) indicates that in 2019 the construction sector recorded for
the third consecutive year a 2.3% increase in investments in real terms (1.5% in 2018), which on the whole amount to
approximately 130 billion euro at current market values, an absolutely negligible increase for a sector that has fallen to
historical lows in the past 11 years and, compared to 2008, has suffered a contraction of over 30% in production levels; this
downturn has caused the closure of around 130 thousand companies and the loss of over 640 thousand jobs.
The construction sector showed irregular trends across the country. Northern Italy started heading towards growth,
Southern Italy is still facing challenges, while the figures for Central Italy were positive, but still much lower than those of the
North.
The sector was still driven by the residential building renovation market and the private non-residential sector, but the year
just ended also saw a first positive signs in the public works sector.
(Investments - in millions of euro)
CONSTRUCTION SECTOR

2019

2018

(at current values) (at current values)

Residential

62,940

62,523

- new houses

17,545

- extraordinary maintenance (redevelopment)

Change %
18/19
(in real terms)

% 2019
on the Total

1.9%

50.0%

16,336

5.4%

13.5%

47,395

46,188

Non-residential

64,914

62,064

0.7%
2.6%

36.5%
45.0%

- private

41,831

40,050

2.5%

32.2%

- public

23,083

22,014

2.9%

17.8%

129,853

124,587

2.3%

100%

Total Construction
(Source: ANCE)

The residential construction sector recorded investments of 62,940 million euro in 2019, with 1.9% growth in real terms
compared to the previous year.
Investments in the redevelopment of housing assets continued with the positive trend seen in previous years, reaching a
value of 47,395 million euro, an increase of 0.7%. This segment, which by now represents about 37% of construction
expenditure, has continued to show growth in productions levels. This was the only segment to support construction during
this period of crisis, due to the tax incentives provided for restructuring work and improved energy use, and the initial effects
of the earthquake-bonus and eco-bonus for apartment buildings.
The new housing segment reported an increase of 5.4% in real term growth with investments in the amount of 17,545 million
euro, thereby confirming the positive trend that started in 2017. Here, it is worth noting that in prior years, this segment suffered
a sharp contraction in production levels reaching over 70%, therefore the segment most penalized by the long and profound
crisis.
The non-residential private construction segment reported a further increase of 2.5% in real terms. With 41,831 million
euro in investments, it was, along with the residential improvements segment, the driving force behind the construction
sector. These sectors alone accounted for almost 70% of construction expenditure in Italy, even though their performance
is closely linked to economic trends. There had already been clear signs of a slowdown during the year, also confirmed by
the negative trend in loans granted for non-residential investments, down after years of growth.
After a decade of continuous contractions, the public building sector recorded 2.9% growth in real terms, equal to 23,083
million euro. Although still light years away from the pre-crisis levels, where investments in the sector were worth more than
50 billion euros, it was a faint first signal that risks being extinguished by the events we are currently facing. Construction
needs the public works sector to recover and the country needs to get the sector back up on its feet.
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Italy is still a faltering country; infrastructures are obsolete or collapsing, maintenance is non-existent, networks are inefficient,
unfinished works, construction sites that never take off, unsafe structures and long and complex processes in public
administrations. In Italy, the infrastructure system has been going through years of extremely difficult periods from which it is
struggling to recover. It is undermined also by countless red tape and legislation and this does not help the development that
the country needs.
We have started to see some of the hoped-for results of the work done on both a central and local level. The value of major
works in the amounts tendered has increased considerably, which returned to reflect a 30% share (only 10% in 2018) of the
demand for public works.
Investments in public works at a local level are on the rise, while the large infrastructure industry is still facing serious
difficulties due to bureaucracy, an excessively complex regulatory framework and long implementation times.
In consideration of what has been noted with in terms of performance of the entire public works sector, alongside the good
performance of local authorities, the latest ANCE analysis confirms that there are still a number of problems and uncertainties
in the large infrastructure sector for entities with high spending levels, such as Anas and Ferrovie, due to the very long
approval times of the respective Program Contracts which have been the cause of many delays in planning. The trends
described above are part of the positive developments in public tendering procedures, which has been ongoing for three
years now. 2019 also closed with an additional increase in the amounts tendered (+25.7% year-on-year), against a slowdown
in number (-4.8%). The particularly positive trend in terms of value was mainly driven by large works, which have returned to
represent an important share of the demand for public works, equal to 30% (in 2018 it was at minimum levels, equal to only
10%). It should be emphasized that, since these are complex and large-scale works, they take a very long time to complete.
More specifically, Ance highlights that in recent years, despite the willingness indicated by governments to focus on boosting
public investment to support economic growth, the results achieved on the level of investments have always been
disappointing and fall short of expectations.
The significant resources allocated starting in 2016 and the measures to support investment, have come up against a system
of rules unable to turn intentions into practice and with extremely tight budget constraints, the result of economic policy
decisions that have always penalized capital expenditure to finance current expenditure or to fall within European parameters.
These difficulties are clear from the performance of the public works sector, which has seen production levels falling since
2005, recording, until 2018, a reduction of almost 60%. Some faint positive signs only first came to light in the last quarter of
2018, which, however, exclusively concerned movements in investments by regional authorities.
In particular, with reference to Italian municipalities, capital expenditure data obtained from the State General Accounting
Office (Siope) show an increase of 16% in the first 10 months of 2019, after a +15% recorded in the fourth quarter of 2018
compared to the same period of the previous year, results that depend on the release of local authorities' surpluses and the
effective implementation of the spending programs provided for in the latest budget laws. In the labor market, there are still
no signs of a recovery in employment levels. Istat data for 2019 shows further deterioration in employment levels about 4.5
percent compared with last year. Employment levels were still 32% lower compared with the pre-crisis figure.
In this situation reported by the
construction industry in Italy, the numbers
for 2019 for the cement production sector
nationwide were brutal. Since the onset of
the crisis in 2008, production in the sector
has slumped by more than 57%, although
the downfall seems to have come to a halt
in recent years. In fact, for the third
consecutive year, production posted a
positive result. For 2019, cement
production at the national level is
estimated to have increased by 0.3%, or
around 19.9 million tons, still a long way
behind the numbers needed to return to
pre-crisis levels, which is unlikely to
happen. This is the logic behind the many
restructuring
and
reorganization
operations carried out in recent years by
the most important operators in the
cement sector, to meet the new production
trends of the market. The changes were
structural, and needed to be addressed as
such.
CEMENT DELIVERIES
CEMENT/ PRODUCTION
2017-2019
DELIVERIES 2017-2019
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Cement deliveries, estimated in 2019 at around 18 million tons, recorded an increase of 0.9% compared to the previous
year, which closed with a slight increase of 0.6%.
The increase in deliveries was mainly due to the good performance recorded in Northern Italy, which grew by about 5.3%
with deliveries of around 9.8 million tons, i.e. 54% of all deliveries in Italy. The North-East performed far better (+9.3%) than
the North-West (+2.2).
On the contrary, cement deliveries in other areas of the country went in the other direction. Central Italy recorded about 3
million tons in cement deliveries, down 3.2%. In the south of the country, the decrease was more pronounced (-5.1%) with
volumes delivered equal to 3.8 million tons, or 21% of the national total. Finally, an estimated 1.8 million tons of product
were delivered in the Islands, down 2.2%.
The net differences between the North and the rest of the country reflects the trend seen in the construction industry, since
the largest number of sites under construction involving so-called "major works" are concentrated in the Northern regions,
and this is where the largest consumption of cement takes place.
Cement consumption, which expresses the effect of cement deliveries plus cement imports, grew by 0.9%, reaching a
value of 19.4 million tons.
There has been a spike in cement imports over the past 5 years. They increased 1.2% in 2019 (+35% from 2018). The
amounts imported during the year reached 1.3 million tons, of which 144 thousand tons of white cement, mainly coming
from Turkey.
In 2019, Slovenia was once again the top country from which grey cement was imported, with about 302 thousand tons,
followed by Greece (296 thousand tons), Croatia (239 thousand tons), France (123 thousand tons) and Turkey (94
thousand tons, an increase of almost fivefold); these nations cover almost 90% of the national import. It is worth noting the
collapse in cement imports from Spain, virtually zero, and the sharp drop in grey cement imported from Albania (-38%),
which came in at only 54 thousand tons.
While imports grew in the five-year period, the same period saw an opposite trend in cement exports, which fell by 24% in
that period. In 2019 alone, exports fell by 4.5% and came to about 1.9 million ton. Overall, the trade balance in Italy was
largely positive, confirming that Italy is a nation that still has a hold on the export market. The export of Portland cement
(+1.3%) alone is worth about 1.6 million tons, while white cement, which in terms of volumes is only 94 thousand tons per
year, decreased by about 14% There was a strong contraction in exports of special cements (-55%), which amounted to
about 173 thousand tons.
France was still the first recipient country of exports with 503 thousand tons. Malta, Spain, Switzerland, and Slovenia follow
as the major countries of destination. Malta and Spain trended upwards, while trends in France and Switzerland were
slightly down. The first five Countries cover about 89% of national export.
In relation to Clinker import-export, the main trends in these years continued along the same path. Clinker exports, in the
amount of 178 thousand ton, were down 18% but only due to the lack of some occasional transaction in the previous year
(Sierra Leone and Cameron). Subtracting these transactions, the figure is in line with 2018. Albania, with 158 thousand ton,
is still the main country of destination for clinker, followed by Switzerland and France with, together, cover 97% of export.
Clinker imports continue to grow steadily, reaching 645 thousand tons in 2019 (+33.4%). Slovenia maintains its position as
the main country from which clinker is imported, with volumes of around 320 thousand tons, down 6%. Compared with the
previous year, clinker imports from Turkey increased considerably (196 thousand tons) and a new channel opened from
Tunisia (66 thousand tons).
[Source - Eurostat and Internal estimates].
The weak recovery seen in recent years in the construction sector had generally positive effects on the concrete production
sector.

Italy production
(Mln of cm)

Change %
Change %
(previous year) (compared to 2008)

Diff.
(vs. 2008)
(Mln of cm)

2019

30.37

0.86%

-55.5%

(37.89)

2018

30.11

0.65%

-55.9%

(38.15)

2017

29.91

0.32%

-56.2%

(38.35)

2008

68.26

(Source: internal estimate)
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According to internal estimates, in 2019 the production of concrete in Italy grew 0.9% on the whole, and stood at about
30.4 million cubic meters. Therefore, the positive, albeit modest, trend starting in the first quarter continued. It is still
too soon to see whether trends are actually reversing but more as an expected change in a segment, by now at an alltime low. Pre-crisis production levels now refer to a season that has ended and can no longer be repeated. Since
2008, concrete production in Italy has fallen by around 56%, losing over 38 million cubic meters.
There was a subtle increase in 2019, thereby confirming the break in the negative cycle that has been in place for over
a decade:
As regards the concrete market, 2019 was geographically characterized by a two-tier trend. Northern Italy experienced
significant growth throughout the year; in certain periods more than 54% of the national market was concentrated in
the north. This trend is justified by the fact that concrete consumption typically follows the development of Major Works,
those with sites already in operation, which are increasingly concentrated in northern regions (e.g. Brenner, MilanVenice High Speed, Pedemontana Veneta, Cociv and Milan Metro).
On the contrary, major works are struggling in the central and southern areas of the country which are becoming
increasingly weak. In Central Italy, the market contracted from a concentration of 18% to 15% of the national total.
The target markets for ready-mix concrete are similar to those in previous years with a prevalence of the civil
engineering/public works and non-residential private sectors (both between 36 / 37%), compared to the smaller
residential sector (around 27%).
Selling prices in 2019 improved slightly, with general growth in all areas of the country. The market is still affected by
extremely competitive phenomena, which however has prevented prices from rising as had happened in previous
years.
The production structure of concrete in Italy is still characterized by a high number of companies, usually small and
family-fun, and by a high number of plants, with a very low levels of production on average compared to European
partners. The Italian production structure is too fragmented, therefore also the average production per plant in Italy is
well below the cost-effectiveness threshold of a concrete mixing plant, with evident repercussions on the profitability
of companies, especially the more structured ones.

TUNISIA
In Tunisia, GDP growth was estimated at 1.4% in 2019 (compared to 2.5% in 2018). Despite the improvement in some
indicators relating to the tourism and agricultural sectors, the Tunisian economy is still weak, mainly due to the drop in
demand from the euro area, which has had a negative impact on export manufacturing industries, as well as difficulties
in the hydrocarbon sector.
The average inflation rate in 2019 continued to slow. The trade deficit, in the amount of 10 billion Dinars, has
significantly improved, benefiting from the recovery of tourism and increased travel by Tunisians residing abroad.
While the exchange rate against the euro on the reporting date appreciated year-on-year (+8.5%), the average
exchange rate depreciated by 5.5%.
In this scenario, the cement sector in 2019 was characterized by the resumption of exports to Libya and the fall in
domestic demand, resulting in particular from the crisis in the real estate sector and the continued slowdown in public
works. Local demand for grey cement, in the amount of about 6.4 million tons, was down 9.1% and exports, in the
amount of 1.1 million tons, are up from the 0.3 million tons reported in 2018. Within the sector-specific context described
above, CAT has seen its share of the global market (including exports and without considering clinker) increase by
3%, rising from 9.2% in 2018 to 12.2% in 2019.

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
During December, various international organizations and macroeconomic analysis and projection companies reported
low GDP growth rates for 2019 in five major Latin American economies: Brazil, Mexico, Argentina, Colombia and Chile.
Like other developing nations and emerging markets, these countries, which account for about 80% of Latin America's
gross domestic product (IMF, 2018), have suffered economic and social consequences related to the conflict over
trade tariffs and the subsequent impact on imports and exports implemented by China and the United States.
In 2019, in contrast to previous years, 18 out of 20 countries in Latin America, as well as 23 out of 33 economies in
Latin America and the Caribbean, experienced a slowdown in their growth rate as a result of less dynamic domestic
demand accompanied by low external aggregate demand and by international financial markets that proved to be more
fragile. In this context we must also consider the growing collective pressure to reduce inequalities and improve social
inclusion.
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The recent macroeconomic outlook shows a slowdown in economic activity over the last six years (2014 to 2019). In
2019, GDP per capita, investment, consumption and exports contracted, and there was a continuous decline in
employment. Against this backdrop, in 2019 the economies of Latin America and the Caribbean as a whole grew at an
average rate of 0.1%. During the year, the changes in prices for raw materials, a very relevant factor for the economies
of Latin America and the Caribbean, showed an overall decrease of around 5.0%. This downward trend is expected to
continue in 2020.
At the local level, the preliminary report prepared by the Central Bank of the Dominican Republic reported 5.1% growth
in the GDP in 2019, the best in all of Latin America, which shows how the Dominican economy responded favorably
to the monetary easing measures adopted in mid-2019.
The excellent performance in economic growth recorded by the country is mainly due to the increase in the construction
sector (10.4%), financial services (9.0%), energy (7.5%), services (7.1%) and transport (5.3%).
During 2019, the added value of the construction sector grew 10.4% compared with 2018, becoming the activity with
the strongest impact on economic growth in 2019.
This result was due to the implementation of public and private investment in social housing, the development of works
in the tourism, commercial and energy sectors, as well as the modernization of land transport and road infrastructure
to provide access to rural areas.
The good performance of the construction sector led to positive effects in those of metal structures (11.4%), cement
(7.2%) and various building materials (19.5%).
As for the performance of the tourism and hotel sector, the Central Bank reported a growth of 0.2%. This discreet
performance was adversely affected by external media reports of foreigners falling ill and dying while on holiday in the
Dominican Republic in the first half of the year, causing a 1.9% drop in tourist arrivals.
The Dominican Central Bank also underlined that at the end of 2019 the added value in real terms achieved by
agricultural activity showed an annual growth of 4.1% following the good performance of the agricultural sector in the
strict sense of breeding livestock, forestry and fishing, a trend that was possible thanks to the policies of support for
the sector by the central government, as well as to the credit facilities granted through the Agricultural Bank and to the
technical assistance offered to small and medium producers from Ministry of Agriculture. This made it possible to
partially offset the effects of the drought that had a negative impact in several areas of the country for most of 2019.
On the other hand, the telecommunications industry, at the end of 2019, showed a negative change of 7.2%, as a
result of the 14.7% and 8.2% drop in internet services and mobile phone traffic. Likewise, the average number of fixed
telephone lines also declined by 1.4%.
The Consumer Price Index (CPI) ended 2019 by registering an inflation rate of 3.66%, below the target set in the
National Monetary Programme of 4.0% (± 1.0%).
The average exchange rate of the spot market for the purchase of the US Dollar during the period January - December
2019, was RD 51.19 / 1 USD, recording a depreciation of 3.4% in relation to the same period of 2018.
As regards the performance of the export sector, the result of the current account of the balance of payments closed
with a deficit of 1,204.9 million USD, equivalent to -1.4% of GDP. Foreign exchange inflows into the Dominican
Republic during the year 2019 for exports of goods, tourism, remittances, foreign investment, direct receipts and other
services, amounted to 30,664 million USD, an increase of an additional 1,442.8 million USD over the 2018 figure.
Imports, in the period January - December 2019 increased by 0.4%.
As previously reported, the contribution of the construction sector to the gross domestic product of the year 2019
registered a growth rate of 10.4%, the highest index and with the greatest impact on the Dominican economy. The
cement market, in which Domicem S.A. operates, since 2012 has recorded a steady increase year after year. In 2019,
national consumption amounted to approximately 4.7 million tons, representing an increase of approximately +7.2%
when compared to the consumption of approximately 4.4 million tons in 2018.
The main reasons for this significant increase are that in the public sector, the government continued to develop an
extensive work plan in the construction sector throughout the year, focusing on the implementation of social housing
projects, health centers, road works and the construction of new schools. Also noteworthy is the considerable activity
of the private sector, which has developed high-level projects, both in the tourism sector, particularly in the eastern
part of the country, and in the real estate sector for both luxury and economy housing.
The breakdown of cement sales within the domestic market proved to be very similar to that recorded in 2018, where
38% of cement sales were concentrated in the Santo Domingo area, 36% in the Northern area 10% and 16% in the
East.
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In the period January - December 2019, cement production in the Republic of Santo Domingo amounted to 5.6 million
tons, registering an increase of 4% compared to the same period of 2018 and a percentage of use of the installed
capacity of 81.5% at the plants.
As regards exports, 0.9 million tons in sales were made in 2019, recording a significant decrease of 10.25% compared
to approximately 1 million tons made during from January to December in 2018. This decrease was mainly due to both
the increased demand for cement from the local market and the constant political problems in Haiti during February,
June, September, October and November, which blocked exports to this market, which represent approximately 70%
of cement exports from the Dominican Republic.

HAITI
According to IMF forecasts, Haiti experienced a sharp economic contraction in 2019 with a negative growth rate of 1.2%, a decline that the Bank of the Republic of Haiti predicted to be between -0.6% and 0.0%. The systematic
blockade of economic activities began in late September 2019 provoking severe consequences in the Haitian economy
causing very little revenue for public finances, little economic activity for the private sector and rare employment
opportunities for workers. The inflation rate for the year 2019 was around 20%.
For 2019 it has been calculated an approximate consumption of cement of 1.9 million tons, representing a slight
increase compared to the previous year's figure, which was 1.8 million tons.
The distribution extends between Port-au-Prince, which represents the main market and the other provinces of the
nation. The presence of cement imported from Turkey adversely affects the regular trend in the sale price, recording
decidedly low values, equal to or lower than the normal price of cement.

SPAIN
The Spanish economy continued to expand in 2019 with GDP rising by 2%. However, it’s the slowest growth rate
recorded since 2014 when the recovery began. Exports grew by 3.7%, whereas imports increased by only 2.1%. In
2019, the minimum wage rose, recording the largest increases since the beginning of the crisis. Despite these
improvements, consumption was the worst performer with respect to GDP since the start of the recovery, growing by
only 1.1%. Construction investments fell sharply in the second half of 2019, due to the contraction of the public works
sector to contain public debt. Overall, year-on-year the sector continued to show positive trends.
In this scenario, cement consumption in Spain increased +7.7% in 2019, bringing domestic demand to around 14.5
million tons. Exports decreased by 23% to 6.2 million tons, down by nearly two million tons. Imports doubled, increasing
from 465 thousand tons in 2018 to almost one million in 2019. Cement production in 2019 increased by 2.6%, remaining
however below 17 million tons per year. Spain fell from being the 5th largest producer of cement globally in 2007 to
29th place.

ALBANIA
The Albanian economy grew by 2.2% in 2019. In the last quarter, the trend suffered a setback due to the earthquake
on 26 November, the effects of which were added to the unstable political structure, which makes even more
challenging for the Albanian economy to open up to foreign markets.
However, domestic demand has strengthened. Improved employment, higher wages and consumer credit boosted
private consumption, contributing positively to GDP growth.
The growth was driven by the industry, energy, water resources, trade, transport and the real estate and insurance
sectors. On the other hand, the construction, administrative services, and agricultural sectors declined.
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS SECTOR

Revenues by business
sector
Cement

2019

2018

397,909

337,950

Concrete

102,159

104,341

Transport

3,640

3,592

19,759

20,645

523,467

466,528

Diversified
TOTAL
Cement - 76.0%
Concrete - 19.5%
Transportation - 0.7%
Diversified - 3.8%

HYDRAULIC BINDERS SECTOR
The performance of the main Group companies operating in the hydraulic binders sector is shown
below.

COLACEM S.P.A.
In 2019, Colacem S.p.A. achieved a total turnover of 278
million euro, an increase of 18.1% compared to the
previous year. The growth in revenues was mainly due to
sales on the domestic market, whilst export sales
remained substantially stable. The domestic market
recorded an overall increase in turnover of around 21%
with a significant increase in volumes and slight decrease
in unit revenues.
The strategy of consolidating the company's presence in
Italy was at the center of the Group's objectives. In the
early months of 2019, important extraordinary transactions
were concluded, following the strategies outlined and
which are part of the 2019 - 2025 Business Plan, updated
In short
in February of 2019 and approved by the Board of
31.12.19 31.12.18
Directors at their meeting held in March 2019.
(thousand euro)*
On 1 April 2019, the transaction was concluded for the Revenue
277,566
234,986
acquisition of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l., a newly incorporated EBITDA
29,247
14,710
company in which Cemitaly S.p.A. - held by Italcementi EBIT
10,710
400
S.p.A. and the Heidlberg Cement Group - conferred, prior
Net income
4,541
3,519
to the transfer of the equity investment , the business unit
30,288
25,335
Consisting of the industrial complex for the production of Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
* data before intra-group eliminations
cement located in the municipality of Spoleto (PG)
and the annexed laboratory for product testing and technical analysis activities as well as the adjoining clay and
limestone quarries.
Already in 2019, Colacem S.p.A. saw an important increase in sales due to the contribution of commission-based
supplies on behalf of the subsidiary Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
As part of a larger restructuring project, Colacem S.p.A. stopped production of white cement and sold the business
unit for the marketing of white cement to Italcementi S.p.A. with effect from 1 April 2019.
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These transactions were accompanied by further supply agreements and a specific amending agreement
concerning the terms of payment of the residual debt originating from the acquisition of the company Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l.
These transactions, which were successfully completed in this and the previous financial year, as they are part
of the strategic objectives, have consolidated both a significant growth in the presence of Colacem S.p.A. on the
domestic market, as well as interesting financial results, which will allow us to face our next targets with greater
optimism, focusing on greater company profitability, negatively affected in past years by the crisis in the
construction sector. The new structure set up by Colacem S.p.A. will certainly allow to optimize production
synergies and to have a better product rationalization in the marketplace.
EBITDA, in the amount of 29.2 million euro, increased significantly compared with the 14.7 million euro recorded
in the previous year, although it was impacted by the capital gain in the amount of 13 million euro achieved with
the sale to the Heidelberg Cement Group of the business branch involved in marketing white cement mentioned
above.
Net financial expenses and income were positive for 6.6 million euro with an increase in the dividend flow from
foreign subsidiaries which grew from 11.6 million euro in 2018 to 15.2 million euro in 2019, of which 4.4 million
euro were distributed by CAT S.A. and 10.7 million euro were distributed by Domicem S.A.
The pre-tax result, in the amount of 10.1 million euro compared to 7.4 million euro in 2018, was affected by the
adjustments made to financial assets for the negative net amount of 7.2 million euro and, at the same time, by
the adjustment for 7.3 million euro of the exceptional provision to the Provision for Risks, related to the antitrust
penalty explained in the Pending disputes and proceedings section of this Management Report.
Colacem S.p.A. closed 2019 with a net profit of 4.5 million euro and a cash flow of 30.3 million euro, after
amortization and depreciation of 10.5 million euro and provisions and write-downs for 8 million euro.
In 2019, Colacem S.p.A. made investments in intangible assets worth about 2.8 million euro and invested about
5.2 million euro into property, plant and equipment.
Despite the ongoing crisis in the construction industry and the difficulties experienced in recent years, the
company has continued to invest in the various production plants in order to maintain high levels of safety and
to continually improve the efficiency of existing plants, already technologically advanced, not only in terms of
production but especially with a particular focus on environmental aspects.
In this sense, the main task concerned the plant in Galatina (LE), where the complex industrial research and
experimental development project, co-financed by MISE, was concluded. The aim of this project is to achieve
energy efficiency and at the same time reduce emissions through the installation of a hybrid filter aimed at
improving the already excellent environmental performance, as part of the project for the installation of the 5th
stage at the preheating tower which has considerably increased the efficiency of the firing line. In the last year
a further 3.4 million euro were invested in this project, of which 0.9 million euro in intangible assets. Due to the
successful results, we are considering the opportunity to replicate the technology in other plants of the company,
consistent with the investment plans.
Other investments worth mentioning, work continued at the Caravate (VA) plant for the construction of the new
bagging and palletizing line, and the work on the tertiary part of the kiln were also completed; at the Ghigiano Gubbio (PG) plant, the investment in the new LED lighting system for the lighting towers was completed, as well
as hopper and feeder system for iron ore flake.
A new system was built in the Rassina (AR) production unit designed for the treatment and use of rainwater both
at the plant and at the mine.
Intangible investments, recognized under "Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights", were mainly
related to the new regional authorization to conduct operations involving limestone material in Taverna San
Felice, situated in the municipality of Presenzano (CE)., for an amount of over 1.5 million euro; this concession
is part of the assets acquired with the business unit involved in the mining sector.
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LES CIMENTS ARTIFICIELS TUNISIENS S.A.

CAT S.A. closed 2019 with an operating profit of 7,705
thousand euro.
The company reached revenues of 39.8 million euros,
an increase of 24.4% in real terms due to an overall increase
in sales volumes and average sales prices.
This growth was only in part offset by the increase in operating
costs including those relating to energy, consumables and
services, increased due to the increase in sales volumes and
the devaluation of the Tunisian Dinar. Personnel costs
increased by 7.6% compared to the 2018 financial statements,
as a result of the wage negotiations that took place during the
period under review . Despite this, the company has been
In short
able to manage and optimize its production process in an
31.12.19
31.12.18
(thousand euro)*
effective and efficient manner.
Revenue
39,802
33,733
The EBITDA margin came to 10.9 million euro, or 27% of
revenue.
EBITDA
10,895
7,763
CAT S.A. closed the year with a profit of 7.7 million euro, up 66% in
real terms, after making provisions for
amortizations
and
EBIT
9,980
6,716
depreciation for 0.9 million euro.
Net income
7,705
4,905
The company's performance and financial position remained
8,627
5,968
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
positive in 2019.
* data before intra-group eliminations
Local sales of hydraulic binders in 2019 reached 611 thousand tons, down 7.7% compared to 2018 (662 thousand tons),
representing 66% of total sales compared to 86% of the previous year, a decrease in volumes offset by average sale prices
increased by 16.9%, consequently leading to an improvement in revenues deriving from national sales of hydraulic binders
of 7.9% compared to the previous year.
Vice versa, export, sales in terms of quantity more than tripled compared with the previous year, representing 34% of total
sales against 14% in 2018. The increase was mainly due to the improvement in sales to Libya (about 307 thousand tons
exported vs. about 19 thousand tons in 2018) offset by the decrease in exports by CAT S.A. to the Financo Group company,
Domicem S.A., which fell to about 14 thousand tons in 2019 from 88 thousand tons in 2018 (-84%). in terms of price, the
average export price was relatively stable with a slight increase of 0.32% compared with 2018. Total export revenues
increased by 202% compared with the previous year, reaching approximately 9 million euro as at 31 December, 2019
compared with 3 million euro as at 31 December 2018.
During 2019, CAT S.A. managed to improve kiln performance and production, thereby achieving the economies of scale and
obtaining optimal yields, despite the surplus situation in the local market and strong competition in the export market. In
2019, the kiln was in operation for 328 days, an increase of 4.4% compared with 2018, when the operated 314 days.
Clinker production at the company in 2019 was up 13.3%, increasing from about 689 tons per day in 2018 to about 780
thousand tons day in 2019.
Likewise, the total production of cement and lime during the period under review reached 916 thousand tons, an increase of
32.3% compared with 2018, where production reached 693 thousand tons.
According to the company's financial statements 2019 there was an increase in energy costs mainly due to the upward price
revision of electricity and gas by STEG, which applied an increase of approximately 41% for the cost of gas as at 1
November 2019 and an increase in electricity ranging between 22% and 41%, depending on the time of use.
Despite having completed its upgrading plan, in 2019 capital expenditures reached 1.3 million euro for the purpose of
optimizing production processes, improving the environmental integration of the plants and consolidating its leadership in
technological innovation. The company made the following investments during the year:
•
installation of a shrink-packaging line for bags;
•
purchase of an x-ray spectrometer
•
installation of an emission monitoring systems

Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

DOMICEM S.A.
The company ended 2019 with a net profit of 27.8 million
euro, an increase compared with the 17.7 million euro
profit achieved in 2018 (+10.1 million euro, or +57%).
Total revenues reached approximately 101.5 million euro
compared with 86.6 million euro in 2018 (+14.9 million
euro, or +17.2%). EBITDA came in at 43.9 million euro
compared with 30.5 million euro in the previous year
(+13.3 million euro, or +43.7%). In 2019, the company
produced 942 thousand tons of clinker and 1,011 tons of
cement, which for both of the products represents the
highest production result achieved since the company
started its operations. This exceptional result was not due
to mere luck, but was due to the fact that changes and
improvements made to the plants over the last three years
In short
have paid off, making it possible to achieve these
31.12.19 31.12.18
production levels.
(thousand euro)*
Of the investments made by the company during 2019, we
Revenue
101,543
86,644
would like to mention the construction of the plant to add
EBITDA
43,860
30,521
residual ash from combustion processes to cement,
EBIT
38,889
25,143
including the new silo for storing ash and the special
Net
income
27,769
17,683
metering system. Another important investment was the
32,740
22,695
Cash-Flow
(income
+
depr.
+
value
adjust.)
construction of the plant for granular product applications
*
data
before
intra-group
eliminations
(pozzolanic ash, iron slag, blast furnace residues, and
other similar materials) in addition to the production of cement. The plant was completed in December 2019, and
commissioned in the early months of 2020.
In addition to this project, during 2019 the company started the procedures, in co-operation with the mine owner, to obtain
the permanent concession to operate the "Cantera Seca Puerto Plata" mining site for the extraction of pozzolana (pozzolanic
ash). Furthermore, it should be noted that during the period of validity of the temporary exploitation permit, Domicem S.A.
was able to start the exploitation of the mining site by extracting about 15 thousand tons of pozzolana sent, through the port
of Puerto Plata, to the subsidiary Citadelle United in Haiti.
In terms of energy consumption, the company continued to achieve significant levels of savings. In this regard, it is worth
mentioning the photovoltaic installation used by Domicem S.A., which during 2019 obtained trade authorization from the
National Interconnected Electricity System of the Dominican Republic. This photovoltaic installation generated approximately
2,595 thousand Kwh, representing 2.6% of the total energy consumed by the plant during the year. The company is currently
studying the possibility to expand the photovoltaic installation in order to increase its contribution to the production of clean
energy.
In 2019, the company continued to pursue the process to obtain the mining concession (for the exploitation of clay called
“Ampliacion Los Cabritos”), which is located in the province of Peravia and near the Los Cabritos concession, and currently
registered to the Compania Anonima de Explotaciones Industriales (CAEI) and leased to Domicem S.A. To date, the request
has been forwarded to the General Directorate of Mines and the issue of the concession is pending.
During 2019, Domicem S.A. placed on the local market about 816 thousand tons of cement (+14.9% compared to 710
thousand tons in 2018), of which 35% of bulk product and the remaining 65% in bags.
According to the data provided by the Central Bank, in 2019, the company the market share reached by the company
improved in respect to 2018 (16.2%) reaching a value of 17.3%.
With regard to the distribution of cement in the various geographic areas of the country, the company, following specific
strategies for each commercial area, has always tried to position itself in those areas with the greatest market growth and
which offer higher levels of profitability. During 2019, Domicem S.A. delivered 38.6% of its cement to Santo Domingo (the
capital), 20.3% to the North, 21.4% to the South and East; as a result of some major projects launched in this specific
geographic area, 21.4% was delivered, thereby recording an increase of 19.7%.
Clinker sales on the domestic market reached approximately 130 thousand tons (85%), whilst the remainder, in the amount
of some 23 thousand tons (15%), was exported to Haiti to the subsidiary, Citadelle United S.A.
Cement exports during January-December 2019, in the amount of 194 thousand tons, decreased by 22.9% compared with
the 251 thousand tons reported in 2018. This decrease was mainly due to the fact that the new grinding plant in Haiti, owned
by the Financo Group company Citadelle United S.A., started operations in July and as a result thereof Domicem S.A. started
exporting clinker instead of cement to this company. Most of the cement volumes exported by Domicem S.A. are destined
for the Jamaican market (58.1%), 34.4% to Suriname and Guyana and the remaining 7.5% to other markets.
As part of the modernization process for Domicem S.A.'s fleet of vehicles and in order to guarantee a constant and optimal
distribution to customers as well as to guarantee a higher level of presence in transport of plaster, clay and clinker,
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thereby reducing need for external suppliers, in 2019 the company purchased three new Scania tractors, model
GG460 LA6X4 NZA6x2 for transporting cement in bulk with two trailer units, as well as two Randon tank semitrailers equipped with coupling devices to transport two trailer units.

CITADELLE UNITED S.A.
Citadelle United invested 1.6 million US dollars for the
procurement, installation and commissioning of a second
FLSmidth Ventomatic bagging line in 2019. The modern
facility, which started operations in the end of February
2020, has a production capacity of 2,300 bags per hour
and a modern protective plastic placement system. It will
significantly increase bag production to meet the growing
demand with the goal of reaching 25% of the domestic
market.
Despite the difficult political and economic climate
impacting the country in 2019, Citadelle United still
recorded a satisfactory year thanks to its modern facilities
and the excellent level of organization achieved that
allowed it to manage as effectively as possible the In short
economic crisis in the country. The sales volume in 2019
was 222 thousand tons of cement, compared with 242 (thousand euro)*
31.12.19 31.12.18
thousand tons in 2018, a decrease of 8% matched by Revenue
22,574
22,216
revenues of some 22.6 million euro in 2019.
EBITDA
4,223
1,929
The company, in order to be able to cope with the
EBIT
2,727
936
instability generated by the socio-economic crisis in Haiti
Net
income
369
(284)
had to accept a slight decrease in its sale process and
1,865
709
volumes , which made it impossible for the company to Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
* data before intra-group eliminations
reach the annual target budget of 275 thousand tons.
During 2019, the company began the exploitation of a mining concession for the extraction of limestone, located
near the plant, necessary for its production plant to operate. This operation, in addition to the purchase and
installation of a movable crusher in 2018, made it possible to obtain significant savings. Last, but not least, was the
launch of imports from Puerto Plata, Dominican Republic, through the parent company Domicem S.A., of pozzolana,
a natural intermediate product that makes it possible to reduce the consumption of imported clinker, while
maintaining a high-quality final product.

CEMENTOS COLACEM ESPAÑA S.L.U.
Cementos Colacem España S.L.u operates with the two
import port terminals located in Cartagena and Alicante.
The company's turnover was 14.8 million euro, up 20.8%,
with increases in both sales volumes and prices.
After years of bad debts and contractions, the operating
margin returned to positive, even if it is still weak, and
reached 297 thousand euro.
The company, due to the particular geographical area in
which it operates, is still unable to make use of all of the
potential offered by the production structures of the
terminals. For this reason, it is unable to achieve
economies of scale in order to have sufficient overall
profitability.
The financial year closed with a net loss of around 454 In short
thousand euro after amortization and depreciation of 646
thousand euro.
(thousand euro)*
Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
* data before intra-group eliminations

31.12.19
14,774
297
(349)
(454)
193

31.12.18
12,231
(720)
(1,230)
(1,314)
(804)
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COLACEM ALBANIA SH.P.K.
Colacem Albania Sh.p.k. closed the year with a sales
increasing by about 16.5% in real terms, for a total
amount of about 12.7 million euro. Sales volume
increased by about 14% on the whole. Local sales
improved by 15.6%, while exports by 8.4%. Selling
prices in local currency also improved.
Due to the increase in sales volumes and price trends,
operating margins improved, with a positive impact on
EBITDA in the amount of 237 thousand euro.
The Albanian subsidiary closed the year with a loss of
approximately 1.6 million euro, against amortization
and depreciation of 1.9 million euro, marking an
In short
improvement compared with the previous year.
(thousand euro)*

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income

Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)

31.12.19

31.12.18

12,744
237
(1,628)
(1,574)
291

10,543
(847)
(2,712)
(2,370)
(505)

31.12.19

31.12.18

16,043
11,912
6,127
3,827
9,612

11,460
(1,623)
(5,034)
(4,074)
(663)

* data before intra-group eliminations

MADDALONI CEMENTI S.R.L.
Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l., which joined the Group in
2018, manages the production plant located in
Maddaloni (CE), where it only performs clinker grinding
operations. The company operates through an
exclusive agent agreement with the parent company
Colacem S.p.A.
During the first few months of 2019, after a carefully
weighed assessment, considering the structural nature
of the crisis that has hit the cement sector and the
construction industry in general, not being able to count
on a turnaround in the trend affecting the sector, at least
in the short run, the company found it necessary to
make staff cuts, so the company now employs 54
In short
people at the plant.
In 2019, the company generated 16 million euro in
(thousand euro)*
revenues and also earned approximately 13 million in
Revenue
other revenues as a result of the sale of its excess
EBITDA
European Union emission allowances (EUAs). The
EBIT
financial year closed with a net profit of about 3.8 million
Net income
euro after amortization and depreciation of 5.8 million
Cash-Flow ((income + depr. + value adjust.)
euro.
* data before intra-group
eliminations
depr./amort.
+ value
adjst.)
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RAGUSA CEMENTI S.P.A.
Ragusa Cementi S.r.l., set up in 2019 as a result of the
contribution by the parent company Colacem S.p.A.,
has managed the cement production plant located in
Contrada Tabuna - Ragusa (RG) and the related
mining activities since 1 March 2019.
It entered into an exclusive agent agreement with
Colacem S.p.A. for the sale of cement manufactured at
the plant in Sicily.
In 2019, revenues came to 18.9 million euro. The
financial year closed with a net profit of about 1 million
euro, after amortization and depreciation of 0.5 million
euro.
In short
(thousand euro)*

31.12.19 31.12.18

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
value
adjst.)
* data before
intra-group eliminations

18,882
1,885
1,410
993
1,468

-

SPOLETO CEMENTI S.R.L.
As previously explained, the consolidation strategy in
Italy concerning the hydraulic binders production
sector pursued by Financo Group through its main
operating company Colacem S.p.A. led, in early 2019,
to Heidelberg Cement Group taking over the entire
investment in the newly established Spoleto Cementi
S.r.l.
The company only engaged clinker grinding
operations and, in line with the strategy for the
synergistic reorganization of the market, it signed an
exclusive contract under which commission is payable
on sale of its products with the parent company
Colacem S.p.A.
Also in this case, due to the crisis in the cement
sector, the company found it necessary, in agreement
with the workers' representatives, to make staff cuts at
the plant, which employed 34 workers at the end of the
year. In the financial year just ended, revenue was 8.3
million euro. 2019 closed with a net loss of around
(434) thousand euro after amortization and
depreciation of 1.4 million euro.

In short
(thousand euro)*

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)

* data before intra-group eliminations

31.12.19 31.12.18
8,306
1,005
(434)
(434)
1,005

-
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CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE SECTOR
COLABETON S.P.A.
During 2019, the company continued to adopt a policy geared
towards maintaining its market share through a policy of
defending and strengthening its presence in geographical areas
considered strategic.
The market, as described above, remained highly competitive
and with widely varying regional trends.
In light of this, Colabeton S.p.A. reported revenues of
approximately 102 million euro in 2019, down 1.9% on the
previous year. Overall, sales volumes fell by around 7%, as a
result of both the company's strong positioning in the markets in
the Center and South of Italy, regions that suffered more than
other parts of the country, and the slowdown in some major
works contracted in the North. The contraction was in part offset
by the increase in average sales prices.
In short
With regard to the trend in sales channels, 2019, confirming the
trend described above, saw a notable reduction in the Major (thousand euro)*
31.12.19 31.12.18
Works segment, while the ordinary works segment, which
Revenue
102,295
104,289
benefited from the most pronounced price increases, remained
EBITDA
(4,978)
(8,510)
resilient.
EBIT
(13,168)
(22,041)
EBITDA, although still negative by around 5 million euros, has
(10,892)
(18,002)
clearly improved compared with the previous year, which closed Net income
Cash-Flow
(income
+
depr.
+
value
adjust.)
(2,702)
(4,470)
with a deficit of around 8.5 million euro, benefiting from the
* data before intra-group eliminations
recovery of operating costs, most notably in the procurement of
raw materials.
The company closed 2019 with a loss of 11 million euro after amortization and depreciation for 3 million euro and provisions
and write-downs for about 5 million euro, referring in particular to the allowance for doubtful accounts. It should be noted that
during the year approximately 6 million euro in losses on receivables were recorded in the accounts, in addition to the Antitrust
penalty of approximately 4 million euro. Both of these items were covered by using the provisions for risks set aside in
previous periods.
During the year, Colabeton S.p.A. concluded the merger by incorporation of the subsidiaries Calcestruzzi Gubbio S.r.l. and
Inerti Galeria S.r.l. (the latter is dormant). The transaction is part of the Group's project to simplify and streamline its corporate
structure, through the synergistic integration of the companies being merged which operate in the same industrial sector as
Colabeton S.p.A. This will streamline administrative and management activities and achieve significant savings in costs, as
well as simplify the decision-making levels and staff structures supporting the business.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. significantly increased its investments, which came to about 3.1 million euro, of which 2.9 million
euro in tangible investments and approximately 0.2 million euro in intangible investments.
Although the trend in the concrete sector is still weak, in the year just ended Colabeton S.p.A. confirmed its innovationoriented vision by pursuing and implementing a policy involving investments and upgrading its production structure. Efficiency,
cutting-edge technology, safeguarding health in the workplace and respect for the environment remain the strategies and
objectives that have always guided the company's investments in its production units.
Extraordinary maintenance tasks were carried out at the various mixing plants, which concerned both construction works and
the plant systems. Among the main projects, it is worth mentioning that of the concrete mixing plant in Legnano (MI) for which
about 1 million euro in investments were made for the purpose of revamping of entire plant. This project is scheduled for
completion in 2020. About 0.4 million euro in investments were made at the plant in Seano (PO) in order to make
improvements of an engineering and mechanical nature to the production process. More than 200 thousand euro was spent
on work done at the plant in Urbania (PU), of which 50 thousand euro for constructions works aimed at obtaining Single
Environmental Authorization and 150 thousand euro for extraordinary mechanical maintenance tasks to upgrade the concrete
plant. Investments of around 80 thousand euro were made at the San Giovanni in Marignano (RN) plant for mechanical work
on the hopper unit. The work done at the Aspio (AN) plant in order to reduce the dust generated by water management
construction work costed about 65 thousand euro. Lastly, a new wheel loader for the Martinsicuro (TE) plant was purchased
for 45 thousand euro.
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At the Company's other plants, minor interventions and investments were made, aimed at ensuring maximum
performance and improving production.
As regards intangible assets, after completion of the project concerning the remote monitoring and automation
system for concrete mixing plants, the investment continued in the new GMP4 software for the complete
management of recipes for concrete mixers, for around 70 thousand euro.

TRANSPORT SECTOR
In Italy, growth continued, albeit at a slow pace, in passenger transport in 2019, while freight transport suffered
a slowdown. The Confcommercio Economic Observatory reported a 2.5% increase in passenger mobility, driven
by tourism, although at a more modest rate compared to recent past (3.4% on average in the 2016-2018 period).
Integrated transport also appears to be performing well, with an increase in travelling by train and ship. The
freight transport scenario looks to be more problematic, reflecting the unfavorable economic environment, with
a total growth of only 0.5% in 2019, driven by road transport.
Two points appear to be clear to all. The first is the capacity of road transport to respond quickly to the needs
of the Italian distribution system. The road haulage sector, which has, by the way, greatly reduced its
environmental footprint, is the only segment in this sector that is holding up, while, despite the incentives, the
other modes of transportation are unfortunately lagging behind. Secondly, in the road transport sector, the
restructuring process of the sector continues, with the growing number of structured companies more capable
of capitalizing on the opportunities of modal integration, in order to compete better on national and international
markets.
Finally, the path towards greater efficiency and better governance of Italian road haulage continues with tenacity
and constancy, even if in slow steps. Within the crisis, which reduces the number of active companies (-10,096
since 2014), the number of road haulage corporations continues to grow, which at present account for 24.7%
of the total. Similar trends can be seen, with reference to the medium term, also for logistics and road haulage
in general. Against this general backdrop, the four main companies in the sector, Tracem S.p.A., Inba S.p.A.,
Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l. and Cat Transport S.A., attempted to consolidate the situation which
characterized the market in the previous year. The transport service offered by Group companies continues to
consist mainly of hydraulic binders, primarily on behalf of Financo Group companies, although, in order to
optimize logistics and minimize costs, relationships with other transport companies have been intensified in an
attempt, through the rationalization of vehicle fleets and exchange of work, to make the use of vehicles even
more efficient. Total turnover increased by a 9 percent compared with the previous year.
In the year under review, the average cost of diesel in Italy was basically the same as the previous year (0.92
euro/liter net of VAT Italy and excise duties, compared with 0.93 euro/liter in 2018).

TRACEM S.P.A.
The type of transport carried out by the company
continues to mainly involve hydraulic bonds, mostly on
behalf of the Financo group companies.
Overall turnover increased by 9% compared with the
previous year.
In 2019, therefore, the management team of Tracem
S.p.A. strived to preserve its financial position, always
maintaining high quality standards in our customer
services; customer care and satisfaction are
fundamental and essential values.
During the year, the company spent a total amount of
68 thousand euro to purchase a second-hand semitrailer, a sweeper, a second-hand sweeper and a car.
Moreover, three leases were signed for three new
LNG-powered vehicles and one new diesel-powered
vehicle. The company also sold six tractors for a total
of 65 thousand euro, realizing a capital gain of the
same amount; sold five semi-trailers for 30 thousand
euro, realizing a capital gain of the same amount;
scrapped a tractor.

In short
(thousand euro)*

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)
* data before intra-group eliminations

31.12.19

31.12.18

14,798
545
2
128
671

13,571
185
(223)
2
410
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INBA S.P.A.
The financial statements for the period ended 31
December 2019 closed with a profit of 221 thousand
euro against a gain of 12 thousand euro in 2018, after
amortizations and depreciations in the amount of 101
thousand euro.
In this general context, the company tried to consolidate
the situation that characterized the market in the
previous year. The core business continues to be
mainly represented by the transport of hydraulic binders
and the excavation of aggregate materials on behalf of
the Financo Group company Colacem S.p.A.
In order to reduce management costs, relating mainly
to vehicle maintenance, which is constantly increasing, In short
the company has continued to stipulate scheduled
maintenance contracts with vehicle manufacturers with (thousand euro)*
31.12.19 31.12.18
regard to new purchases and local workshops for older Revenue
4,992
5,473
vehicles. The policy of cost reduction was also EBITDA
243
(128)
supported by the company by the constant renewal of EBIT
133
(279)
the vehicle fleet.
Net income
221
12
Also in 2019, the company is present in the share Cash-Flow (income + depr./amort. + value
331
163
capital of a maritime shipping company based in adjust.)
* data before intra-group eliminations
Greece, M.T. Management Marine Company in
liquidation and a transport and charter company in Italy,
Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l., of which it holds 100% of the share capital, in addition to 85.5% of the
share capital of Trading Puglia S.p.A., a company set up to optimize and create a synergy between the transport
activity and the warehousing activity.

Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

DIVERSIFIED SECTORS
The commitment of the Financo Group continued in 2019 in sectors other than its core-business, which has
proven to be always attentive and ready to seize the development opportunities offered by these collateral
segments. The companies Tourist S.p.A. and Santa Monica S.p.A. are a solid example of the efforts made by
the Group and the consequent successes obtained respectively in the tourism-hotel sectors and sports activities.

TOURIST S.P.A.
The company, which has been successfully operating
for years now in the hotel sector in the Umbria region in
Gubbio (PG) is 100% owned by Colacem S.p.A. and
owns the "Park Hotel ai Cappuccini", located in the
outskirts of the old town of Gubbio (PG).
In 2019, the company achieved revenues of 5.4 million
euro, an increase of 4.8% compared to the previous
year, representing - for the second year in a row - a sign
of recovery after two years of contraction, mainly
justified by the difficulties and the negative
repercussions suffered by the entire sector, yet to be
completely overcome, due to the earthquakes in
Central Italy between August and October 2016.
EBITDA has improved slightly, reaching an amount of
288 thousand euro compared to the 276 thousand euro
recorded in 2018, while the Operating Result was
negative for (69) thousand euro. The year closed with a
loss of (111) thousand year, after amortization and
depreciation of 357 thousand euro. Overall, the
summary data of the Income Statement showed an
improvement compared with the 2018 figures, reflecting
the sound management set by the company supported
by signs of recovery from the sector.

In short
(thousand euro)*

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)

31.12.19

31.12.18

5,389
288
(69)
(111)
246

5,144
276
(102)
(172)
206

*data before intra-group eliminations

SANTAMONICA S.P.A.

Among the subsidiaries not operating in the corebusiness sector, it is worth noting Santa Monica
S.p.A., owner of the "Misano World Circuit", which
closed the year with earnings in the amount of
some 678 thousand euro, as a direct result of the
satisfactory performance of the main event held at
the racetrack, i.e. the Moto GP 2019 Grand Prix of
San Marino and a generally stable commercial
activity.
The sporting events organized by the company all
take on a particular economic and communication
importance, constituting the basis for carrying out a
connected commercial activity in its operating
sector. In particular, the company organizes, in a
context of multi-year contracts, for motorcycles, the
“Moto GP Grand Prix of San Marino and the Riviera
of Rimini”, a Superbike World Championship event,
the races of the “Italian Speed Championship”, the
“Italian Cup”, the “IMF Cup”, the “Misano Classic
Week End” for cars the races of the Italian Car
Champioship - Misano Racing Week End”, the
“Porsche Cup Swiss”, the Italian stage of the
international car race “Blancpain GT Series” and more
recently the Italian race of the championship “DTM -

In short
(thousand euro)*

Revenue
EBITDA
EBIT
Net income
Cash-Flow (income + depr. + value adjust.)

31.12.19

31.12.18

14,878
2,313
1,078
678
1,913

15,897
2,679
1,732
1,094
2,041

* data before intra-group eliminations

German Tourism Championship”; for trucks, the Italian race of the “European Truck Racing Championship”.
Championship”; for trucks, the Italian race of the “European Truck Racing Championship
40Champioship - Misano Racing Week End”, the “Porsche Cup Swiss”, the Italian stage of the international car race
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In addition to these professional sporting activities, the company organizes a series of minor competitions,
together with the direct development of a comprehensive commercial activity and rental of the various facilities
to car and motorcycle clubs, always focusing on the quality, efficiency of services and safety of the facilities.
In order to provide high quality services, with the aim of presenting itself to the market with an excellent
quality/price ratio, the company makes use of various partners, specialists in the sector, to whom it entrusts the
direct management of facilities and/or services, such as the Medical Center (health center affiliated with the
competent Healthcare Unit (ASL), open to both racetrack users and the outside world), the safe/fast driving
activity, the karting activity, as well as the foodservice management.
In relation to the type of activity carried out, it should be emphasized that the attention paid by management to
maintaining high quality standards, both of the facilities and services connected to events, is always particularly
high and that in this regard the company essentially refers to the related aspects the general safety of the circuit,
with regard both to direct users of the various facilities and to spectator/users.
During 2019, the company continued to pay particular attention to the improvement of the organizational and
communication aspects inherent in the qualified events acquired, paying particular attention to the development
of partnerships with brands of international appeal, which find in the Misano Adriatico circuit the ideal place to
enhance specific marketing policies.
With reference to the activity carried out by the company as a whole, it should be noted that it has put in place
relationships based on a spirit of collaboration and transparency with all the various operators in the area, with
the general awareness of the important economic and image impact assumed by the type of activity performed.
Among the investments made by the company in 2019, worthy of special mention is the construction of the last
of the two multi-purpose halls and in particular the one planned in Misano Monte, as per the commitments with
the Municipality of Misano, in the amount of 274 thousand euro, the construction of the new fuel dispenser
installation in the amount of 214 thousand euro, the completion, in accordance with the agreement signed with
the Municipality of Misano Adriatico in 2016, of the new perimeter road dedicated to the driver Marco Simoncelli
in the amount of 961 thousand euro, the completion of the new perimeter wall along the road dedicated to
Marco Simoncelli in the amount of 585 thousand euro.
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The draft financial statements of the Parent company Financo S.r.l. for the year ended 31 December 2019, which we
submit for your review and approval, indicate a loss of (993) thousand euro, after write-downs of equity investments
in the amount of 12,424 thousand euro. The negative result (7,658 thousand euro) compared to the previous year, is
mainly related to the combined effect of the decrease in write-downs of investments held in subsidiaries compared to
the previous year (-5,582 thousand euro), mainly attributable to Colabeton S.p.A., an effect that had a positive impact
on the result for the year compared to the 2018 financial statements, and lower dividends from subsidiaries (-16,100
thousand euro) mainly related to Colacem S.p.A. which, on the other hand, had negative consequences with a greater
impact than the reduction in the afore-mentioned cost items.

OTHER INFORMATION
The table below shows the reclassified Income Statement of the Parent Company Financo S.r.l. to help readers
gain insight into results of the company's operations for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Reclassified Income Statement for 2019 and comparative figures for 2018
2019
2018
Interest income and similar income
55
30
Interest expense and similar charges
Dividends and capital gains on investments

(180)

(411)

10,106

26,206

(12,362)

(18,006)

(2,381)

7,819

Revenues for services

3,903

872

Work and related costs

(395)

(374)

(1,372)

(1,743)

(245)

6,574

-

-

EARNINGS BEFORE TAX

(245)

6,574

Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes for the year

(748)

91

RESULT BEFORE CHANGE IN BAD DEBT PROVISION

(993)

6,665

-

-

(993)

6,665

Adjustments to financial assets
NET FINANCIAL INCOME, EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES

Administration and other general overhead costs (net)
INCOME FROM ORDINARY OPERATIONS
Net non-recurring items

Change in bad debt provision
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
In 2019, the Group's main companies, as was already the case in 2018, continued to pursue the development
of research and innovation programs for products and processes in order to acquire ever more new and indepth knowledge aimed at both the improvement of existing products and the development of new technologies
on products and/or processes, able to continuously satisfy the complex and changing needs of the consumer,
attentive to the effectiveness and quality of the purchase.
With this in mind, there have been many initiatives involving the main companies of the Group in 2019. Although
the crisis in the sector shows no sign of ending soon, Colacem has maintained its mission as a company focused
on the constant attention of the social and environmental dimension connected to the development of its
activities, in the continuous improvement of its business management system, strongly focused on operational
excellence and responsible management of processes, thus strengthening its competitive positioning. In this
context, Colacem continued its research and development activities, focusing its efforts on identifying innovative
solutions for the improvement and control of product quality, the prevention/management of possible complaints
and the optimization of productive processes, with the dual objective of reducing environmental impacts and
reducing production costs.
Based on these values, several initiatives have involved Colacem also in the course of 2019, through its Central
Technological Laboratory, a true research hub.
Among the many initiatives put in place by Colacem S.p.A., it is worth mentioning the company's participation
in an important research project, called NANOMEMC2, concerning the reduction of CO2 emissions by capturing
them with membranes with selective permeability. The project is funded by the European Community under the
H2020 GA program no. 727734 and involves collaboration with eight other European subjects, including four
universities.
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The three-year project started in October 2016. During 2019, the first of the two industrial tests of innovative
membranes developed by the Norwegian University of Trondheim (NTNU) took place. The tests were conducted at
the Gubbio (PG) Ghigiano plant involving NTNU researchers. In September, at the end of the project, Colacem hosted
a delegation of representatives from the research group at its Gubbio plant, to show them the equipment and tools
used during the two tests.
Colacem continued the efficiency improvement of plants for the heat recovery of cooking lines. In this area, the
industrial research and experimental development project continued. The aim of this project, funded by MISE, is to
implement a more efficient thermal energy recovery system designed to reduce emissions through the use of catalytic
filtration systems at the Galatina (LE) plant. In this regard, pursuant to the ministerial decree of 15 October 2014 Fund for sustainable growth in favor of large research and development projects in the “sustainable industry” field,
there was the presentation of the first stage of the project “Study and development of materials, design, construction
criteria, technological and process solutions capable of guaranteeing improvement in the performance, energy
efficiency and environmental sustainability of medium-small sized cement production systems”.
In 2019, Colacem continued its research activities, funded by UNICEMENTO, aimed at pre-regulatory activities
relating to the widespread problem of ASR (alkali-silica reaction, i.e. concrete cancer). In this area, the Central
Technological Laboratory of Colacem contributed by analyzing numerous aggregates and packaging numerous
concrete products subjected to expansion tests at the University of Rome.
Finally, several self-financed research projects are currently underway at Colacem, aimed at improving the quality
and characteristics of the clinker and cements of the Group, also in collaboration with suppliers of additives, and at
optimizing the use of cements in concrete, especially in particularly critical environmental conditions. During 2019,
Colacem also conducted extensive preliminary tests on the partial calcination of marl and clay to use as cement
constituents in partial replacement of clinker and therefore to reduce the clinker-to-cement ratio in cement products.
The use of these materials may require revising standards and therefore will therefore require close cooperation with
industry associations and standardization organizations.
During the year, Colabeton S.p.A. continued to pursue activities and projects aimed at the continuous innovation of
the cement conglomerate.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. completed the release of the "technical notebooks" related to the different family of products
making up the "smart thinking" catalog. The technical notebooks, associated with the development of the BIM
"Building Information Modeling" objects for each product, allows customers and the sales force to have instant access
to many of the concretes already in digital form, for the necessary evaluations and decisions in different construction
projects.
The Technological Service of Colabeton S.p.A. was involved, together with Colacem S.p.A. and other important
industrial partners, in finding a solution to a typical problem, especially during the summer. When concrete arrives at
the construction site, it is sampled in order to produce test specimens which are then subjected to fracture and
compression tests in order to determine the static suitability of the building and/or structure, as well as compliance
with the contractual agreement between the concrete manufacturer and the company. The standards for producing
test specimens specify, in detail, the humidity and temperature conditions under which they should be cured but,
unfortunately, these are often not complied with, which often invalidates the expected mechanical performance and
therefore creates disputes between the company and the concrete producer
The problem of producing test specimens, furthermore, should be the responsibility of the company and the Works
Management but, inevitably, the concrete manufacturer ends up being involved.
In order to drastically reduce possible disputes, Colabeton S.p.A. has identified a product, normally used for another
purpose, which is added to the concrete while it is still at the concrete mixing plant. The additive considerably improves
the quality and quantity of the products obtained from the hydration of the cement and, in this way, manages to
compensate for the physiological reduction in the mechanical performance of the test specimens resulting from the
high ambient temperature and, above all, the low relative humidity during the summer. Naturally, the beneficial effect
of this additive not only applies to the concrete specimens but also to the entire project, thereby improving the
durability of the construction project, since the hardening of concrete after pouring, which is the company's and not
the concrete manufacturer's responsibility, is very often disregarded.
Colabeton S.p.A. has almost completed the replacement of second-generation superplasticizers in its plants with new
generation superplasticizers, which are much more efficient and, moreover, able increase concrete workability, thus
providing greater security for the customer.
The Technological Service of Colabeton S.p.A. was directly involved in product control and, in cooperation with thirdparty laboratories, more than 10,000 concrete samples were taken from its customer's sites and its own production
plants.
Colabeton S.p.A. has expanded the range of products in the Smart Thinking catalog by adding RcK 44 in the Smart
IsoLitght family and the FlatScreed SL that has a cementitious binder instead of sulphoaluminate that is more
challenging to manage inside the truck mixer. The company continued with the training sessions provided by the
Technological Service to the Colabeton sales network.
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PRODUCT QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICE
As far as Colacem S.p.A. is concerned, all the cements produced in the company's factories are equipped with the
Certificate of Constancy of Performance (CE mark) which certifies compliance with the European standard EN 1971 and any relevant additional certifications related to high resistance to sulfates (SR) and/or low hydration heat (LH).
The Group's product range is constantly evolving and previously aligned with the needs of the markets.
During 2019, Colacem S.p.A. further enhanced the automatic alarm management system shared between its
headquarters and the production units, which makes it possible to check weekly whether the average values of the
performance characteristics of each factory's products comply with the tolerances associated with each programmed
characteristic.
Always with regard to Colacem S.p.A., it should be noted that an innovative system for the estimation of long-term
compression resistances is being studied and implemented, which will make it possible to anticipate any corrective
maneuvers to be made in production in order to have products with constant performance over time and aligned to
the Quality Budgets.
In July 2019, revision 10 of Colacem S.p.A.'s PG 02 "Marketing and Customer Service" was issued, optimizing the
operational flows and supporting forms in order to further improve the efficiency and speed of provision of the various
customer services.
The company also improved the data collection and analysis techniques for data used to assess customer
satisfaction, obtaining feedback that confirms the quality of the service provided and at the same time gives ideas for
improvement.
Colacem S.p.A. no longer reviews the product data sheets every six months but every three months. The sheets now
include more data and technical information such as the alkali content and the declaration of high resistance to
sulfates in accordance with UNI 9156 referred to in various specifications.
Worthy of note is the implementation of a well-structured internal audit program at Colacem S.p.A. carried out in close
collaboration and the combined effort of Quality Assurance and the Central Technological Laboratory with a view to
assistance and sharing with peripheral laboratories.
The technical collaboration between Colacem S.p.A. and particularly important customers involved in the provision
of the first construction sites for the Naples-Bari high-speed railway project was intense and solid. Colacem S.p.A.
also prepared and issued IO 78 “Operational management of the technological characterization tests required by the
Central Technological Laboratory”. This is a very important document, shared by Colacem S.p.A. and Colabeton
S.p.A., which introduces a new testing methodology called MBE "Mortie de Beton Equivalent".
The MBE methodology allows, in an easy and relatively fast way to test, on an "equivalent mortar", the performance
of cements when combined with various combinations of additives/aggregates. This will make it possible to measure
and monitor the performance of the cements over time, evaluating the feeling with the widely used additives in order
to prevent and/or manage the potential application issues faced by customers, especially Colabeton S.p.A. A technical
collaboration project between Colacem S.p.A., Colabeton S.p.A. and several concrete additive suppliers was
concluded. This project made it possible to identify a technological solution potentially capable of preventing or
combating problems such as loss of workability and reduction of mechanical strength of ready-mix concrete in the
summer. The next step will be a technical-economic evaluation, on a Group-wide basis, of the possible technological
solutions identified by hypothesizing concrete applications to be tested before the summer months.
As regards Colabeton S.p.A., all the company's ready-mix concrete production units are equipped with a production
control system (FPC), in order to ensure that the product meets the requirements set by the standards and that these
requirements are constantly maintained in compliance with Ministerial Decree 17.01.2018 “New technical standards
for construction”.
The company's product range is constantly evolving and previously aligned with the needs of the markets.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. developed the process to obtain EDP certification, and decided to certify first the calculation
software and then the plant. In the second half of 2020, the company will certify the first plant in the North (Mediglia
MI).
There is an increasing demand for EPD certification in technical specifications, due to its importance in terms of
environmental sustainability; an EPD certification indeed provides environmental data on the life cycle of the products
in accordance with international regulations.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. obtained the Validation of Self-Declared Environmental Claims in compliance with the
provisions of the UNI EN ISO 14021:2016 Standard for CAM purposes for the San Donnino (FI) production unit, in
addition to that already obtained for the Taranto (TA) plant. In 2020, the company plans on obtaining validation at 10
production units in the North.
Colabeton S.p.A. has continued to develop and enhance its technical assistance activities for customers, from a
preventive standpoint.
The company concluded the reorganization of the Central Technological Service (STC), with the complete
reorganization of its operational areas. The central technological service, again in 2019, carried out specific product
training for the entire commercial network, an activity that continued also in the early months of this year.
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Colabeton S.p.A. launched collaboration projects with the main additive manufacturers, for cement and
concrete, in order to identify technological supply chain solutions capable of preventing or contrasting the
seasonal problems of concrete such as loss of workability and decay of resistances during the summer.
As regards CAT S.A., an energy management system was implemented in 2019; this will allow it to obtain ISO
50001 certification (the certification audit is scheduled to take place in 2020). Moreover, as part of its social
responsibility, CAT S.A.'s commitment was confirmed with the signing, in April 2019, together with other
competitors, the new charter for sustainable development.
Also in 2019, CAT S.A. renewed INNORPI product certificates for cements conforming to the Tunisian standard
NT47.01. It also renewed the API Monogram product certificate combined with the right to use the new cement
for oil wells "Class G-HRS" in compliance with the requirements of the API 10A standard provided by the
American Petroleum Institute. This demonstrates the adequacy of the quality management system of products
and services with respect to the relevant requirements, thereby reflecting its continued compliance.
With regard to the company Domicem S.A., the most important activities carried out in 2019 by the Quality
Management System focused on auditing activities for the maintenance and monitoring of ISO 9001:2015
certification, conducted by the Institute of Technical Standards of Costa Rica (INTECO), the INDOCAL
certification renewal audit, preparation of the logistics chain security manual to obtain the AEO (Authorized
Economic Operator) status issued by the GDC (General Directorate of Customs); and, among others, a revision
of procedures for sales management, purchasing and supplier qualification.
For the conformity of the Quality Management System (QMS) with the applicable standard (ISO 9001),
Domicem S.A., in November 2019, carried out the follow-up audit for ISO 9001:2015 certification, which certified
that the quality management system has the necessary oversight mechanisms in place to ensure its adequacy
and effectiveness, highlighting management's consistent level of commitment to the implementation of the
quality management system, the understanding of how the processes work demonstrated by the staff
interviewed and the organization’s approach to its customers.
On the other hand, the final report on the customer perception and satisfaction in terms of the company meeting
their requirements, indicated a high level of satisfaction with a percentage of 98%, similar to last year. The
criteria used to measure customer perception and satisfaction were: timeliness of deliveries, quality of
packaging, quality of products and, among others, satisfaction with the claim handling service.
On this subject, it should be noted that in November, the Compliance Assessment Department of the Dominican
Institute for Quality (INDOCAL) carried out the second audit on the Quality Mark to renew the certifications,
ensuring compliance with the regulatory requirements set forth in the RTD 178 protocol “Hydraulic Cement".
Portland Cement. Specifications and Classification”.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT, ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY
The Financo Group has continued to pursue its commitment to respect for the environment and its most
important user, which is man. Also in 2019, the year in which the difficulties of the cement sector continue
unfortunately, the Group has never abandoned its philosophy which is founded, as well as on the highest
company values, which are expressed in the application of the best available production techniques and
qualitative excellence of the products, also on the commitment to take the utmost account of the context in
which it operates, a context that is represented by its employees and local communities and the environment
that surrounds the production sites.
The management of its business, in line with the valuesof environmental sustainability, represents for the Group
not only a social commitment, but a determining factor for the same competitiveness. As part of its activities,
the Group is constantly engaged in the implementation of managerial and production processes inspired by the
improvement of environmental sustainability and safety in the workplace.
Colacem is one of the youngest companies among cement producers in Italy, however it has long been the
third company in the Italian market and first in exports, thanks to the strategic position of some plants.
For the most part, the factors that have allowed such rapid growth are due to their vision, which has always
been oriented towards the market, technological innovation and sustainability.
In an industrial sector with a high incidence of energy costs, the availability of highly efficient plants, capable of
reducing as much as possible the waste of fuel and raw materials, in line with the principles of the circular
economy, has been a success factor.
All this, thanks to the desire to always focus on the best available technologies and on the continuous
modernization of the plants, which today can be considered among the most advanced in Europe.
This commitment is illustrated with information and numbers detailed in the Sustainability Report that Colacem
has been drafting since 2008, in accordance with the international G4 standards of the GRI (Global Reporting
Initiative) and certified by the auditing company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.
Another step towards sustainability has been taken by Colacem S.p.A. thanks to the project aimed at obtaining
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the EPD (Environmental Product Declaration) certification of cements. The first EPD to be released and
published on the site epditaly.it is that of the cements from the Caravate (VA) factory owned by Colacem S.p.A.
The Environmental Product Declaration is a document that describes the environmental impacts related to the
production of cement considering all that it entails, for example, in terms of energy consumption, raw materials
and water, production of waste and emissions into the atmosphere. In the case of the aforementioned plant in
Caravate (VA), the “cradle to gate” approach was followed, i.e. considering every impact generated, from the
extraction of raw materials to the shipping of the finished product. The analysis is based on well-defined rules,
the Product Category Rules (PCR), in accordance with ISO 14025 and EN 15804 standards for construction
products. After a complex and in-depth process, the EPD of Colacem S.p.A. has been verified and released by
ICMQ, an independent and accredited third party. The project envisages the progressive extension of the EPD
to all cements produced by Colacem S.p.A. and to concretes produced by Colabeton S.p.A.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
In this area, Colacem maintained its commitment to important activities relating to the environment and the
entire economic context: a production model attentive to the needs of the regions in which it operates; gradually
improving technologies and environmental innovation for processes and products; the use of alternative fuels
in production processes; the use of non-hazardous recoverable waste in partial replacement of natural raw
materials in order to reduce the environmental impact and the high cost of energy; and constant monitoring and
control of environmental aspects. These are the issues reflecting the future challenges of Colacem, aimed at
strengthening relations with all the stakeholders involved.
In 2019, Colacem S.p.A. renewed the environmental management system certificates in accordance with UNI
EN ISO 14001:2015 for its cement plants in Ghigiano Gubbio (PG), Galatina (LE), Rassina (AR), Caravate (VA)
and Sesto Campano (IS) and the facilities of Ragusa Cementi S.p.A., Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. and Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l.
Furthermore, during the year, the environmental management systems based on UNI EN ISO 14001 adopted
for Colacem S.p.A.'s port terminals in Ravenna (RA), Malcontenta (VE) and Savona (SV) and for the plant for
the production of pre-mixed products in Rome were confirmed.
In addition to the usual periodic environmental training activities, in 2019 Colacem S.p.A. also provided specific
training on environmental-related verification and control activities and on how to manage incoming nonhazardous recoverable waste at the cement plants.
In 2019, CAT S.A. managed to successfully keep its certificates for the QMS Quality Management System (ISO
9001), the OHSMS Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OHSAS 18001) and the EMS
Environmental Management System (ISO 14001).
CAT S.A., as part of its environmental impact control policy and in order to control its ordinary and hazardous
waste, renewed a number of agreements with waste collectors recognized by the Ministry of the Environment.
Similarly, in order to comply with environmental legislation in view of the future use of RDF as an alternative
fuel, CAT S.A. installed, in 2019, a new gas analyzer on the furnace chimney to reduce NOx emissions and a
study will be conducted in order to install a pollution control system.
Finally, it should be mentioned how the United Nations Global Compact for Corporate Social Responsibility and
the Institute for Corporate Social Responsibility of Tunisia (IRSET) recognized CAT S.A. for implementing
various actions aimed at safeguarding the environment, health and safety in the workplace.
With regard to the environmental management system of Domicem S.A., the compliance by the productive
structure of the rules on respect for the environment is confirmed. The systematic checks by the company to
monitor the emission of particles into the atmosphere are carried out through dust collectors, consisting of bag
filters and hybrid filters. This particle control system makes it possible to obtain high ecological performances
and to guarantee emissions perfectly in line with the limit values established by local and international laws and
regulations. The company's environmental objectives are based on compliance with the Environmental
Management and Regulation Program (PMAA). The results of these objectives are presented every six months
to the Ministry of the Environment and Natural Resources through the Environmental Compliance Reports (ICA),
within which compliance with the requirements of the law on the environment and natural resources is
highlighted. n. 64-00 and with the Environmental Quality Standards of the Air envisaged for the control of
atmospheric emissions.
The monitoring system includes three control points and, from the surveys carried out, it has emerged that the
concentrations of PM10 and PM-2.5, as well as the CO, NOX and SO2 values, are below the limits set by local
and international regulations. Staying on topic, it is worth mentioning that Domicem S.A. won the 5th annual
National Cleaner Production Prize (P + L), thanks to the implementation of technology enabling production with
a lower CO2 footprint.
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With regard to Colabeton S.p.A., there is the conviction that the complete integration of its activities in the territory is
a primary condition for achieving its development objectives. The company has therefore decided to adopt a style of
behavior that allows to establish a relationship of constructive collaboration based on maximum transparency, trust
and credibility with the external community and institutions in the management of environmental issues. Colabeton
S.p.A. intends to act in full transparency by providing extensive information on its work and programs. Such a vision
will make it possible to continuously improve the environmental performance of the operating sites, using efficient
plants, equipment and infrastructures able to minimize any negative effects on the environment. The basic strategic
line of Colabeton S.p.A. is based on the following general principles and objectives:
total compliance with laws, regulations and rules in force at international, national, regional and local level;
full compliance with the other requirements, agreements, even voluntary protocols undersigned by the
organization with regard to the environment; satisfaction of all interested parties internal and external to the
organization;
improvement of its structure aiming at a low bureaucracy, high dynamism, enhancement and sensitization
of available human resources;
improvement of processes, plant sites and facilities and constant search for the right balance between
environmental impact, safety and economic growth;
attention to the environment, seen as prevention of pollution and not only as corrective actions for the
elimination of subsequent non-conformities or as a mere legislative adjustment;
open collaboration with customers, suppliers, institutions and administrations, control authorities and social
forces for the management of problems related to environmental impacts and environmental protection;
continuous improvements in the effectiveness of the environmental management system.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. started a training program, which will end in early 2020, for all personnel involved in
production at the concrete mixing plants, all salespeople involved in marketing concrete and personnel employed in
the mechanical workshop.
The aim of the training is to increase awareness on the environmental issues related to the production of concrete.
By sharing the Environmental Management System (EMS) Operating Instructions, the company wanted to refresh all
personnel on:
- the proper management of environmental emergencies which could arise at work;
- understanding the importance of properly monitoring all environmental aspects;
- the proper management of waste produced at the plants and keeping records of the waste in the loading
and unloading log books;
- how to handle general issues relating to sensitive topics such as water discharges and atmospheric
emissions as per Legislative Decree 152/06 et seq.
The sound corporate awareness of environmental issues at Colabeton S.p.A. is reflected in the fact that it has
maintained UNI EN ISO14001:2015 certification for the “Production and distribution of ready-mix concrete through
the reception of raw materials, storage, metering of components in truck mixer and delivery” at the Castelletto Sopra
Ticino (NO) concrete plant.
In order to further develop the company's "Green" approach, in 2019 Colabeton S.p.A. explored a number of
possibilities to give a second life to materials that would otherwise be destined for disposal. It met with experts in the
environmental sector (e.g. Federbeton), to discuss all the opportunities under EoW framework and defined common
guidelines for tackling, even in joint collaboration with its direct competitors, and overcoming the regulatory constraints
currently in place on this delicate subject.
During the month of May 2019, 3 GNL exclusive fuel vehicles were delivered to Tracem S.p.A., representing a further
step towards a cleaner and more efficient transport, demonstrating the company's concrete attention to sustainability,
economic and environmental issues of their choices.
The data on the use of the vehicles, despite some foreseeable and expected difficulties related to the new technology
compared to traditional diesel vehicles as well as the lower presence of filling stations, are however encouraging.
Convinced that this is only the beginning of a major change in the heavy transport sector, which will bring significant
advantages above all from the environmental standpoint, in October 2019 Tracem S.p.A. signed an order for 8
additional vehicles powered exclusively by LNG. The new vehicles were delivered in April and May of 2020. The
vehicle fleet of Tracem S.p.A. has 26 CNG vehicles (around 30% of the total), 3 of which run on CNG, 3 run on
CNG/LNG and 20 run exclusively on LNG. All this is part of the LNG project which saw, among other things, the
Padule - Gubbio (PG) branch acting as a model for the complete conversion of the vehicle fleet from diesel to LNG
with the construction of an “internal” storage and distribution LNG plant. This plant, created in partnership with STB
S.r.l. and other companies of the Barbetti cement group, was commissioned on 31 July 2018.
In 2019, over 1,680,000 million kilometers were driven with natural gas-powered vehicles, approximately 25% of the
total.

Inba S.p.A., respecting the environment in which it operates, continues to pursue a policy of reducing the
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environmental impact due to exhaust emissions from its vehicles, buying in 2008 - 2009 trucks that reduce the
emissions of fumes in the atmosphere and, remaining within this vein, the company purchased trucks that
comply with the "euro 6" directive.
As regards the company Santa Monica S.p.A., has been, and continues to be, constantly attentive to
safeguarding the environment in which it operates.
As previously highlighted in the comment on the performance of the company, Santa Monica S.p.A. has initiated
an important redevelopment project on the roads adjacent to the racetrack, on the highway side, as envisaged
in the agreement in force with the Municipality of Misano Adriatico. This structural redevelopment, aimed at
making local traffic more fluid, is part of the interventions with an environmental value. Simultaneously with the
implementation of the aforementioned intervention, which will be completed in the current year, Santa Monica
S.p.A. has proceeded to modernize the fence structure, now dilapidated, adjacent to the aforementioned road
on the highway side. This modernization work has made it possible to requalify a large part of the racetrack,
very visible from the highway side, therefore tending to make the environmental aspect more pleasant.
In 2018, Santa Monica S.p.A. built the community center of Scacciano, a hamlet of Misano Adriatico and, in
2019, the community center of Misano Monte. The construction of these neighborhood centers, envisaged in
the aforementioned agreement in place with the Municipality of Misano Adriatico, in responding to the
conventional obligations assumed by the company, meets primarily the heartfelt need to be part of an economic
system in which the company must strive to make the surrounding environment as pleasant and livable as
possible.
Santa Monica S.p.A., for years now, has installed a system for constantly monitoring the acoustic pressure of
the circuit, at the same time organizing a data and information processing system enabling any control activity
by the relevant Bodies.
In the context of existing regulatory provisions, the company asked the competent authorities by way of
derogation the minimum and indispensable number of days for the virtuous performance of its economic activity.
The identification of these days is carried out with reference to activities and/or events of particular
strategic/communicational value not only for the racetrack, but also for the entire vast surrounding area, which
benefits from the significant economic effects in terms of qualified tourist flows, connected to the events.
Santa Monica S.p.A. has taken steps to contain the acoustic pressure as much as possible, where possible,
within parameters well below those set out by the law, providing strict behavioral prescriptions to the users of
the racetrack, both with reference to technical measures to be adopted and to the time slots in which to operate
and establishing a constant dialog with Bodies and subjects that can, directly and/or indirectly, positively
influence the introduction of measures aimed at containing acoustic pressure.
The implementation of each structural intervention is previously examined from the environmental impact
standpoint, privileging interventions that, due to their pleasantness and relation to the acoustic aspect, can
contribute to the respect for the environment as a whole.
The Misano World Circuit paddock has for some time now offered a vision of great value on the technological
innovation introduced on vehicles, with solutions exclusively based on environmental sustainability. Structural
interventions, modernizations and technological innovation have a common denominator in assessing the
impact they have on the environment and for some time now all this has been summarized by KISS Misano, a
program that aims at mitigating the environmental impact in major events and in particular during MotoGP,
through actions for separate collection, recovery of food surpluses, recovery of oil used by the teams,
implementation of services and areas dedicated to people with disabilities, etc.
Areas of the circuit have been allocated to ecological islands for separate collection equipped by the Hera
Group, together with Corepla (National Consortium for the collection, recycling and recovery of plastic
packaging), Ricrea (National Consortium for recycling and recovery of steel packaging) and CoReVe (Glass
Recovery Consortium).

QUARRIES AND MINES
The extraction of raw materials, such as limestone, clays and marls, which are fundamental to cement
production, has always been a driver for all Group companies to pay continued special attention to all the phases
involved, for both quarries and mines.
Starting from a careful study of the territory and its specific fragilities, in agreement with the local authorities,
the companies present new projects for the management and contingent environmental reclamation of the
extraction areas. We continued, with ever-increasing care, with the environmental reclamation of areas where
mining has been completed, thereby ensuring the increasingly effective restoration of vegetation and the
surrounding landscape. Steps were taken to foster the reintroduction of local/native plant varieties, with respect
to situations with higher immediate environmental impact but certainly with lower ecosystem value.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY
The protection of the safety and health of workers is a value that the Financo Group has internalized in its
corporate culture as a central element that directs the development of technologies and work methods in order
to guarantee its employees and collaborators a safe and healthy working environment.
The Group has for some time been equipped with an organizational structure responsible for security with a
central garrison and local managers in the various peripheral establishments. This allowed to develop a careful
risk analysis, to carry out intense training and information activities and to promote constant vigilance and
compliance with the procedures and behavioral rules at work.
The Group has always allocated considerable resources for the better management of activities related to the
prevention and protection of workers compared to occupational hazards. Results were comforting, but, with a
view to continuous improvement hand in hand with the evolution of the company, it was decided to give further
impetus to the correct management of initiatives related to safety and hygiene in the workplace. From the
constant monitoring and analysis of the accidents occurred in the various production units, it was confirmed that
many accidents occurred for reasons strictly related to wrong behavior of workers.
In this regard, it is worth mentioning the activity put in place by the company of the Financo Group, Colacem
S.p.A., which has implemented the new training and management program called “SICURAMENTE” (Safely),
active in all its branches, which has brought significant results in the reduction of all accident rates; in particular,
the frequency index; in particular, the frequency index of 7.43, achieving two years without an accident at the
Sesto Campano (IS) cement plant. The supervisory activity carried out at Colacem's production units, by the
appointed body, continues to give positive results, demonstrating the effectiveness of the organizational model
adopted for safety-related aspects.
Regarding Domicem S.A. it should be noted that during 2019 the company carried out for the fifth consecutive
year, from 6 to 10 May 2019, the activity called "Week of safety and health at work", with the aim of promoting
a culture of prevention on the internal and external aspects of the company. It also took part in the day organized
by the Ministry of Labor of the Dominican Republic.
As regards Colabeton S.p.A., it should be noted that the production process of concrete in mixing plants
originates only dusty effluent emissions deriving from the “cold” production cycle and therefore without triggering
any combustion process with the emission of greenhouse gases as per Law 316/2004. The company believes
that maintaining optimal conditions of health and safety in the workplace constitutes a fundamental dimension
of the social responsibility of a company and at the same time constitutes a distinctive and competitive factor in
an increasingly broader and demanding market context in the field of quality and behavior.
Colabeton S.p.A. has set up an internal service responsible for implementing the procedures required pursuant
to Legislative Decree no. 81/2008, also adopting the specific article 30 integrating the provision of Law no.
123/2007.
During 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. continued updating the DVRs by carrying out training courses for both
supervisors and managers, continuing to review the organizational model pursuant to art. 30 of Legislative
Decree 81/2008 and of the organizational and management and control model of environmental crimes
pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 231/01.
At the end of 2019, the company provided specific training sessions that concerned every single worker at
Colabeton S.p.A.; these sessions will be completed by February 2020.
As for the safety and compliance of its products, Colabeton S.p.A. has promptly complied with the provisions of
EC Regulation no. 1907/2006 (REACH) governing the placing on the market and the use of chemical
substances.
However, the fact remains for the Group as a whole, that training is one of the cornerstones on which risk
management and injury reduction are based, representing the most effective prevention and protection
measure.

ACCIDENTS AND PROCEEDINGS
During the past year, no accidents occurred in the Financo Group companies that caused damage to the
environment and therefore no administrative or criminal proceedings were instituted against the companies of
the Group aimed at establishing their guilt. Furthermore, no definitive sanctions or penalties were imposed for
crimes or environmental damage.
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EUROPEAN DIRECTIVE ON CO2 EMISSION ALLOWANCES
During the year, the main company of the Group, Colacem S.p.A. pursued the vigilant policy aimed at reducing
CO2 emissions, which, taking into account the current economic context of the sector, has led to a total
commitment to the restitution of quotas of around 2.5 million tons, or a level lower than the available annual
quotas. In 2019, the company set up a spot transaction for 100,000 EUAsby the subsidiary Spoleto Cementi
S.r.l.
Moreover, Colacem S.p.A., as at 31 December 2019, has maintained the future contracts for the forward
repurchase of 2.5 million allowances, consistent with the hedging strategy applied to mitigate the estimated risk
of EUA price changes, in a context not affected by COVID-19.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND ORGANIZATION
The total number of workers employed by the Group at the end of 2019 was 1,951, thus recording a total
decrease of 45 units compared to the previous year. The total turnover of the Group in 2019 was 19%, an
increase over the figure of 4% in 2018.
CHANGE IN PERSONNEL

Managers
Middle managers
White-collar
employees
Blue-collar
workers
TOTAL

Reclassificati
Workforce Recruitment Resignations on
31/12/2018
41
(2)
83
1
(4)
4
747
29
(56)
1
1,125
59
(141)
(5)
1,996
89
(203)
-

Change in the
Scope of
Consolidation
16
53
69

Workforce
31/12/2019
39
84
737
1,091
1,951

During 2019, the Group continued to pursue the objectives of maximum containment of labor costs, without
neglecting a positive productivity trend - both with the use of ordinary management systems and with the use
of social safety nets.
With reference to Colacem S.p.A. in 2019, most notably was the large cut back in staff related to the
extraordinary corporate transaction, summarized above, which involved the subsidiary Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.
acquiring the business unit of the Ragusa (RG) plant, resulting in the direct transfer of its entire workforce (104
employees) from Colacem S.p.A. to Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.
Continuing on the subject of Colacem S.p.A., the developments relating to the transactions involving Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l. and Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. should also be considered, which resulted in the transfer of 12
employees (11 from Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. and 1 from Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.) to Colacem S.p.A. as part of
the "social plan" (i.e. redundancy program) signed with trade unions.
During 2019, the company, without being forced to resort to using social safety nets, continued to reconcile the
two main goals set at the beginning of the year: maximum containment of labor costs, and a positive productivity
trend, objectives pursued both through the use of ordinary management systems, and through the greater
involvement and accountability of staff at all levels in terms of the result.
For the main companies of the Group based in Italy, 2019 was the first year of enforcement of the law 26/2019
which introduced in the pension landscape the possibility to retire early under the so-called "quota 100" scheme.
Colacem S.p.A. encouraged those meeting requirements to participate, along with all the other individuals who,
during the period, met the criteria for early retirement according to the requirements of Law 92/2012 (Fornero).
In this context, the company was able to resume organizing and recruiting new personnel, with the main
objective of continuing and developing a solid campaign to strengthen the professional level of the workforce.
The company has intensified industrial and labor relations in order to maintain constant monitoring with the
institutional interface of the workers together with the territorial and national organizations of the most
representative trade unions.
Still in 2019, Colacem S.p.A. focused on reviewing the structures and processes of all associated companies
involved in the cement/concrete/transport core business, laying the foundations for a synergetic and integrated
approach to HR processes overseen by the Human resources and Organization Department.
In this area, the company has fine-tuned the procedures to define the requirements for staff, recruitment,
selection, hiring, as well as onboarding and personnel training activities, also by setting up special committees
for monitoring HR processes, which have allowed the development of coordination mechanisms across the
Group companies.
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Colacem S.p.A. made further progress in the computerization of HR processes with the latest developments in
HR reporting and, especially with the new internet portal designed for company employees. This portal offers
employees the opportunity to download pay slips and tax certificates in electronic form. The company also
launched the ESS (Employer's Self Service) company platform, accessible from the company intranet and from
the internet website. Various workflows and services relating to personnel management are currently being
implemented within this platform.
At the foreign affiliated companies, the functional coordination activity carried out by the Human resources and
Organization Department of Colacem S.p.A. was aimed in 2019 at coordinating, at Domicem S.A., the project
to implement an anti-trust compliance model consistent with the Group's approach and, at Colacem Albania,
projects aimed at the organizational review of plant positions, as well as the redefinition of a remuneration policy
management model based on a general Group model, in turn consistent with the wage scale of the National
Collective Labour Agreement (CCNL) for the Italian Cement Industry.
With regard to Domicem S.A., there was an average number of 249 employees in 2019; at year-end this figure
came to 247, a decrease of 2.92% compared with the previous year.
It should also be mentioned that in 2019 the company continued its important partnership agreement with the
Loyola Polytechnic, promoting eleven internships for students who managed to enhance their school-level
knowledge with a hands-on internship at the plant located in Sabana Grande de Palenque.
During the month of October 2019, Domicem S.A. carried out the annual medical check-up of the staff carried
out in the "CEDIMAT" advanced medicine and telemedicine diagnostic center.
As at 31 December 2019, Citadelle United S.A. had a workforce of 60 employees compared to 56 employees
in 2018.
With regard to Cat S.A., the cost of personnel expressed in Tunisian Dinars as at 31 December 2019 increased
by 7.5% compared to the 2018 figure and following the agreement with the trade unions made during 2019. As
at 31 December 2019, the total number of employees was 175 compared with 179 employees at 31 December
2018.
In 2019, Colabeton S.p.A. continued the analysis and reorganization of the activities carried out with a special
focus on HR processes, for coordinated and timely management. For this purpose, a committee consisting of
the Heads of the HR Functions and first-level officers of the company was set up and activated.
The company has also defined a new organization and management model for technical projects, routine and
extraordinary maintenance which, in addition to enhancing the wealth of professional expertise within the
company, provides for the involvement and participation, according to predefined work flows, of all the technical
expertise available at Group level, based on a synergistic approach and making the best use of specialized
human resources and Group infrastructures.
Developments in technical processes laid the foundations for upgrading and a new, wider organizational
framework of the company structure involved in the technical supervision of production processes and
maintenance tasks.
Relations between trade unions and the company have remained within the Group's standards, choosing to
maintain a constant and privileged contact, always open and dialogue oriented, with local and national trade
union organizations.
The new market environment, both in terms of quality and quantity, has allowed Colabeton S.p.A. to resume
organizing the recruitment of new personnel, mainly aimed at a policy of professional enhancement of the
workforce, in the name of continuity and development.
There were no pending disputes at Colabeton S.p.A. other than those related to terminated employment
contracts and stemming from previous reorganization operations.
On the lines of what has already said about Colacem S.p.A., Colabeton S.p.A. has also made progress in the
computerization of HR processes, achieved with the latest developments in HR reporting and, especially with
the new internet portal designed for company employees. Employees can use this portal to download pay slips
and tax certificates in electronic form. The company also launched the ESS (Employer's Self Service) company
platform, accessible from the company intranet and from the internet website. Various workflows and services
relating to personnel management are currently being implemented within this platform.
Within the context described above, the Financo Group has nevertheless continued in an incessant action in
the attempt to contain costs related to work performance, managing with great attention the human capital and
at the same time trying to maintain a positive and constructive company climate.
The management of training, designed and managed as a real growth for employees - an opportunity for
professional and personal development - is considerably valued by the Financo Group.
In all the companies of the Financo Group, the staff took part in training courses for the professional updating
of technical, commercial and administrative personnel for training in environmental, administrative, production,
commercial and linguistic issues.
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The commitment in terms of training of Colacem S.p.A. Personnel was expressed with more than 7,112 hours
of total training, involving 539 employees among blue-collar workers, white-collar employees, middle managers
and managers. In addition to training activities concerning the prevention and correct management of
occupational health and safety-related risks, the company has expanded its professional refresher courses:
regular updates on administration, procurement and languages have been flanked by targeted training courses
for production unit technicians on the environment, laboratories and maintenance.
One particularly important activity is the program led by Colacem S.p.A. regarding management development,
which has involved company managers and employees in training activities aimed at developing organizational
and employee behavior management. Most of the training in the year were carried out using Fondimpresa and
Fondirigenti interprofessional funds.
During 2019, Domicem S.A. developed important training processes for the purchasing, logistics, security and
commercial areas, aimed at obtaining an AEO certificate as an authorized economic operator.
Colabeton has been engaged for years in a constant process of training and development of its employees.
About 2,718 hours of training were provided in 2019 to 175 people, including blue-collar workers, white-collars,
managers and senior executives.
Colabeton S.p.A., always attentive to Safety issues, took steps in 2019 to increase specific training and
awareness-raising initiatives for staff, with particular attention to the prevention and proper management of
workplace health and safety risks, adapting to the new national regulations the level of information and training
of managers and company employees.
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INFORMATION ON NON-RECURRING, SIGNIFICANT, ATYPICAL AND UNUSUAL
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
With a view to the rational use of Group synergies, among the various companies that comprise it, exchanges
of goods and some important services and performance for the development of the various company activities
are carried out, as well as for the management of personnel, using structures organized in different sectors such
as technical, insurance, legal, financial, administrative, commercial and IT. The relationships among the various
companies of the Group are part of ordinary operations and are governed by contracts stipulated at market
conditions; no atypical and unusual operations or in a potential conflict of interest were detected.
The numerical details of the main intragroup transactions concluded during the year with the subsidiaries not
consolidated on a line-by-line basis and with the associated companies, with evidence of the relationships, are
as follows:
RECEIVABLES
Commercial
and others

PAYABLES

COSTS

Commercial
Financial and others Financial

Goods

Services

REVENUE
Other

Goods

Services

Other

Subsidiaries not consolidated on a line-by-line basis
18
35

573

262
23

-

-

-

-

-

5

9

-

-

-

-

-

-

16

278

605

468

-

-

4

1

-

16
30

29

5,930

85

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

1
-

2
5

-

2

-

15

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

108
2,469

1,041

2
-

-

-

292

-

-

70

19

-

-

-

-

8,604

114

70

Calce e Cementi Lauriano S.p.A.
Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l.

4,812

-

2

-

50

6,762

-

500

-

-

-

-

21
-

66
-

Calcestruzzi Germaire S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Lario 80 S.r.l.

1,277

-

8
-

2
-

-

-

-

-

-

1,755

-

-

163

-

-

-

-

-

-

376

1,131

2,440

494

-

21

-

-

-

11
-

-

-

22
-

1

16
-

80
-

205

10
23

-

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13,114

-

13,319

-

4,460

-

38

4,225

42

-

1,050

285

692

-

549

-

-

758

22

42

558

-

31

-

-

2,115

70

1

21
64

4

-

-

1
225

-

313

-

15

-

96

-

-

-

109

-

18
-

944

70

41

-

63

-

1,703

15

-

998

18
-

140

-

55

27

-

5

-

273

1

-

-

-

108

-

11
-

3

Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers S.p.A.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Skydomus S.r.l.
Trading Puglia S.p.A.

23
-

Associates
Bervan S.r.l., in liquidation
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Buying House Cement Ltd.

Cava Nacalino S.r.l.
Consorzio 3S
Consorzio San Francesco S.c.a.r.l. , in
liquidation
Consorzio Stabile San Francesco
S.c.a.r.l.
Consorzio Vallemme
Co.Riobeton S.r.l.
Eugreen S.c.a.r.l.
Edilcalce di Viola O. & figli S.p.A.
Luciani S.p.a.
Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
N.C.C. S.r.l.
Other

-

709

1,278
120
-

4

-

-

496

-

-

-

-
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COMPANY RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The main risk factors the Group is exposed to can be grouped into the following categories:
• Strategic and operational risks;
• Financial risks;
• Regulatory and compliance risks.
STRATEGIC AND OPERATING RISKS
The Group's financial position and performance is closely linked to macro-economic trends. The global recession has
and will most certainly continue to affect the core business of the Group, which will seek to overcome this moment by
capitalizing on the key factors that have enabled it over the years to obtain and consolidate a market position at the
top of the sector, guaranteeing profitability and development.
The Group operates in several countries and areas of the world as part of its strategy aimed at strengthening its
presence on international markets and at the same time reducing its dependence on a single country.
However, this policy exposes the Group, in some countries in which it operates, to certain risks, including: the
uncertainty of the political, social and economic system, changes in local regulations, excess inflation, exchange rate
fluctuations, as well as the reliability of the counterparties.
In order to minimize these risks, the Group maintains a constant analysis of the situation in the various countries in
which it operates through the stable presence of its subsidiaries and also with the support of local partners and
consultants. In particular, the companies within the Group are more characterized by aspects related to
internationalization, and have adopted a management model that provides for the presence at central level of
coordination and monitoring structures of its foreign subsidiaries.
However, political and economic instabilities, such as those affecting the countries of North Africa, cannot affect the
economic results and financial situation of the Group.
All the companies of the Group are committed to maximizing the rationalization of production processes in order to
reduce the consumption of energy and natural resources. The cost of energy factors recorded significant changes
that could be repeated in the future in relation to external factors that cannot be controlled by management, while the
availability of raw materials represents a strategic factor with a view to business continuity. The Group has adopted
a series of measures to mitigate this type of risk, including through a centralized supply organization.
FINANCIAL RISKS
The operating activities of the main Group companies are exposed to market risks in connection with changes in
interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices. The risk of price changes is connected to the nature of the
business.
With regard to Group companies operating in the production of hydraulic binders, the exposure to exchange rates
derives from the operations of companies in currencies other than the Euro, in which a significant part of solid fuels
which are listed or related to the US dollar is purchased. Against such risks, the companies put into effect, if deemed
opportune, contracts for the purchase and sale of forward currency, as well as contracts for call and put options on
foreign exchange or other types of hedging instruments.
The main source of exposure to interest risk is represented by floating-rate debt and by fluctuations in interest rates
that affect the market value of the financial liabilities of the Group companies and the amount of net financial charges.
The subsidiaries Colacem S.p.A. and Santa Monica S.p.A., have in place derivative financial instruments that, in line
with the Group's hedging policy, have been entered into with the aim of neutralizing the exposure to the risk of changes
in rates of interest on financial liabilities. For more information on the transactions and instruments currently in
progress, please refer to the explanatory notes.
Credit risk refers to the exposure of the Group companies to the risk of potential losses deriving from the non-fulfillment
of the obligations assumed by the commercial counterparts and only to a small extent by the other financial assets.
The main exposure consists of receivables due from customers.
To minimize this risk, it should be noted that the main operating companies of the Group, in addition to obtaining
financial information on customers to be entrusted to independent companies specialized in this matter, are equipped
with adequate internal procedures that, during the preliminary sale phase, allow creditworthiness of each client and
consequently direct the choices in the supplies. The credit position is also continuously monitored with reference to
the degree of reliability of the customer, control of collection flows and management of any credit recovery actions.
As at 31 December 2019 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. Financial assets are recognized in
the financial statements net of the write-down calculated on the basis of the counterpart default risk, determined
considering the information available on the creditworthiness of the customer. Since the beginning of the financial
crisis, the procedures for the assignment and monitoring of receivables from customers have been subject to an even
closer control that has guaranteed a containment of non-performing positions compared to a very critical market
situation.
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Liquidity risk is the risk associated with the difficulty of finding financial resources to be able to regularly fulfill the
commercial and financial obligations assumed.
At present, the Financo Group believes that it has access to sufficient funds to meet its foreseeable financial needs,
including through the availability of sources of funding and lines of credit, also in view of what is reported in the
"Business Outlook" section of this management report.

REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE RISKS
All operating activities carried out by the Group, both in Italy and abroad, comply with the rules and regulations in
force in the reference areas. Particular importance in this context assumes the respect of the environmental legislation
that highlights an increasingly complex framework of rules.
In order to protect the risks of people and property, the Group companies constantly check that the protection and
prevention programs are applied by the personnel, both employees and non-employees, working in the Group's
production sites.
The regulatory constraints, the objectives and initiatives of the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. as part of sustainable
development, are the subject of a specific "Sustainability Report", updated and prepared on the basis of the latest
GRI "G4" guidelines with application level A+, to which reference should be made for any further information.
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SPREAD OF COVID-19
As is well known, starting in January 2020, the domestic and international landscape has been largely impacted by
the spread of COVID-19 and the consequent restrictive measures put in place by public authorities across the globe
to stop it from spreading. These circumstances, extraordinary in nature and scope, have direct and indirect
repercussions on economic activity and have created a general climate of uncertainty, the evolution and related
effects of which are impossible to predict.
It should be noted that the restrictive measures implemented to stop the pandemic from getting worse, resulted in the
closure of plants and consequently a break in production. However, although production levels have slowly picked
up, albeit significantly lower than pre-covid levels, it should be noted that at present the potential effects cannot be
determined and will be constantly monitored as the year moves forward.
However, this issue will be further discussed in greater detail in the "BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND CORPORATE
CONTINUITY" section of this Management Report, and also in the notes to the financial statements in the section on
"SUBSEQUENT EVENTS".
PRIVACY
With regard to the “Processing of personal data - Privacy”, the Group companies that had the obligation, have correctly
complied with the provisions of Legislative Decree no. 196 of 30 June 2003 (Code regarding the protection of personal
data) and are preparing all the appropriate additions to be in line with the provisions of the new European Regulation
"GDPR" EU 2016/679, which will regulate the subject from 2018.
The Financo Group is equipped with an internal work group aimed at updating and monitoring regulatory changes on
the subject, in order to allow the bodies in charge to constantly adapt the measures necessary to protect these rights.
MODEL 231 AND CODE OF ETHICS
The main Italian companies of the Group, Financo S.r.l., Colacem S.p.A., Colabeton S.p.A., Tracem S.p.A., Inba
S.p.A. and Santa Monica S.p.A. have adopted the Organizational Model pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 231/01
suitable to avoid administrative and penal liability for companies for some types of crimes. The models are not
designed to prevent criminal liability, although they could have an indirect effect.
Specific supervisory systems have been set up aimed at preventing the types of offenses envisaged by the
aforementioned Decree and potentially achievable by Directors, Statutory Auditors, Managers, employees or by all
those who have contractual, financial and commercial relations with the company.
Supervision on operation, compliance and updating of the Model by each company was entrusted to a Supervisory
Body (SB), composed of independent members and vested with independent powers of initiative and control.
PENDING DISPUTES AND PROCEEDINGS
Colacem S.p.A.
As already extensively reported in previous financial years, in 2017 the Italian Competition Authority imposed a
sanction on certain operators in the cement sector with reference to alleged agreements for the coordination of
increases in cement sales prices in some areas of the national territory.
Despite the eloquent briefs by the company and the other parties involved, Colacem S.p.A. was fined 18.3 million
euro, to be paid based on a 30-month installment plan.
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The appeal before the Regional Administrative Court (TAR) of Lazio was dismissed, thereby confirming the
penalties imposed on the operators in the cement sector involved (in particular for Colacem with ruling no. 8538
of 30 July 2018).
An appeal before the Council of the State was proposed in 2018 against this ruling. On 16 March 2020, the
Council of State's issued ruling no. 1839/2020, which, even if we expected that the fine would be considerably
reduced, confirmed the imposition of the fine. In view of this decision, in 2019 the company deemed it necessary
to supplement the provision for risks and charges through an additional provision of 7.3 million euro, thus
covering the entire amount of the fine.
As at 31 December 2019, the company had paid 19 of the 30 instalments for a total of 11.5 million euro. In
March the Italian Competition Authority, on its own initiative, decided to suspend instalment payments for the
months during the state of emergency caused by COVID-19.
Nonetheless, although the cement sector lost the case, it must be said that the company has always complied
with competition laws and the facts alleged by the Authority against companies in the sector (in particular price
coordination) have rational economic explanations other than the implementation of an agreement between
operators; even more evident where the accusations made had to be seen against the backdrop of a market
environment where, in the period in question, prices were lower than the costs incurred by companies.
Colabeton S.p.A.
With regard to the penalty imposed by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM), which in the partial upholding
of the appeal filed in 2015 by Colabeton S.p.A. the Regional Administrative Court (TAR) had reduced from the
original 3,580 thousand euro to 1,500 thousand euro, in March 2019 the Council of State ruled on the appeal
filed by AGCM against the reduction of the penalty. The administrative judges accepted AGCM's arguments
and reinstated the amount of the fine to the original 3,580 thousand euro.
On the day on which the judgement was delivered, Colabeton had already paid in full the 1,500 thousand euro
of the first instance proceedings, and therefore 2,080 thousand euro remained to be paid, for which 30-month
installment plan was in any event approved, payment of which began in May 2019. As at 31 December 2019,
are still 22 instalments to pay the outstanding balance of 1,542 thousand euro.
During 2019, the dispute over the supply of product to Salcef S.r.l. was settled. The transaction, which involved
coverage by the insurance company, was concluded with the company shouldering only the amount of 380
thousand euro for the insurance deductible, against which the provision for risks set aside in the previous year
was used.
Tracem S.p.A.
In August 2018, 9 employees of Tracem S.p.A. from the branch in Castel Focognano Rassina (AR) each filed
injections, issued by the Court of Arezzo, with which they requested the payment of an amount as wage
differences concerning the so-called "productivity bonus". After paying the amounts requested in the abovementioned injunctions, which came to total of approximately 37 thousand euro, the company challenged the
injunctions, pointing out that the claims were totally unfounded. With sentence no. 176/2019 of 17 September
2019, the Court of Arezzo refused to consider the challenge made by Tracem S.p.A. The company firmly
believes that it has done no wrong and filed an appeal with the Florence Court of Appeal. The hearing is
scheduled for 12 November 2020.
As a precaution, despite the fact that the company's reasons remain intact, the Board of Directors of Tracem
S.p.A. decided to first write down the value of the injunctions paid and recognized as receivables due from
employees, and then set aside a provision for risks of 53 thousand euros.

INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 2428, PAR. 2, POINTS 3, 4 AND 6BIS OF THE
ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
Financo S.r.l. does not hold any own shares or holdings in parent companies; during the 2019 financial year
there were no purchase and/or sale transactions of said categories of shares and units.
The Company does not have secondary branch offices.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND CORPORATE CONTINUITY
Most analyses predicted a stable recovery in construction and public works over the next three years provided
there were no external shocks in construction.
Unfortunately, the circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, extraordinary in both nature and scope,
are having repercussions on the Group's economic activities and have created an environment of general
uncertainty, the evolution of which, and relative effects, is difficult to predict at the moment.
The situation is constantly evolving and is very worrisome, both in Italy and in the other countries where the
Group operates. In particular, the restrictive measures adopted led to the temporary closure of plants and the
consequent interruption of production, which had already recovered, resulting in use of the social safety nets
provided for by the "Cura Italia" and the "Rilancio" decrees.
The Group placed top priority on implementing measures to protect the health of employees, gradually scalingdown activities also at the head office, providing incentives for "smart" working, increasing the use of
videoconferencing systems and enabling social safety nets for employees at the head office starting in March.
All steps were taken promptly to cope with the changed landscape and to mitigate the financial and economic
impact caused by the temporary suspension of production due to the spread of the COVID-19 virus.
In this context, some subsidiaries of the Parent Company, Financo S.r.l., approved an update to their 2020
financial budgets that foresees, among other things, new financing transactions with banks, under the measures
enacted by the Italian Government through recent regulatory measures to provide liquidity to companies.
Moreover, also on 28 May 2020, the Board of Directors of Colacem S.p.A., the Group's main company, at the
same meeting in which it approved the 2019 financial statements, approved an update of its business plan for
2020-2026 ("2020-2026 Plan"), as well as the related financial budget ("2020 Financial Budget") to take into
account the impact of on its financial position and performance caused by the events and operations that
occurred during the early months of the year with specific reference to the public health emergency resulting
from the spread of COVID-19. Colacem S.p.A., although it reaffirms the uncertainty of the macroeconomic
environment, the evolution and effects of which are currently unforeseeable, the 2020-2026 Plan and the 2020
Financial Budget foresees, among other things: (i) a rebound in production to pre-covid levels starting from the
end of the third quarter of 2020, (ii) the temporary postponement of major investment projects, and (iii) important
measures to support the liquidity of companies throughout the construction industry through the banking system,
in order to address the liquidity crisis resulting from the decline in sales and foreseeable difficulty in collecting
accounts receivable. These same figures reflect the forecast assumptions of the Group underlying its
formulations, and reflect the best estimate of the Group's financial position and performance for the period.
Therefore, the 2020 Financial Budget of Colacem S.p.A., in the current changed environment in which the
company under review and the entire Financo Group operate, calls for a raft of measures necessary to ensure
sound financial performance and cash flows, which will allow the company to meet its needs stemming from
operations, investments made and financial liabilities falling due in the foreseeable future.
In particular, the main companies of the Financo Group have begun talks with banks which should mainly lead
to: (i) a change in the amortization schedules of the credit lines granted in previous years through a deferral of
principal payments for 2020 which, in specific regards to Colacem S.p.A, amount to a total of 7.5 million euro
as well as a consequent extension of the final maturity consistent with the instalments for which the deferral
was requested (ii) a request for a waiver that, among other things, would allow Colacem S.p.A. to take out new
loans as part of the aforementioned measures to support company liquidity introduced by the Italian government
with recent regulatory measures.
As regards this last point, at the reporting date, some of the main companies in the Financo Group, governed
by Italian law, have entered into an advanced stage of negotiation with banks in order to obtain a long-term loan
backed by a SACE guarantee or assisted by the SME Guarantee Fund, the amount of which will be established
in line with the requirements of the Financial Budgets of the respective subsidiaries. Without prejudice to the
completion of all the significant decision-making processes involved in the simplified procedure for obtaining
the SACE guarantee or within the framework of the guarantee from the SME Guarantee Fund, the outcomes of
which are beyond the company's control, the Directors reasonably expect that they will be able to finalize the
transactions to obtain the new loans that will enable them to adequately manage their financial resources and
ordinary cash requirements in order to meet the Group's obligations in the foreseeable future.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 40 LAW DECREE NO. 127/1991
There is nothing to report in respect of article 40, paragraph 2°, points a) and d), in the Italian Law Decree
127/1991.
Finally, our deepest gratitude goes out to all those who, during this period of major changes and developments,
have offered their work and services in order to achieve the goals fixed by the Group and the goals it wishes to
attain in the near future.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Balance Sheet for 2019 and
comparative figures for 2018
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

ASSETS

2019

A) SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL UNPAID
B) FIXED ASSETS
I Intangible
1)
Start-up and expansion costs
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)
8)
Total
II Materials
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
Total
III Financial
1)

Total
2)

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
Goodwill
Assets in progress and advances
Other
Consolidation difference

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Industrial and commercial equipment
Other assets
Assets under construction and advances

Investments in
a) subsidiaries
b) associates
c) other companies
Receivables
a) due from subsidiaries
amounts due beyond the next year
b) due from associates
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
c) due from others
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

Total
Total
TOTAL FIXED ASSETS

2018
-

-

26

11

1,771
4,039
9,405
1,237
5,993
13,734
36,205

2,033
3,028
11,127
1,156
5,790
8,689
31,834

160,579
96,142
1,149
9,679
15,575
283,124

156,911
101,532
1,225
10,272
13,394
283,334

4,225
18,553
6,039
28,817

4,119
19,251
3,056
26,426

7,108

1,064

2,838
1,662
4,500

2,761
1,859
4,620

4,865
3,086
7,951
19,559
48,376
367,705

3,969
5,537
9,506
15,190
41,616
356,784
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ASSETS
C) CURRENT ASSETS
I Inventories
1)
Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables
2)
Work in progress and semi-finished goods
4)
Finished products and goods
5)
Advances
Total
II Receivables
1)
Due from customers
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
2)
Due from subsidiaries
amounts due within the next year
3)
Due from associates
amounts due within the next year
5-bis)
Tax receivables
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
5-ter)
Prepaid taxes
amounts due within the next year
5-quater) Due from others
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
Total
III Current financial assets
5)
Other securities
IV Cash and cash equivalents
1)
Bank and postal deposits
2)
Cheques
3)
Cash on hand
Total
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
D) ACCRUALS AND PREPAYMENTS
TOTAL ASSETS
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2019

2018

75,082
22,369
12,182
1,926
111,559

70,083
25,273
11,480
2,550
109,386

142,486
5,108
147,594

142,614
4,836
147,450

361

452

27,005

21,832

7,172
19
7,191

7,959
19
7,978

40,718

42,783

23,248
48
23,296
246,165

22,254
84
22,338
242,833

6,912

2,051

29,327
56
126
29,509
394,145
4,184
766,034

41,977
334
140
42,451
396,721
4,689
758,194
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LIABILITIES
A) EQUITY
I. Capital
II Share premium reserve
III Revaluation reserves
IV Legal reserve
V Statutory reserves
VI Other reserves
VII Cash flow hedge reserve
VIII Retained earnings (losses carried forward)
IX Profit (loss) for the year
X Treasury stock reserve
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE GROUP

XI Minority interests in capital and reserves
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY OF THE GROUP
AND THIRD PARTIES

2019

2018
6,000

6,000

-

-

124,927

124,927

18,800

18,559

-

-

158,134

145,865

(699)

(554)

-

-

10,564

11,663

-

-

317,726

306,460

32,364

28,960

350,090

335,420

182

180

3,878

1,361

920

730

B) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
1) For pensions and similar obligations
2) For taxes, including deferred taxes
3) Derivative instruments, liabilities
4) Other

24,771

22,623

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

29,751

24,894

C) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)

16,633

17,561
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LIABILITIES

2019

2018

D) PAYABLES
4) Due to banks
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

35,834

47,565

79,605

97,296

115,439

144,861

6,879

18,158

46,022

29,123

52,901

47,281

1,713

1,126

91,808

90,729

5) Due to other lenders
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
6) Advances
amounts due within the next year
7) Due to suppliers
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total

144

141

91,952

90,870

945

997

14,832

8,958

12,865

9,223

4,830

4,646

49,605

57,365

1,729

635

51,334

58,000

346,811

365,962

22,749

14,357

766,034

758,194

9) Due to subsidiaries
amounts due within the next year
10) Due to associates
amounts due within the next year
12) Tax liabilities
amounts due within the next year
13) Due to pension and social security institutions
amounts due within the next year
14) Other payables
amounts due within the next year
amounts due beyond the next year
Total
TOTAL PAYABLES
E) ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME
TOTAL LIABILITIES
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Consolidated Income Statement for
2019 and comparative figures for
2018
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

2019

2018

A) OPERATING REVENUE
1) Sales and service revenue
2) Changes in inventories for work in progress,
semi-finished and finished products
4) Increase in own work capitalized

523,467

466,528

(3,802)

(4,860)

1,787

1,051

436

553

5) Other revenue and income
a) Operating grants
b) Other revenue and income
Total
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE

47,978

64,113

48,414

64,666

569,866

527,385

169,309

156,764

190,416

182,149

6,958

6,673

B) OPERATING COSTS
6) For raw and subsidiary materials, consumable and goods
7) For services
8) For leased assets
9) For personnel
a) wages and salaries

66,329

b) social security contributions
c) post-employment benefits (TFR)

20,858

19,893

4,225

4,156

4,655
96,067

2,988
93,221

5,144

7,792

d) other costs
Total
10) Amortization, depreciation and write-downs
a) amortization of intangible assets
b) depreciation of property, plant and equipment
d) write-downs of current receivables and cash and cash
equivalents
Total
11) Change in inventories for raw, ancillary and
consumable materials and goods
12) Provisions for risks
13) Other provisions
14) Other operating expenses
TOTAL OPERATING COSTS
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN OPERATING REVENUE AND COSTS [AB]

28,158
5,788

66,184

24,968
6,978

39,090

39,738

(5,192)

(4,134)

7,274

5,444

396

383

11,004

13,683

515,322

493,921

54,544

33,464
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2019

2018

C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
15) Income from equity investments
1

-

subsidiaries

44

15

associates

30

58

15

15

89

88

a) from other investments
16) Other financial income
a) from receivables in non-current assets

from other products
Total
a) other non-current securities
b) other income
Total
17) Interest and other financial expenses
a) subsidiaries
b) other interest and financial expenses
Total
17-bis) Foreign exchange gains and losses
TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

1

-

405

9,128

495

9,216

-

(1)

(7,166)

(9,118)

(7,166)

(9,119)

(2,127)

(1,494)

(8,797)

(1,397)

198

488

(827)

(1,280)

(629)

(792)

45,118

31,275

19,931

10,271

25,187

21,004

(14,623)
10,564

(9,341)
11,663

D) VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
18) Revaluations
a) of investments
19) Write-downs
a) of investments
TOTAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES [A-B±C±D]
20) Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes for the year
21) Profit for the year including minority interests
22) (Profit) Loss for the period relating to minority interests
23) Profit (loss) for the year
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for 2019 and comparative figures for
2018
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

1
2018

2019

J

A) CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) for the period

25,187

21,004

Income taxes

19,931

10,271

6,672
-

(8,843)

(13,629)

(35,514)

38,161

(4,336)

33,302

32,760

629

792

(928)

276

Interest expense (income)
Other (income) and financial expenses
(Gains)/losses on disposal of non-current assets
Profit (loss) before taxes, interests, dividends, gains/losses
on disposal

8,746

Adjustments for non-monetary items
Amortization and depreciation on fixed assets
Write-down of fixed assets
Net change in post-employment benefits (TFR)

3,775

5,268

Total adjustments for non-monetary items

Net change in other provisions

36,778

39,096

Cash flow before change in net working capital

74,939

34,760

(2,173)

15,288

(144)

6,146

1,669

(1,002)

509

318

5,163

(640)

(764)

5,362

4,260

25,472

(6,037)

(6,459)

(11,005)

(7,633)

36

1,539

Changes in net working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables from customers
Increase/(Decrease) in payables to suppliers
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income and prepaid
expensesIncrease/(decrease) in accrued expenses and deferred
income

Other changes in the net working capital

Total changes in net working capital
Other adjustments
Interests and other financial receipts /(Interest expenses and
other financial expenses paid)
(Paid)/Reimbursed income taxes
Other changes of medium/long term receivables
Other changes of medium/long term payables
Other receipts/(payments)
Total other adjustments
TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1,094

(377)

(5,826)
(21,738)

58,052
45,122

57,461

105,354
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r
2019

2018

B) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in tangible fixed assets
(Investments)

(18,098)

(17,056)

Change in the Scope of Consolidation
Proceeds from divestitures

(11,675)

(34,864)

2,454

43,784

(27,319)

(8,136)

(Investments)

(3,414)

(10,190)

Change in the Scope of Consolidation

(6,129)

(8,719)

28

3,757

(9,515)

(15,152)

(Investments)
Change in the Scope of Consolidation

(3,324)

(876)

10

-

Proceeds from divestitures

294
(3,020)

12

Total
Sale of business units net of cash and cash equivalents
(Supply) Repayment of loans

13,000

(864)
-

(4,369)

(4,042)

(31,223)

(28,194)

38,153

139,502

(62,931)

(141,191)

(11,219)
(35,997)

(25,115)
(26,804)

702

(12,374)

(35,295)

(39,178)

(9,057)

37,982

41,568

3,586

32,511

41,568

Total
Investments in intangible fixed assets

Proceeds from divestitures
Total
Investments in financial fixed assets

TOTAL CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
C) CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Outside funding
New loans
Loan reimbursement
Change in minority reserves
Total
Equity
Change in reserves
CASH FLOW FROM (FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD (A + B + C)
CASH AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES AS AT 31.12.2018

CASH AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES
AS AT 31.12.2019
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS for the year ended
31 December 2019

STRUCTURE AND CONTENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Consolidated Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the provisions of Legislative Decree no.
127/1991 and of the Italian Civil Code interpreted and supplemented by the accounting principles prepared by
the Italian Accounting Body (OIC), comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Income
Statement and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement prepared according to the prescribed structure and
content for the financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation and these notes, and is
accompanied by the management report. The notes to the financial statements serve to illustrate, analyze and
in some cases supplement the financial statement data and contains the information required by art. 38 of
Legislative Decree no. 127/1991 and other provisions of the same decree; they contain all supplementary
information considered necessary to provide a true and fair view, even if not required by specific provisions of
law. For this purpose, the Cash Flow Statement has also been prepared, which shows the changes in cash and
cash equivalents during the year.
The OIC updated the national accounting standards on the basis of the new regulatory provisions introduced by
Legislative Decree no. 139 of 18 August 2015 and made amendments to some national accounting standards.
These amendments are applicable to financial statements with a period beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or
later.
The values of the items in the Balance Sheet and Income Statement as well as the various tables that make up
these notes are expressed in thousands of euro.
The reporting date of the consolidated financial statements, 31 December 2019, is that of the financial
statements of the parent company Financo S.r.l. The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements as at 31 December 2019 of the Parent company and of the companies controlled directly and
indirectly by Financo S.r.l. The companies included in the scope of consolidation using the full consolidation
method are listed below:

67

Consolidated Financial Statements 2019
SHARE
OWNED BY
THE GROUP

SHARE OWNED
BY THE PARENT

COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

CAPITAL

SHARE OWNED BY SUBSIDIARIES IN %

IN %

IN %

Les
Ciments
Colacem Colabeton
S.p.A.
S.p.A.

Santa

Artificiels
Tunisiens

Stenca
S.a.r.l.

Inba
S.p.A.

Domicem
S.A.

Monica
S.p.A.

S.A.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]
Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

6,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,000

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

60,000

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

500

60.48

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

60.48

Inba S.p.A.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]
via Masseria Murrone Soleto
[LE]

500

55.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55.00

Les Ciments Artificiels
Tunisiens S.A.

Route Z 4, Km 2
Tunisi [Tunisia]

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

Cementos Colacem
España S.L.U.

Darsena de Escombreras
Muelle Principe Felipe
Cartagena [Spain]

Financo S.r.l.
Colacem S.p.A.

Colabeton S.p.A.
Tracem S.p.A.

Tourist S.p.A.
Colacem Albania
Sh.p.k.

Via Tifernate s.n. Gubbio [PG]

13,797
400

-

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

10,200

-

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

100.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

100.00

92.89

-

-

-

-

-

-

92.89

Rruga Nacionale, km 7 Balldre
Lezhe [Albania]
Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

2,869

Maddaloni Cementi
S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG]

1,000

Aermarche S.r.l.

Santa Monica S.p.A.
Domicem S.A.

Somatp S.A.

Stenca S.a.r.l.

50

-

-

Via Daijiro Kato, 10 Misano
Adriatico [RN]

14,818

Avenue Abraham Lincoln 295
Santo Domingo [Dominican
Republic]

33,239

51.00

-

-

-

-

-

-

51.00

831

-

-

69.88

2.00

-

-

-

71.28

3

-

-

49.00

-

-

-

-

49.00

-

-

45.00

-

-

-

-

45.00

-

-

-

100.00

-

-

55.00

-

-

-

100.00

-

100.00

-

-

-

-

58.00

58.00

41, Rue 8600 la Charguia
2035 Tunis [Tunisia]
Route Z 4, Km 2 El Ouardia
1009 Tunis [Tunisia]

-

Cat Transport S.a.r.l.

25 Bis rue Ibn
Khaldourn Megrine 2033
Tunis [Tunisia]

57

Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.

Via Masseria Murrone n. 10
Soleto [LE]

10

-

-

Sun Flower S.r.l.

Via del Carro, 27 Misano
Adriatico [RN]

52

-

-

Citadelle United S.A.

Bldg Acierie D'Haiti Rte Nle 1
Delmas [Haiti]

387

-

-

Subsidiaries whose inclusion would be immaterial or not suitable for achieving the purposes of clarity and
providing a true and fair view of the financial performance and financial position are not included in the
consolidation area, since they are not significant. These companies, listed in the table provided in page 83, are
valued using the full consolidation method.
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CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION DURING THE YEAR

Registered office

Sector

Reason for inclusion /
exclusion from the scope
of consolidation

Via della Vittorina 60
Gubbio [PG]

Hydraulic binders

Acquisition of control

Via della Vittorina 60
Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. Gubbio [PG]

Hydraulic binders

Acquisition of control

Ready-mix concrete

Merger by incorporation

Companies included:
Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.

Excluded companies:
Frazione Mocaiana
Calcestruzzi Gubbio S.r.l. Gubbio [PG]

In April 2019, following the purchase by the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. of the entire investment in Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l., the latter company was included in the scope of consolidation.
With regard to Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.'s entrance into the scope of consolidation, it should be noted that the
Group took control over this company following the transfer of an industrial business unit (the Ragusa (RG)
plant) by Colacem S.p.A., resulting in it taking over 100% control.
The financial statements used for purpose of consolidation were those of the year ended 31 December 2019,
prepared by the Board of Directors for approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting of each company. They were
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code as interpreted and supplemented by the
accounting principles and standards developed by the ‘Organismo Italiano della Contabilità’ (OIC) – the Italian
Accounting Body and by the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by IASB insofar as compatible
with current rules and regulations.
The financial statements prepared on the basis of accounting principles other than those applied at Group level,
typically those of foreign companies operating in the hydraulic binders sector, have been adjusted/supplemented
during consolidation, so that they are more consistent with the financial statements of the main companies of
the Group.

CONSOLIDATION POLICIES
The most significant consolidation policies used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
on 31 December 2019, relating to the companies consolidated using the full consolidation method, are described
below:
a) the book value of consolidated shareholdings is eliminated against the related Equity as a result of the
assumption of assets and liabilities, costs and revenues of the companies consolidated using the full
consolidation method. The highest value paid in terms of the subsidiary’s net equity book value on the date of
purchase, is attributed to these individual items of Assets and Liabilities this highest value refers to. The higher
value in the Assets is subject to amortization during the goods utility period; any possible residual difference, if
positive, is recognized under Assets in the item Consolidation Difference and amortized by applying the
measurement policy provided for goodwill; while, if negative, it is recognized in the Equity item under
Consolidation Reserve and recognized in the Income Statement when realized;
b) unrealized profits deriving from transactions between companies consolidated or assessed using the equity
method are eliminated if deemed relevant; tax effects related to eliminated transactions are also reported ;
therefore if taxes have been allocated in the Financial Statement or paid for on inter-group profits in the
companies that have recorded them, these taxes are deferred till the operation is realized with third parties
outside the Group; furthermore, debit and credit entries, cost and revenue entries of relevant amounts existing
between consolidated companies are eliminated;
c) minority interests in shareholders’ equity of consolidated subsidiaries are reported under a specific item under
Equity; minority interests in the net profit of these companies are separately reported in the Consolidated
Income Statement.
d) dividends from consolidated shareholdings recorded as investment incomes in the Income Statement of the
Parent company of the Group or other companies consolidated using the full consolidation method, are
eliminated from the Consolidated Income Statement.
e) the profit or loss deriving from the total management of a subsidiary is recorded in the Consolidated Income
Statement;
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f) the financial statements of fully consolidated foreign companies have been converted according to the
spot exchange rate on the financial statement date, to ‘translate’ Assets and Liabilities and Equity items,
and average exchange rate of the financial year for Income Statement items. The following table shows
the exchange rates used:

Dominican peso
Haitian Gourde
Tunisian dinar
Albanian Lek
U.S. dollar

57.35
99.28
3.28
123.02

59.46
103.30
3.14
122.05

1.12

1.12

STATEMENT OF RECONCILIATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE
PARENT COMPANY FINANCO S.R.L.
WITH THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE FINANCO GROUP AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
The items reconciling profit for the year and the Net Equity of Financo S.r.l. and the profit and the Net Equity of
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Financo Group as at 31 December 2019 compared with the figures
as at 31 December 2018, may be analyzed as follows:

2019
Profit (loss)
for the year

Balances resulting from the statutory financial
statements of Financo S.r.l.

(993)

Dividends from consolidated companies
Net assets surplus, inclusive of the results for the year,
with respect to book values
Consolidated subsidiaries *

(25,279)

Subsidiaries valued using the equity method
Adjustments made to adapt the financial statements of
the companies to the group accounting principles

(693)

Share attributable to third parties
Balances resulting from the consolidated financial
statements of Financo S.r.l. and subsidiaries

2018
Profit (loss)
for the year

Equity

100,826

6,665
-

(38,007)

Equity

101,819
-

19,057

243,402

(3,935)

(1,082)

(3,385)

1,197

(4,825)

34,371

(6,416)

(14,623)

(32,364)

(9,341)

(28,960)

10,564

317,726

11,663

306,460

50,955

258,024

* Includes the effects of eliminating intragroup transactions

MEASUREMENT POLICIES
The accounting principles shown below have been adjusted with the amendments, additions and innovations
introduced Italian Civil Code by Legislative Decree 139/2015, that has recognized the accounting Directive
34/2013/EU in Italy. In particular, the national accounting standards were reformulated by the OIC in the version
issued on 29 December 2017.
The measurement policies used in the consolidated financial statements are the same as those used by the
parent company Financo S.r.l. and by the major subsidiaries in their financial statements, with the exception of
the measurement policy for investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates.
The items in the financial statements were measured in compliance with art. 2426 et seq. of the Italian Civil
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Code, as amended by Legislative Decree 139/2015, and according to the principles of prudence and on an
accrual basis, the relevance of the information and based on the company's ability to continue as a going
concern, also taking into account the substance of the transaction or contract.
There have been no cases in which the application of the principles, criteria and provisions of articles 2423-bis
to 2426 of the Italian Civil Code has led to an untrue and unfair view of the Group's assets and liabilities, financial
position and operating results for the year.
In particular, the most significant accounting principles adopted by the Parent Company for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are recognized in the financial statements using the purchase or production cost method,
including incidental charges and systematically amortized over their estimated future useful life. In the event of
impairment, regardless of the amortization already accounted for, the fixed asset is written down accordingly; if,
in subsequent financial years, the reasons that had justified the write-down no longer apply, the original value is
reinstated, within the limits of the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had
been recognized, except for the goodwill and long-term expenses pursuant to art. 2426 (5) of the Italian Civil
Code.
Start-up and expansion costs with useful life of more than one year, as well as goodwill acquired for
consideration, are recorded in the Assets, subject to the consent of the Board of Statutory Auditors and amortized
over a five-year period. Systematic amortization over a limited period of more than five years is commensurate
with the duration of use of the asset to which it refers and is adequately motivated.
Capitalized costs, relating to rights for the use of intellectual property, are represented by direct purchase costs
and incidental charges; the amortization period is determined by the remaining useful life of the asset.
The costs for the acquisition of concessions and licenses are amortized according to the duration of the relevant
concession or license.
Goodwill, acquired for consideration, is recorded with the consent of the Board of Statutory Auditors and, unless
otherwise indicated, it is amortized over its useful life. The useful life is estimated upon initial recognition of the
goodwill and is not changed in subsequent years. If it is not possible to estimate its useful life, goodwill is
amortized over a period of 10 years. For the purpose of calculating the useful life of goodwill, the information
available is taken into account to estimate the period within which the economic benefits associated with the
goodwill are likely to arise.
Advertising costs are fully charged to the Income Statement in the sustaining year.
Leasehold improvements are capitalized and recognized in the item Other intangible assets if they cannot be
separated from the assets and are amortized systematically at the shorter between the period of their expected
useful life and the residual period of the lease, taking into account any renewal period, if dependent on the
company.
The incidental charges incurred to obtain loans, such as application fees, the substitute tax on medium-term
loans and all other initial costs, are capitalized in the item Other intangible assets. The amortization of incidental
charges on loans is made in relation to the duration of the related loans.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are recognized in the financial statements at acquisition or construction cost, adjusted
for certain assets in application of specific monetary alignment laws, as well as for the attribution of the negative
merger differences made in previous years and due to the allocation of the higher value paid for the acquisition of
equity investments. The cost includes incidental charges and direct and indirect costs for the portion reasonably
attributable to the asset.
Fixed assets are systematically depreciated each year on a straight-line basis based on economic-technical rates,
determined in relation to the residual possibilities of use of the assets; the rates applied are reported in the section
relating to the explanatory notes on the Assets. Depreciation was also calculated on the temporarily idle assets. Land,
civil buildings that represent a form of investment, works of art and assets whose useful life is unlimited are not
depreciated
Fixed assets whose economic value at the end of the financial year is lower than the amortized cost over time
according to the above criteria, are written down to the extent of their economic value; if in subsequent years the
conditions for the write-down no longer exist, the original value is restored, within the limits of the value that the asset
would have had if the value adjustment had never taken place.
Ordinary maintenance costs are charged in full to the Consolidated Income Statement. Maintenance costs of an
incremental nature are attributed to the assets to which they refer and depreciated in relation to the remaining useful
life.
Property, plant and equipment, when they are intended for sale, are reclassified under current assets and therefore
valued at the lower between the net book value and the estimated realizable value calculated based on the market
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trend.

The parts with a significant unit cost and non-recurring use are classified among property, plant and equipment
and depreciated over their remaining useful life or their useful life, whichever appears shorter.

The assets used under leasing are booked using the "equity method"; the notes to the financial statements
provide, for each contract in place, the information referred to in point 22 of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code,
indicating the effects that would be produced if the "financial method" were adopted.

LONG-TERM EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES
Equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associates where significant influence is exercised are
measured using the net equity method.
The other equity investments are measured at cost. The cost is written down for impairment in the event that the
investee companies have incurred losses and no profit is forecast for the immediate future which might absorb
the losses incurred.; the original value is reinstated in subsequent years if the reasons for the write-down no
longer apply.
In the event that a company is obliged to take on the coverage of the losses incurred by an investee, it may be
necessary to enter a provision under the Balance Sheet liabilities in order to meet the deficit coverage for the
equity deficit of the same.
Fixed income debt securities are recorded at purchase cost, after recognition of the premium installments or
issue discount. This cost is written down in the presence of lasting losses in value. The original values of the
depreciated assets are restored in subsequent years if the reasons for the devaluations made no longer apply.

INTRA-GROUP LOANS
Intra-group loans, with a maturity of more than 12 months, non-interest bearing or at rates significantly lower
than market rates, are initially recognized at a value equal to the future cash flows of the loan discounted at
market rate.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are entered at the lower value between the purchase or production cost, determined according to
the Weighted Average Cost method, and the estimated realizable value that can be inferred from the market
trend; any write-down is eliminated in subsequent years if the reasons for this no longer apply. The cost is
determined by including incidental charges and direct and indirect costs for the portion reasonably attributable
to the asset; the estimated realizable value is calculated taking into account any manufacturing costs still to be
incurred and direct selling costs.

RECEIVABLES
Receivables are recognized in the financial statements according to the amortized cost method, taking into
account the time factor and the assumed realizable value. The amortized cost method is not used when the
impact is immaterial, i.e. when the transaction costs, the fees paid between the parties and any other difference
between the initial value and the maturity value are of little significance or if the receivables are short term (i.e.
with a maturity of less than 12 months).
I trade receivables falling due after 12 months from the time of initial recognition, without payment of interest,
or with interest significantly different from market interest rates, and the related revenues, are initially recognized
at the value determined by discounting future cash flows at the market interest rate. The difference between the
initial recognition value of the receivable thus determined and the forward value is recognized in the Income
Statement as financial income over the duration of the receivable using the effective interest rate criterion.
II The value of the receivables, as determined above, is adjusted, where necessary, by a specific allowance for
doubtful accounts, stated as a direct reduction in the value of the receivables, in order to adjust them to their
assumed realizable value. The estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts includes the loss forecasts both
for credit risks that have already arisen or deemed probable and for other bad debts that have already arisen or
have not yet arisen but are considered probable. The amount of the write-down at the reporting date is equal to
the difference between the book value and the value of the estimated future cash flows, reduced by the amounts
that are expected to be not collected.
The amount of the write-down is recognized in the Income Statement.
Receivables sold as a result of factoring transactions are eliminated from the Balance Sheet only if transferred
without recourse, and if substantially all credit risks are transferred. Receivables transferred without recourse,
or in any case without the transfer of all the risks, remain recorded in the financial statements and a financial
liability of the same amount is entered under the liabilities against the advance received.
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SHORT-TERM EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES
Short-term equity investments and securities that do are measured at the lower of the cost, calculated according
to the LIFO method, and the estimated realizable value, taking into account the market value of the negotiable
securities. In the event of impairment, the asset is written down accordingly. The value adjustment is recognized
among the Write-downs of equity investments; if in subsequent years the reasons for the write-down no longer
apply, the original value is reinstated.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents are made up of bank deposits, postal deposits and checks and are valued according
to the general principle of the presumable value, which normally coincides with the nominal value. Cash and
revenue stamps are measured at their face value. Cash and cash equivalents in foreign currency are measured
at the exchange rate in force on the closing date of the year.

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
This item includes the share of costs and revenues pertaining to the year, but payable in subsequent years and
portions of costs and revenues incurred by the end of the year, but pertaining to subsequent years, according to
the accrual basis of accounting.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
I Provisions for risks and charges are prudently set up and provisioned to cover specific losses or liabilities
whose existence is certain or likely, but whose amount or timing is not yet known at the end of the reporting
period. The provisions reflect the best possible estimate based on the information available. The risks, for which
a contingent liability is only possible, are indicated in the notes to the financial statements without setting up a
provision for risks and charges. Provisions for risks and charges are recorded primarily in the cost items of the
Income Statement of the relevant classes (B, C or D).
If the nature of the provision cannot immediately be linked to one of the items in the above classes, the provisions
for risks and charges are recorded in items B12 and B13 of the income statement.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)
II Post-employment benefits (TFR) correspond to the accruals gained during the employee's employment period
and is determined in accordance with the laws and employment contracts in force. It reflects the liability accrued
with respect to all employees at the reporting date, revalued on the basis of indices provided for by the specific
regulations, net of advances paid in accordance with the law, tax advances, as well as the amounts allocated to
pension funds. For companies operating under the Italian law, the Social Security Reform was implemented on
1 January 2007, with Legislative Decree no. 252/2005. This established the right for employees to choose to
which complementary pension fund to allocate the portion of post-employment benefits (TFR) accrued. Based
on these choices, the portions of the TFR accrued since 1 July 2007 are paid to the supplementary pension
funds or to open funds or to the State Treasury Fund managed by INPS (THE National Institute for Social
Security). The TFR accrued up to the date of choice is set aside at the company and will be liquidated at the end
of the employment relationship, increased by the legal revaluations.

PAYABLES
Payables are recognized in accordance with the amortized cost method taking into account the time factor. The
amortized cost method is not applied to payables where they have an immaterial impact. The effects are
considered irrelevant for short-term payables (i.e. with a maturity of less than 12 months). For information on the
amortized cost method, please see the section on receivables. The payables for holidays accrued by employees,
including the amounts due to social security institutions, are allocated on the basis of the amount that should be
paid in the event of termination of the employment contract at the reporting date.

OPERATING GRANTS
Operating grants are recognized when there is a reasonable certainty that the conditions for providing the grant
are met and that the grants will be disbursed. They are indirectly reduced in cost since they are charged to the
Income Statement under item A5 Other income, on a straight-line basis over a period of time related to the
residual useful life of the asset to which they refer, and therefore deferred by accrual to subsequent years through
the entry of a specific item of accrued expenses and deferred income.
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GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSION ALLOWANCES
The costs relating to the obligation to deliver emission allowances to the competent national authority are
recognized on an accrual basis and entered under the item Other operating expenses in the year in which the
obligation arises in proportion to the greenhouse gas emissions for the year. In return, the debt to the national
authority is entered at the market value of the emission allowances at the year-end date, under the item Other
payables on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet.
Any surplus of emission allowances purchased and not sold at the end of the year is recognized at purchase
cost, under the item Accruals and Deferrals in the Balance Sheet.
Any contingent assets or liabilities resulting from the purchase or sale of the emission quotas subsequent to the
end of the relevant year are recognized, respectively, under the item Other revenues and Other operating
expenses in the Income Statement.

WHITE CERTIFICATES (WhC)
White certificates (i.e. energy efficiency certificates) are recognized on an accrual basis at the time of their
accrual and entered under the item Operating grants. This is offset by a receivable recognized under the current
assets item Other receivables, quantifying the aforementioned certificates at the unit market value on the credit
date or, if later, at the end of the year, at the market value on the year end date. Any contingent assets or
liabilities resulting from the purchase or sale subsequent to the end of the relevant year are entered, respectively,
under the item Other revenues and Other operating expenses in the Income Statement.

REVENUES AND COSTS
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognized when the material and non-official transfer of ownership title
has taken place, using the transfer of risks and benefits as the reference parameter.
Revenues from the sale of products and goods or from the provision of services relating to ordinary operations
are recognized net of returns, discounts, allowances and bonuses, as well as taxes directly related to the sale
of products and rendering of services.
Revenues for services are recognized upon their completion and/or accrual.
Costs are accounted for on an accrual basis, regardless of the date of collection and payment, net of returns,
discounts, rebates and bonuses.
Financial revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends are accounted for in the year in which they are resolved by the shareholders' meeting. Dividends are
recognized as financial income regardless of the nature of the reserves subject to distribution.

INCOME TAXES FOR THE YEAR
Current taxes are recorded in the financial statements on the basis of a reasonable estimate of the taxable
income of each consolidated company in accordance with the provisions in force, taking into account the
applicable exemptions and the tax credits. Deferred and advance taxes are also set aside on the temporary
differences between the result for the year and the taxable income, as well as between the result for the year
and the consolidated result. Deferred tax assets are recorded under Assets only for those for which there is a
reasonable certainty of their future recovery, or if it is reasonable to estimate the existence of taxable income
that is not less than the amount of the differences that will be canceled. Their assessment is carried out taking
into account the presumed tax rate that the company is expected to sustain in the year in which these differences
will contribute to the formation of the tax result, considering the rates in force or already issued on the date of
the Financial Statements and are booked respectively under the “Deferred tax provision” in the liabilities under
the Provisions for risks and charges and under the item “Deferred tax assets” in current assets.
Deferred tax assets, in compliance with the principle of prudence, are recorded only if there is reasonable
certainty, proven by objective supporting elements, of their future recovery, i.e. when it is reasonable to estimate
the existence of taxable income not lower than the amount of the differences that will be canceled.
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if there is little likelihood of this debt arising.
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DERIVATIVES
In order to protect the value of individual assets and liabilities from the risk of fluctuations in interest rates,
exchange rates and market prices, derivative instruments (so-called derivative contracts) are used.
Financial derivatives are assets and liabilities booked at fair value.
I Derivatives are classified as hedging instruments only when, at the beginning of the hedging, there is a close
and documented correlation between the characteristics of the hedged item and those of the hedging instrument
and this hedging relationship is formally documented and the effectiveness of the hedge, verified periodically, is
high. When derivatives hedge the risk of changes in future cash flows of the hedged instruments (cash flow
hedge), the effective portion of the gains or losses on the derivative financial instrument is suspended in the net
equity. The profits and losses associated with a hedge for the ineffective portion are recognized in the Income
Statement. When the related transaction takes place, the cumulative gains and losses, recognized in equity up
to then, are reclassified to the Income Statement when the related transaction takes place (as an adjustment or
supplement to the Income Statement items impacted by the hedged cash flows).
II The Group has decided to apply hedge accounting to hedge the variability in cash flows of financial
assets/liabilities arising from changes in interest rates.
Therefore, the changes in the related fair value of hedging derivative financial instruments are recognized:
- in the Income Statement under items D18 or D19 in the case of fair value hedging of an asset or liability
recorded in the Financial Statements as well as changes in the fair value of the hedged items (in the event
that the change in fair value of the hedged item is greater in absolute value than the change in fair value of
the hedging instrument, the difference is recognized in the Income Statement item affected by the hedged
item);
- in a special equity reserve (under item AVII Reserve for expected cash flow hedges) in the case of hedging
of cash flows according to methods that counterbalance the effects of the hedged flows (the ineffective
component, as well as the change in the time value of options and forwards, is classified in items D18 and
D19).
Derivative instruments incorporated in other financial instruments must also be assessed at fair value. An
embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
- the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract; There is a close correlation in cases where the hybrid contract
is entered into in accordance with market practice;
- all elements of the definition of derivative financial instrument are satisfied, according to the definition
provided by OIC 32.11;
- financial instruments held for the purpose of making a profit in the short term are recorded and valued at fair
value, with recognition of the effects on the Income Statement.

EUROPEAN UNION ALLOWANCES (EUA) FUTURES
EUA futures transactions are excluded from the scope of OIC 32 if (i) the contract is entered into and maintained
to satisfy the need for forward purchase of EUAs to be used for the purpose of return to the appropriate authority
(ii) the contract has been earmarked for that purpose since its conclusion and (iii) the contract is expected to be
performed through the delivery of the instruments.
For these transactions, the bank credits relating to the haircuts connected to the difference between the market
price of the EUA and the agreed subscription price of the future, which are not connected with the deficit of
allowances at the end of the financial year, are recognized within deferred income, while the haircuts connected
with this deficit of allowances are included in the payable shown in the balance sheet due to the Ministry of the
Environment for EUAs.

TRANSLATION POLICY FOR AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN FOREIGN CURRENCY
Receivables and payables originally expressed in foreign currency are translated into euro at the historical
exchange rates of the date of the related transactions. The exchange rate differences realized on the occasion
of the collection of the receivables and the payment of the debts in foreign currency are recorded in the Income
Statement.
Foreign currency assets and liabilities, with the exception of fixed assets, are entered in the Financial Statements
at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year and the related exchange gains and losses, even if not realized,
are recognized in the Income Statement pursuant to art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code. If a net profit emerges
from the valuation process of foreign currency items at the year-end exchange rates, this value is set aside in a
specific reserve that cannot be distributed until realization.
Tangible, intangible and financial fixed assets, consisting of equity investments, recognized at cost in foreign
currency, are recorded at the exchange rate at the time of their purchase or at the lower rate at year end, if the
reduction is deemed to be permanent.
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OTHER INFORMATION
CHANGES IN MEASUREMENT POLICIES AND METHODS
In the annexed consolidated financial statements, the measurement policies were not changed with respect to
those used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the previous year.

DEROGATIONS PURSUANT TO ART. 2423, PAR. 4., OF THE ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
In the attached consolidated financial statements, no derogations were made pursuant to art. 2423, paragraph
4 of the Italian Civil Code.

INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ART. 2427, PAR. 1, POINTS 22-BIS AND 22-TER OF THE
ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
These Notes provide, where appropriate, the information required by art. 2427, paragraph 1, points 22-bis and
22-ter of the Italian Civil Code.

PROCESSABLE XBRL FORMAT AS PER LAW DECREE NO. 223 OF 4 JULY 2006 AND
SUBSEQUENT IMPLEMENTING PROVISIONS
It should be noted that these consolidated Financial Statements have not been prepared in the “processable
format” XBRL. However, the information contained therein is in line with that necessary for the processing
envisaged by Decree Law no. 223 of 4 July 2006, and subsequent implementing provisions.
The Company's Board of Directors will have the exclusive responsibility for (i) codifying the consolidated financial
statements submitted for approval of the shareholders' meeting according to the XBRL technical specifications
envisaged by Decree Law no. 223 of 4 July 2006 and subsequent implementing provisions, (ii) assess
compliance with the principles of clarity, fairness and truth of the consolidated financial statements thus codified
and (iii) proceed with the subsequent filing with the Company Register, as required by current legislation. These
draft consolidated financial statements, insofar as they contain more extensive information than that required by
the XBRL coding, will be filed with the Company Register together with the one prepared in XBRL format.
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COMMENTS ON THE MAIN ASSET ITEMS
FIXED ASSETS
For the three classes of fixed assets (intangible, tangible and financial), specific statements have been
prepared, shown in the following pages, which for each item indicate the information referred to in art 2427,
paragraph 1, point 2 of the Italian Civil Code.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Concessions,
Start-up and expansion Industrial patent and
licenses, trademarks Goodwill
costs
intellectual property
and similar rights
rights

Assets in progress

Other intangible

Consolidation

and advances

assets

difference

Total

Opening balance
Original Cost

1,569

27,360

11,013

85,567

1,156

38,172

59,721

224,558

Amortization

(1,558)

(25,327)

(7,985)

(74,440)

-

(32,382)

(51,032)

(192,724)

11

2,033

3,028

11,127

1,156

5,790

8,689

31,834

-

-

-

-

-

-

6,129

6,129

3,042

BALANCES AT 31/12/2018
Change in the scope of consolidation
Original Cost
Changes in the year
Acquisitions

23

14

1,505

1,410

90

-

Translation differences

(1)

(1)

-

(1)

3

-

-

Consolidation adjustments

-

-

-

-

-

372

372

Reclassifications [*]

-

347

-

Net divestments [**]

-

(2)

(7)

(620)

(493)

Amortization

(1)

(1,316)

966

-

(3)

(12)

(10)

-

(25)

-

(846)

(1,456)

(5,144)

(1,722)

Closing balance
Original Cost

1,591

27,597

12,512

85,567

1,237

38,214

66,222

232,940

Amortization

(1,565)

(25,826)

(8,473)

(76,162)

-

(32,221)

(52,488)

(196,735)

26

1,771

4,039

9,405

1,237

5,993

13,734

36,205

BALANCES AT 31/12/2019

[*] Of which
Original Cost

-

347

-

-

(1,316)

966

Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

347

-

-

(1,316)

966

12

Total

-

(3)

-

(3)

-

-

[**] Of which
Original Cost

121

4

Amortization

(119)

(3)

-

1,021
(1,011)

1,158
-

(1,133)

Total
2

1

12

10

25

The item Start-up and expansion costs consists of costs applicable to multiple years, amortized over five years
and increased, net of the amortization charge for the year, by 15 thousand euro compared to the previous year.
The item Industrial patent and intellectual property rights, which at year end showed a balance of 1,771
thousand euro, mainly included the rights to use data processing software. The decrease for the year, in the
amount of 262 thousand euro, was due to the combined effect of the amortization charge for the year and the
capitalization of other costs incurred mainly by Colacem S.p.A. to activate management software, in the amount
of 186 thousand euro, of which 173 thousand euro was transferred from the item Fixed assets in progress and
advances.
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The item Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights included the following values at year end:
2019

2018
2,191
1,355
465
21
7
4,039

Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipalities of Caravate and Sangiano (VA)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Presenzano (CE)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Caprese Michelangelo (AR)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Acuto (FR)
Concession for the exercise of mining activity in the municipality of Jesi (AN)
Other concessions
TOTAL

2,620
377
13
18
3,028

Amortization in 2019 amounted to 393 thousand euro. This item increased by a total of 1,011 thousand euro
mainly due to the acquisition by Colacem S.p.A. of a company with regional authorization to conduct operations
involving limestone material in Taverna San Felice, situated in the municipality of Presenzano (CE).
The item Goodwill, at the end of the year has the following values:
2019
Goodwill of Inca S.r.l. branch
Goodwill of Toscana Cementi S.r.l.
Goodwill of Colabeton company branches
Goodwill of Transcommunication Media Management
TOTAL

2018
8,740
9
656
9,405

124
10,073
12
918
11,127

The total value decreased by 1,722 thousand euro as a result of the amortization during the year.
The item Assets in progress and advances, the balance of which was 1,237 thousand euro, increased by a total
of 81 thousand euro due to the investments made by Colacem S.p.A. and Colabeton S.p.A.
The item Other includes the following sub-items at year-end:
2019
Costs for improvements on third-party assets
Costs for leasehold improvements
Surface right on the industrial complex of Ravenna (RA)
Surface right on the industrial complex of Fossato di Vico (PG)
Long-term charges referring to land used for mining
Additional charges on medium and long-term loans
Share capitalized expenses Galatina energy efficiency development
project
Other
TOTAL

2018
602
447
2,481
73
571
1
1,494
324
5,993

679
501
2,559
74
878
11
818
270
5,790

Amortization for the year came to 846 thousand euro.
The most significant amounts recorded within the item Other were attributable to the surface rights of some
industrial complexes, the long-term charges related the land used for mining, the capitalized expenses related
to the energy efficiency development project of the Galatina (LE) plant owned by Colacem S.p.A., which
recorded an increase of 676 thousand euro, the costs for improvements on third party assets and costs for
leasehold improvements.
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The item Consolidation differences refers to the differences between the value paid to purchase the shares
and quotas and related net equity when they are not attributable to assets, arising during full consolidation of
the subsidiaries. At year end, the item is as follows:
2019
Tourist S.p.A.
Toscana Cementi S.r.l.
Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.
Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
Somatp S.A.
TOTAL

Year-end amortization
2020
2026
2027
2029
2029

2018
11
707
6,975
5,669
372
13,734

34
808
7,847
8,689

Amortization for the year came to a total of 1,456 thousand euro. The main increases in the year included an
amount of 6,129 thousand euro, amortized by 460 thousand euro, for the first-time consolidation of Spoleto
Cementi S.r.l.; an amount of 372 thousand euro for the capital gain resulting from the further purchase of 20.88%
of the share capital of the Tunisian-based company Somatp S.A. carried out in 2019 by its immediate Tunisian
parent CAT S.A.
The amortization criteria used for the various items under intangible assets is explained below.
-Start-up and expansion costs

5 years

-Industrial patent and intellectual property rights

3 / 5 / 10 years
duration of the authorization or in
proportion to the extracted
material
estimate of the useful life
(10 years)

-Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
-Goodwill and consolidation difference
-Other intangible assets
• Improvements on third party assets

shorter of expected useful life
and remaining lease term

• Other

duration of the contract

Regarding the above, please note that the amortization criterion used for the items Industrial patent and
intellectual property rights, Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights and Goodwill is considered to
be consistent with their remaining useful life.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The durable goods in the Group's permanent organization are included in this asset item. When there is
property, plant and equipment held for sale by the Group companies they are recognized separately from
property, plant and equipment in a specific item of current assets.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and buildings

Plant and
machinery

Industrial and
commercial
equipment

Assets under
construction and
advances

Other assets

Total

Opening balance
Original Cost
Revaluations
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accumulated depreciation
Balances at 31/12/2018

346,597

929,128

20,311

81,160

54,202

325,776

629

5,147

-

(600)

-

-

(243,888)

(1,152,772)

(19,715)

(76,035)

156,911

101,532

1,225

10,272

13,985

1,391,181

-

385,754

-

(1,492,410)

(591)

(1,191)

13,394

283,334

Change in the scope of consolidation
Original Cost

16,785

43,777

1,240

-

62,547

Accumulated depreciation

(8,729)

(40,384)

(1,156)

(603)

745

-

(50,872)

Changes in the year
Acquisitions

2,216

6,005

652

2,418

9,790

21,081

Translation differences [*]

(331)

(2,606)

(39)

(420)

(612)

(4,008)

Consolidation adjustments

117

470

25

219

209

Reclassifications [**]

1,758

5,028

-

55

(6,856)

1,040
(15)

Net divestments [***]
Depreciation

(159)

(684)

(57)

(575)

(350)

(1,825)

(7,989)

(16,996)

(741)

(2,432)

-

(28,158)

366,794

982,135

22,119

81,765

16,756

1,469,569

54,117

325,489

628

4,951

-

385,185

-

(600)

-

(591)

(1,191)

(260,332)
160,579

(1,210,882)
96,142

(21,598)
1,149

(77,037)
9,679

(590)
15,575

(1,570,439)
283,124

(210)
(121)
(331)

(324)
(2,282)
(2,606)

(12)
(27)
(39)

(135)
(285)
(420)

(22)
(590)
(612)

(703)
(3,305)
(4,008)

1,758

5,030

-

55

(6,856)

(13)

-

(2)

-

-

-

(2)

1,758

5,028

-

55

(6,856)

(15)

352

1,951

97

2,697

350

5,447

85

287

1

196

-

569

(278)

(1,554)

(41)

(2,318)

-

(4,191)

159

684

57

575

350

1,825

Closing balance
Original Cost
Revaluations
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accumulated depreciation
BALANCES AT 31/12/2019

-

[*] Of which
Original Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total

[**] Of which
Original Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total

[***] Of which
Original Cost
Revaluations
Accumulated depreciation
Total

•

-

The main increases/(decreases) in the year, with reference to the net book value of the assets, concerned:

B

Land and buildings with an increase of 3,668 thousand euro. This increase mainly refers to:
- an amount of 7,901 thousand euro for including Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 2,011 thousand euro related to Santa Monica S.p.A. which completed the agreement with
the Municipality of Misano Adriatico (RN) involving the construction of the new street and related perimeter
wall of the racetrack dedicated to Marco Simoncelli and inaugurated in 2019. The increase in the item
under review included 1,505 thousand euro for the reclassification of the item Assets in progress and
advances.
Some decreases were recorded the year and mainly related to:
- an amount of 411 thousand euro to sales made by Colabeton S.p.A.
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported at 31 December 2019 of the value of
the assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the
assets under review in the amount of 210 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 7,989 thousand euro.
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- Plants and machinery decreased by 5,390 thousand euro. This decrease was mainly due to the effect
generated by:
- an amount of 4,779 thousand euro upon the conclusion by Colacem S.p.A., at the facility located in Galatina
(LE) of a complex industrial research and experimental development project aimed to achieve energy
efficiency and at the same time reduce emissions, co-financed by MIS (identified by no. F/03003/00/X28
as part of the community framework program "Horizon 2020"). This project involved the installation of an
industrial grade hybrid filter to improve the already excellent environmental performance, guaranteeing
a considerable increase in the efficiency of the firing line, also in the phase of temporary electrical
outages, as part of the project for the installation of the 5th stage at the preheating tower. The increase
in the item under review included 3,820 thousand euro for the reclassification from the item Assets in
progress and advances:
- an amount of 2,148 thousand euro for the investment made by Citadelle United S.A. for a new grinding
plant in Lazio which included, among the various initiatives, the installation of a new bag filling machine.
- an amount of 1,887 thousand euro for adding Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. to the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 1,711 thousand euro for new investments made by Domicem S.A. mainly for the installation
of a new feeding system for the mill.
- in amount of 569 thousand euro for investments made by Cementos Espana S.l.u.
Some decreases were recorded the year and mainly related to:
- an amount of 1,259 thousand euro to sales made by Colacem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 391 thousand euro to sales made by Colabeton S.p.A.;
- an amount of 231 thousand euro to sales made by Colacem Albania Sh.p.k.
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported at 31 December 2019 of the value of
the assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the
assets under consideration equal to 324 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 16,996 thousand euro.
- Industrial and commercial equipment increased by 76 thousand euro. This decrease is mainly attributable to
the combined effect generated by:
- an amount of 84 thousand euro for adding Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. to the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 214 thousand euro for investments made by CAT S.A.;
- an amount of 172 thousand euro for investments made by Colacem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 140 thousand euro for investments made by Colabeton S.p.A.
increases offset downwards by sales:
- an amount of 44 thousand euro for disposals made by Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l.
- an amount of 40 thousand euro for disposals made by Colacem S.p.A.
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2019 of the value of
the assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the
assets under review equal to 12 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 741 thousand euro.
- Other assets decreased by 593 thousand euro. This decrease is mainly attributable to the combined effect
generated by:
- an amount of 142 thousand euro for adding Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. to the scope of consolidation;
- an amount of 677 thousand euro for investments made by Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 430 thousand euro for investments made by Cat Transport S.A.;
- an amount of 398 thousand euro for investments made by Inba S.p.A.;
- an amount of 308 thousand euro for investments made by Colacem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 134 thousand euro for investments made by Tourist S.p.A.;
- an amount of 114 thousand euro for investments made by Colabeton S.p.A.;
increases offset downwards by sales:
- an amount of 800 thousand euro for disposals made by Inba S.p.A.;
- an amount of 733 thousand euro for disposals made by Tracem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 532 thousand euro for disposals made by Colabeton S.p.A.;
- an amount of 470 thousand euro for disposals made by Colacem S.p.A.;
- an amount of 166 thousand euro for disposals made by Domicem S.A.;
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2019 of the value of
the assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the
assets under review equal to 135 thousand euro.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,432 thousand euro.
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- At year end, the item Assets under construction and advances, in the amount of 15,575 thousand euro,
refers to plants, machinery not yet completed, and advances paid to suppliers for the acquisition of durable
goods, and arose mainly from:
- an amount of 4,563 thousand euro for Colabeton S.p.A.
- an amount of 3,919 thousand euro for Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 2,677 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A.;
- and amount of 1,457 thousand euro for Domicem S.A.;
- an amount of 1,193 thousand euro for Ragusa Cementi S.p.A.;
- an amount of 1,096 thousand euro for CAT S.A.
The effect generated by the translation at the exchange rate reported on 31 December 2019 of the value of
the assets of companies that use a currency other than the euro recorded a decrease in the value of the
assets under review equal to 22 thousand euro.
In previous years, some tangible fixed assets have been subject to economic and/or monetary revaluation in
accordance with the specific laws. With regard to the economic revaluations carried out in previous years by
attributing the "negative merger differences", it is acknowledged that the new values recorded, sworn by an
independent expert, are not higher than market prices.
Pursuant to art. 10, Law no. 72/1983, the table below shows information on the assets still part of the Equity as at 31 December 2019 on
which revaluations were made in previous financial years in accordance with specific laws.:
Law
Historical no. 576 Law no. 72
2/12/1975 19/03/1983
cost
Land and buildings

55,959

Plant and machinery
Industrial and commercial
equipment
Other assets
TOTAL

724

Law
no. 413
30/12/1991

3,200

Law
no. 342
Law no.
21/11/2000 266/2005

D.
Law no.
185/2008

1
Merger
Balances at
deficit
Total
attribution revaluations 31/12/2019

Revaluation
from
conversion

11,326

-

-

11

34,527

54,117

110,076

243,587

1,660

13,477

185

157,441

115,449

4,329
-

65

37,212

325,489

569,076

2,356

5

33

-

-

-

-

-

590

628

2,984

8,781

12

84

-

2,035

-

-

5

2,815

4,951

13,732

310,683

2,401

16,794

11,511

159,476

115,449

81

75,144

385,185

695,868

4,329

Depreciation, shown in the specific table, was calculated on the basis of rates deemed representative of the remaining useful life of the
tangible assets. The rates applied were as follows:

HOMOGENEOUS CATEGORIES OF ASSETS
LANDS AND BUILDINGS
Land under concession
Industrial buildings
Buildings for hotel use
Quarries, Lands and Yards
Light construction
PLANTS AND MACHINERY
Generic and specific plants
Furnaces and related appurtenances
Water treatment and purification plant
Operator machinery and specific plants
Internal and special plants
Audio-visual and alarm systems
Telephone and telegraph systems
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL EQUIPMENT
Miscellaneous minor equipment and parts
OTHER ASSETS
Vehicles and internal means of transport
Cars and aircrafts
Ordinary office furniture and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic office equipment

82

Rates applied %
1.10
2.00 / 5.56
1.50
4.00 / 8.00
10.00
3.33 / 25.00
7.75 / 15.50
5.50 / 6.25
10.00 / 20.00
25.00
30.00
20.00
15.5 / 40.00
10.00 / 25.00
20.00 / 25.00
10.00 / 25.00
10.00
14.29 / 33.33

r
_________________________________________
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FINANCIAL ASSETS
CHANGES IN FINANCIAL ASSETS
FINANCIAL ASSETS
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGES FROM ASSESSMENT ACCORDING
TO THE NET EQUITY METHOD

CHANGES IN YEAR

Balances at
31/12/2018

Write-downs

Revaluations

(67)

64

Increase

Change in
Scope of
Consolidation

(Decreases)

(10)

(294)

Write-downs

Revaluations

CLOSING
BALANCE

Changes in
Equity

Balances at
31/12/2019

Investments
Subsidiaries
Associates
Other
investments
Total

4,119

(140)
85

(2)
19,251

315

153

4,225

(611)
-

878

-

(294)

(1,012)

18,553

49

3,056

6,039
(7)

-

2,990

26,426

(76)

64

4,021

(10)

1,064

-

-

6,044

-

(751)

134

-

-

(697)

28,817

-

7,108
4,500

Receivables
Subsidiaries

Associates
Other
receivables
Total
TOTAL

(120)

4,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

9,506

-

-

-

-

(1,555)

-

-

-

7,951

15,190

-

-

-

(1,675)

-

-

-

19,559

41,616

(76)

(10)

(1,969)

(751)

134

(697)

48,376

6,044

64

10,065

INVESTMENTS
Equity investments, shown in the table below according to the measurement policy used, may be broken down as follows.

2019

2018

Measured using the equity method
- Subsidiaries
- Associates
Measured using the cost method
TOTAL

21,654

22,258

3,708

3,619

17,946

18,639

7,163

4,168

28,817

26,426

Equity investments measured using the equity method are listed below:

COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

SHARE CAPITAL
SHARE OWNED BY
PARENT IN %

CONSOLIDATED
BOOK VALUE

Colabeton Colacem Inba
S.p.A.
S.p.A.
S.p.A.

Subsidiaries excluded from line-by-line consolidation due to dissimilar activities or irrelevance
Via del Molino, 23 Gubbio [PG] ITALY

202

95.64

-

-

-

-

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG] - ITALY

875

100.00

-

-

-

760

Via della Vittorina, 60 Gubbio
[PG] - ITALY

115

75.00

-

-

-

31

Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers
S.p.A.

Via Mario Ageloni 80/C Perugia
[PG] - ITALY

201

93.83

-

-

-

591

Trading Puglia S.p.A.

Contrade Murrone
Soleto [LE] - ITALY

1,715

-

-

-

97.60

2,326

Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Skydomus S.r.l.

Total

3,708
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COMPANY

REGISTERED
OFFICE

SHARE
OWNED BY
SHARE
OWNED
BY
SUBSIDIARIES
IN
SHARE
SHARE
CONSOLIDATED GROUP IN
%
CAPITAL OWNED BY
%
BOOK VALUE
PARENT IN %
Colabeto
Domicem Tracem
n Colacem Inba
S.p.A.
S.p.A.
S. A.
S.p.A.
S.p.A.

Associate
Umbria Televisione
S.r.l.
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Luciani S.p.A.

Via Monteneri, 37
Perugia [PG] - ITALY

170

35.00

-

-

-

Via della Vittorina, 60
Gubbio [PG] - ITALY

720

40.00

-

-

-

516

-

50.00

-

-

20,026

-

24.00

-

11

-

50.00

10

-

10

-

75

35.00

-

9,232

60.00

-

-

505

50.00

-

-

-

4,867

24.00

-

-

-

-

355

50.00

50.00

-

-

-

-

58

50.00

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

1

50.00

260

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

656

50.00

20

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

12

50.00

10

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

72

50.00

15

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

1

50.00

Via Cupa, 13
Foligno [PG] - ITALY

100

-

35.00

-

-

-

-

31

35.00

Via Cupa, 13
Foligno [PG] - ITALY

1,000

-

20.00

-

-

-

-

110

20.00

10

-

50.00

-

-

-

-

42

50.00

-

-

50.00

-

-

-

620

50.00

50.00

-

-

-

70

50.00

Fraz. Valdottavo,
Borgo a Mozzano [LU]
- ITALY

Fraz. S. Eraclio
Edilcalce Viola
Foligno [PG] - ITALY
Olindo & Figli S.p.A.
Concrete
Coriano S.r.l.
Co.Riobeton S.r.l.

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Lario
80 S.p.A.
Gre.Col. S.r.l.

Nuova Calcestruzzi
Colabeton S.r.l.
Bervan S.r.l.
Consorzio Stabile
San Francesco
S.c.a.r.l.
San Francesco
S.c.a.r.l.

Via Pagadebit, 6 Rimini
[RN] - ITALY
Via Macchioni
Spilamberto [MO] ITALY
Via Cascina del Bosco, 2
Cusago [MI] - ITALY
Via Stazione, 6/L
Cucciago [MI] - ITALY
Via Marconi, 1 Solignano
[PR] - ITALY
Strada Teverina
km 3,600
Viterbo [VT] - ITALY
Via Flaminia, 171 Rimini
[RN] - ITALY

Monteverde
Calcestruzzi S.r.l.

Via della Cava Culturano
[CO] - ITALY
Contrada Murrone
Soleto [LE] - ITALY

100

Movit S.r.l.
Calce e Cementi
Lauriano S.p.A.

Via Cappelletto, 18
Lauriano [TO] - ITALY

100

Eugreen S.c.a.r.l.

Buying House
Cement Ltda.
Total
TOTAL

Via degli Artigiani, 60
Gubbio [PG] - ITALY

6 Wellington Place
Kingston - JAMAICA

-

10

-

-

-

-

-

50.00

6

25.50

916

-

-

-

-

50.00

-

1,233

25.50

17,946

21,654

As mentioned above, subsidiaries whose inclusion would be immaterial or not suitable for achieving the
purposes of clarity and providing a true and fair view of the Group’s financial performance and financial position
are not included in the consolidation area, since they are not significant.
Overall, the value of equity investments valued at net equity decreased 604 thousand euro compared with the
previous year. This decrease was mainly due to the combined effect generated through the comparison
between the book value with the respective amount of net equity.
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Equity investments measured at cost are listed below:
COMPANY

REGISTERED OFFICE

SHARE
OWNED
BY SUBSIDIARY IN %

SHARE SHARE OWNED
CAPITAL BY PARENT IN

CONSOLIDATED
BOOK
VALUE

%

Colacem
S.p.A.

Colabeton
S.p.A.

SHARE
OWNED BY
PARENT IN %

Cat S.A.

Other
Energy For Growth
S.c.a.r.l.
Trasporti Ferroviari
Casentino S.r.l.

Via Giovanni
da Procida, 11
Milano [MI] - ITALY
Via Roma, 203
Poppi [AR] - ITALY

Cava Nacalino
S.r.l.

Corso Umberto I,
46 Modica [RG] ITALY

Les Cementerie
de Bizerte S.A.

BP 53 Baia
de Sebra
Bizerte - [TUNISIA]

n.a.

n.a.

-

8.70

-

-

5,704

8.70

-

8.25

-

-

196

8.25

-

-

50.00

-

555

50.00

-

-

-

0.23

59

0.23

10
n.a.

Other

649

7,163

TOTAL

RECEIVABLES
This item includes short, medium and long-term receivables, the details of which, at year end, are as follows:

2019

2018

DUE DATE IN YEARS
WITHIN 1

TOTAL

TOTAL

FROM 1 TO 5 OVER 5

-

7,108

-

7,108

1,064

Associates

2,838

1,662

-

4,500

4,620

Other receivables

4,865

3,086

-

7,951

9,506

TOTAL

7,703

11,856

-

19,559

15,190

Non-consolidated subsidiaries

The item Receivables from non-consolidated subsidiaries refers to interest-bearing loans in line with market
conditions granted by Financo S.r.l. to the subsidiaries Skydomus S.r.l. in the amount of 5,930 thousand euro,
Finanza Editoriale S.r.l. in the amount of 605 thousand euro and Radio Gubbio S.r.l. in the amount of 573
thousand euro.
The item Receivables due from associates mainly related to:
- non-interest bearing loans granted by Colabeton S.p.A. to the companies Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l. in the
amount of 500 thousand euro, to the consortium Vallemme, in the amount of 285 thousand euro, Luciani
S.p.A., in the amount of 70 thousand euro, Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l., in the amount of 18-thousandeuro, Cava Nacalino S.r.l., in the amount of 18 thousand euro, and Bervan S.r.l. in the amount of 15 thousand
euro;
- interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions granted by Colabeton S.p.A. to Cava di Cusago S.r.l. in
the amount of 2,240 thousand euro;
- interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions granted by Financo S.r.l. to Poggiovalle S.r.l. in the
amount of 1,041 thousand euro;
- interest-bearing loan in line with market conditions granted by Tracem S.p.A. To Eugreen S.c.a.r.l. in the
amount of 313 thousand euro;
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The item Other receivables, in the total amount of 7,951 thousand euro, comprised:
- deposits paid in the amount of 2,661 thousand euro;
- receivables of Financo S.r.l. in the amount of 500 thousand euro;
- financial receivables in the amount of 4,789 thousand euro of which:
• 3,307 thousand euro relating to the extension granted by Colacem S.p.A. for the payment of the sale
price of the Colacem Canada Inc. shareholding to the acquiring company Beton Provincial Ltd;
• 1,482 thousand euro as sums paid by Colacem S.p.A. to the guarantee fund established by law no. 208
of 28 December 2015 at Terna S.p.A. for the commitments undertaken by the Company as assignee in
the financing of works for the construction of the interconnection infrastructures (so-called Interconnector)
with foreign countries.

BREAKDOWN OF NONCURRENT RECEIVABLES BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
The table below shows the breakdown of non-current receivables by geographic area.

Geographic area
Italy
Non-current assets by geographic area
Subsidiaries
Associates
From others
TOTAL

Central
America

Europe

North
Africa

TOTAL
_________ À

7,108
4,500

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,935
17,543

126
126

200
200

1,690
1,690

7,108
4,500
7,951
19,559

NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS WITH BUYBACK OBLIGATIONS
As at 31 December 2019, no receivables resulting from transactions with buyback obligations were recognized
by the Group in the financial statements Therefore, there is nothing to report on this issue, pursuant to art. 2427
no. 6-b of the Italian Civil Code.

CURRENT ASSETS
INVENTORIES
This item is detailed as follows:

2019

2018

Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables

75,082

70,083

Semi-finished products

22,369

25,273

Finished products and goods

12,182

11,480

1,926

2,550

111,559

109,386

Advances
TOTAL

Inventories were measured using the weighted average price method. The change compared to 2018 in the
item "Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables", in the amount of 4,999 thousand year, was mainly
attributable, in the amount of 3,132 thousand euro, to the higher levels of stock held by Domicem S.A. at the
end of 2019 and the increase contributed by Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. in the amount of 2,590 thousand euro
following the expansion of the scope of consolidation, positive effects offset by the decrease recorded by
Colacem S.p.A. for a total of 9,656 thousand euro, of which 6,934 thousand euro is due to the increase relating
to Ragusa Cementi S.r.l. following the expansion of the scope of consolidation generated by the transfer of the
business unit of Colacem S.p.A.
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RECEIVABLES
This item, in the amount of 246,165 thousand euro, compared with 242,833 thousand euro as at 31 December 2018, reported a net increase
of 3,332 thousand euro, as explained in more detail below. The entrance of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation led to an
increase of 757 thousand euro.
Subsidiaries

Associates

Customers

Opening balance
Change in year
Closing balance
Share with expiry over 5
years

147,450
144
147,594
-

Taxes

452
(91)
361
-

21,832
5,173
27,005
-

Total current
receivables

Prepaid taxes
Other

7,978
(787)
7,191
-

42,783
(2,065)
40,718
-

22,338
958
23,296
-

242,833
3,332
246,165
-

CUSTOMERS
This item, which primarily includes receivables from sales of cement and ready-mixed concrete, was as follows at year end:

2019
Receivables due within the next year
Receivables due after the next year
Allowance for doubtful accounts
TOTAL

2018

152,182

154,297

5,108

4,836

(9,696)

(11,683)

147,594

147,450

Receivables from customers consist of receivables arising from normal sales transactions and mainly regard
domestic customers.
The item under review is shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts set aside in order to evaluate trade
receivables at their presumed realizable value that, after the provision for the year in the amount of 5,788
thousand euro, came to 9,696 thousand euro.
The portion due beyond the following year refers to credits for VAT paid in advance to the tax authorities and
not yet recovered due to the non-payment by customers undergoing bankruptcy proceedings. For these
receivables, which are expected to be recovered in normal commercial terms, the Group did not use the
amortized cost method.
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
This item includes non-current receivables from Group companies that are not fully consolidated and at the end of the year were made up
as follows:

2019
Non-consolidated subsidiaries
Associates
TOTAL

361
27,005
27,366

2018
452
21,832
22,284

The aforementioned receivables, which do not show amounts due beyond the next year, mainly relate to sales
of finished products made by Group companies to some subsidiaries that are not fully consolidated and
associates such as Buying House Cement Ltd., Calce e Cementi Lauriano S.p.A., Co.Riobeton S.r.l., Cava di
Cusago S.r.l., Consorzio Stabile San Francesco S.c.a.r.l., Consorzio Vallemme, Luciani S.p.A., Calcestruzzi
Germaire S.r.l. and Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
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TAX RECEIVABLES
2019
Tax receivables
- amounts due within the next year
- amounts due beyond the next year
TOTAL

2018
7,172
19
7,191

7,959
19
7,978

Tax receivables, in the amount of 7,191 thousand euro, mainly related to tax receivables claimed by Colacem
Albania Sh.pk in the amount of 3,359 thousand euro, Colacem Spain in the amount of 2,421 thousand euro,
and Colacem S.p.A. in the amount of 575 thousand euro.
National Tax Consolidation Scheme
Some companies of the Financo Group have joined the "National Consolidation" tax scheme provided for under
the tax reform, introduced with Legislative Decree no. 344 of 12 December 2003, and governed by articles 117129 of the TUIR (the Consolidated Income Tax Act).
The following subsidiaries participate in this scheme:
Consolidating company
Financo S.r.l.

Hydraulic binders
Colacem S.p.A.
Ragusa
Cementi S.p.A.
Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l.

Consolidated companies
Concrete
Colabeton S.p.A.
Concrete
Gubbio S.p.A.

Transportation
Tracem S.p.A.

Diversified
Tourist S.p.A.

Inba S.p.A.
Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.

Santa Monica S.p.A.
Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Skydomus S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Sunflower S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers
S.p.A.
Aermarche S.r.l.

r
_________________________________________
j

The consolidating company, Financo S.r.l., calculated a single Group tax base equal to the sum of the taxable
incomes for each consolidated company, decreasing it based on the interest payable which is not deductible
for tax purposes, set off by non-utilized gross operating results pursuant to paragraphs 5-a, 7, and 8 of Article
96 of the TUIR. As at 31 December 2019, the net position with the Tax Authority was a tax saving of 2,204
thousand euro.
Group VAT
Some companies of the Financo Group participate in the “Group VAT” system provided for by Art. 73, paragraph
three, of Pres. Decree no. 633 of 26 October 1972.
The following subsidiaries participate in this scheme:

Consolidating company

Financo S.r.l.

Hydraulic binders
Colacem S.p.A.
Ragusa
Cementi S.p.A.
Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l.

Consolidated companies
Concrete
Colabeton S.p.A.
Concrete
Gubbio S.p.A.

Transportation
Tracem S.p.A.

Diversified
Tourist S.p.A.

Inba S.p.A.
Trasporti Marittimi del
Mediterraneo S.r.l.

Santa Monica S.p.A.

Skydomus S.r.l.
Trading Puglia S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Sunflower S.r.l.
The parent company, Financo S.r.l, makes a single VAT payment consisting of the
of the Brokers
payments of
Grifosum
Insurance
each participating company, if necessary paying the balance to the Tax Authority.S.p.A.
As
at
31
December
2019,
Aermarche S.r.l.

the net position with the Italian tax authorities was a debt of 858 thousand euro.
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DEFERRED TAXES
This item is made up entirely of deferred tax assets relating to negative components deductible in subsequent years with
respect to the year in which they were recorded in the Income Statement and losses that can be carried forward for tax
purposes. The item may be broken down as follows :

2019
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Service costs
Provisions for Risks and Charges
Losses that can be carried forward
Cash flow hedge
Unrealized foreign currency losses
Write-down provision for tangible fixed assets
Other
TOTAL

2018
4,471
2,305
727
1,365
31,545
218
83
4
40,718

3,260
2,586
2,837
1,761
31,989
175
165
10
42,783

The balance of this item, in the amount of 40,718 thousand euro, mainly includes:
- an amount of 30,683 thousand euro for deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward by the parent
company Financo
S.r.l., relating to the establishment of the national tax consolidation scheme and an amount of 838 thousand
euro by Colacem
- an amount of 4,471 thousand euro to deferred tax assets mainly recognized on the higher amortization
carried out in the consolidated financial statements to align the amortization rates of Domicem S.A. with the
rates applied at Group level.
- an amount of 727 thousand euro to deferred tax assets mainly recognized on services costs deductible in
future years of which 261 thousand euro relating to Colabeton S.p.A and 214 thousand euro relating to
Tourist S.p.A:
- an amount of 2,305 thousand euro attributable to deferred tax assets recorded on the amortization portions
of goodwill deductible in future years of which 1,133 thousand euro relating to Colabeton S.p.A. and 200
thousand euro relating to Colacem S.p.A.
The recognition of deferred tax assets is supported by estimates according to which future income will make it
possible with reasonable certainty to absorb the differences that originally generated them in the years in which
they will be reversed. Indeed, the recognition of these receivables is consistent with future income that can be
deduced from the industrial and financial plan, which highlights taxable results such as to allow the complete
recoverability of the values in question. For this reason, the Directors consider these receivables entered in the
financial statements to be fully collectable.
OTHER RECEIVABLES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2019

2018

Receivables from employees

384

348

Receivables from social security institutions

290

201

Receivables from the Electricity Equalization Fund

3,382

9,944

Receivables from energy efficiency certificates

1,942

1,942

Receivable for the A.G.CoM penalty instalment

11,541

4,279

5,757

5,624

23,296

22,338

Other
TOTAL

The above receivables are all collectable and no value adjustments have been made on them.
During the year, the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. accrued receivables for energy efficiency certificates (white
certificates), related to certain projects, approved by the Authority for Electrical Energy and Gas, which are
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carried out at production plants and are aimed at saving energy by upgrading the plants used in the production
cycle. Receivables from the Electricity Equalization Fund refer to the registration of the benefit, pursuant to
Ministerial Decree of 5 April 2013, linked to the adjustment of the general charges of the electricity system in
favor of energy-intensive companies. In this regard, it should be noted that the receivable shown in the 2018
financial statements, in the amount of 9,944 thousand euro, on account of Colacem S.p.A., was collected in full
in July 2019. In 2019, Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. (2,104 thousand euro, pertaining to 2019), Maddaloni Cementi
S.r.l. (802 thousand euro, pertaining to 2018) and Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. (476 thousand euro pertaining to 2019)
had outstanding receivables.
The Receivable for the AGCM penalty instalment is attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and relates to the instalments
paid, up to 31 December 2019, of the penalty imposed by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM), which has
already been discussed in the "Pending disputes and proceedings" section of the management report. On 16
March 2020, the ruling of the Council of State was delivered. Despite the fact that Colacem S.p.A. attempted through its legal counsel - to challenge the ruling, the penalty was confirmed in the amount of 18,274 thousand
euro; this credit was offset against the payable arising from the aforementioned ruling, against which, as at 31
December 2019, the related provision for risks was aligned, as reported below in the comment on the item
Other provisions.
The item Others, in the amount of 5,757 thousand euros, includes 1,419 thousand euro in receivables from
Colabeton S.p.A. for the amount paid as a result of the pending litigation notified to and challenged by the
company , an amount of 291 thousand euro and for 176 thousand euro in receivables from suppliers for
advances on services respectively pertaining to Colabeton S.p.A. and Colacem S.p.A., 284 thousand euro in
receivables relating to government incentives on investments waiting to be collected made by Tracem S.p.A.
relating to 2017, 2018 and 2019 and an amount of 91 thousand euro for deposits paid by Colabeton S.p.A.
Pursuant to Art. 2427, point 6 of the Italian Civil Code, the following table shows a geographic breakdown of the receivables recognized:

Geographic area
Subsidiaries

Customers
Italy
Europe

131,855

North Africa
Risk Fund
TOTAL

Taxes

Prepaid taxes

361
-

24,378
-

-

-

11,358

-

7,005

-

2,627
-

(9,696)

-

-

287
-

147,594

361

27,005

7,191

7,063
9

North America
Central America

Associates

CURRENT RECEIVABLES
OBLIGATIONS

RELATING

TO

Other

TOTAL

1,115

35,409

22,385

215,503

5,780
-

838
-

175
-

13,856
9

9

4,471
-

666

19,131
7,362

-

70
-

(9,696)

40,718

23,296

246,165

TRANSACTIONS

WITH

BUYBACK

As at 31 December 2019, the Group companies did not record any receivables relating to transactions with
buyback obligations. Therefore, there is nothing to report in relation to these transactions pursuant to art. 2427
no. 6-ter of the Italian Civil Code.
OTHER SECURITIES
The value of the securities held at the end of the year totaled 6,912 thousand euro and relates to short-term
certificates of deposit signed by CAT S.A., in the amount of 5,903 thousand euro, and by Domicem S.A. in the
amount of 1,009 thousand euro.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
This item, in the amount of 29,509 thousand euro, includes interest accrued at 31 December 2019.
The decrease in the individual items, compared with the previous year, came to a total of 12,942 thousand euro.
The change in financial assets is detailed in the attached cash flow statement.
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ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
At year-end, this grouping may be broken down as follows:

2019

2018

Accruals

42

Deferrals

4,142

4,689

TOTAL

4,184

4,689

The item Deferrals mainly relates to lease payments and rent receivable pertinent to subsequent years. In
particular, the amount of 1,551 thousand euro regards a single contract for the multi-year lease of land used for
extraction activity, entered into by Colacem S.p.A. in 2015.
CAPITALIZED FINANCIAL EXPENSES
All interest and other financial charges were fully expensed during the year. For the purposes of art. 2427, para.
1, no. 8 of the Italian Civil Code we confirm that no financial charges were capitalized.
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NOTES ON THE MAIN LIABILITY ITEMS
Below is a detailed description of the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
The main classes making up the Equity and the related changes are discussed below. The table below shows the changes in the classes
making up Equity.
Share
capital

BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2017

Revaluation
reserves

6,000

Legal
reserve

Consolidated
NonConsolidated
Shareholders’ controlling shareholders'
Equity of the interests - equity pertaining
Cash flow hedge Profit (loss) for
Group
share
to the group and
the year
reserve
capital minority interests

Other
reserves

124,927 18,536

184,555

(484)

(26,363)

307,171

44,734

351,905

-

26,363

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8,403)

(8,403)
(28,227)

Coverage of 2017 loss
-

-

-

Dividends distributed
Change in shares,
consolidated companies

Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

23

(11,625)

(16,602)

Translation reserve

-

-

-

(749)

-

-

(749)

(110)

(859)

Net income 2018

-

-

-

-

-

11,663

11,663

9,341

21,004

(554)

11,663

306,460

28,960

335,420

BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2018

6,000

124,927

18,559

(26,363)
(11,578)

(70)

145,865

Allocation
Net income 2018
-

-

241

11,422

-

(11,663)

-

-

-

Dividends distributed
Change in shares,
consolidated companies

Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(10,076)

(10,076)

-

-

(7)

(145)

Translation reserve

-

-

-

854

Net income 2019
BALANCES AS AT 31/12/2019

6,000

124,927

18,800

158,134

-

(152)

131

(21)

854

(1,274)

(420)

-

10,564

10,564

14,623

25,187

(699)

10,564

317,726

32,364

350,090

. ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital as at 31 December 2019, fully subscribed and paid up, amounted to 6,000 thousand euro,
divided into shares pursuant to the law.

REVALUATION RESERVE
At 31 December 2019, this item came to a total amount of 124,927 thousand euro, made up of the positive balances of the monetary
revaluation reserve following the application of the following laws:

2018

2019
Revaluation reserve Law no. 576/1975
Revaluation reserve Law no. 72/1983
Revaluation reserve Law no. 413/1991
Revaluation reserve Law no. 342/2000
Revaluation reserve Law no. 266/2005
Revaluation reserve Decree Law no. 185/2008
TOTAL

205
929
381
86,417
36,419
576

205
929
381
86,417
36,419
576

124,927

124,927

The items under review show no changes compared to the previous year.
All reserves, excluding the reserve of Leg. Decree 185/2008, operate under the tax suspension regime. No
tax allocation has been made, as there are no transactions that could determine its taxation.
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OTHER RESERVES
The composition of this grouping is as follows:

2019
Extraordinary reserve
Available reserve
Consolidation reserve
Capital gains from contribution
Capital contribution reserve pursuant to art. 55 T.U.I.R.
TOTAL

2018
84,960
35,952
10,493
20,728
6,001

80,183
28,126
10,493
20,728
6,335

158,134

145,865

The increases in the Extraordinary reserve and Available reserve were mainly due to the combined effect of
the income of the previous year and the inclusion of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation.

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE
The negative reserve changes due to the accounting of future cash flows stemming from derivative instruments that are destined as "cash
flow hedging instruments". The other information section of these notes contains further details on hedging transactions. Below is an
analysis of the changes in the cash flow hedge reserve:

2019
Cash flow hedge reserve

Changes in the year and
changes in fair value

(699)
(699)

TOTAL

2018

(145)

(554)

(145)

(554)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit, in the amount of 10,564 thousand euro, represents the result for the year.

MINORITY INTEREST IN CAPITAL AND RESERVES
The changes in this item are provided in the annex.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Provision for Provision for
pensions and similar taxes, including
obligations
deferred

Derivative
instruments,
liabilities

Other
provisions

Total provisions
for risks and
charges

Opening balance

180

1,361

730

22,623

24,894

Change in the year
Closing balance

2
182

2,517
3,878

190
920

2,148
24,771

4,857
29,751

The item Provision for pensions and similar obligations, includes 166 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A. and for
16 thousand euro for Colabeton S.p.A.
The Provision for taxes, including deferred taxes, in the amount of 3,878 thousand euro, mainly includes
deferred taxes relating to negative components of income deductible in advance of their recognition in the
Income Statement or to positive components of income already recognized in the Income Statement, but taxable
in subsequent fiscal periods. This provision includes an amount of 2,921 thousand euro for Colacem S.p.A., for
591 thousand euro for CAT S.A, 111 thousand euro for Colacem Espana S.l.u., 107 thousand euro for Tourist
S.p.A. and remaining amount of 148 thousand euro for other consolidated companies of the Group.
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The table below shows a breakdown of the Provision for Deferred Taxes.

2019
Accelerated depreciation
Capital gains on disposals
Other minor charges
TOTAL

2018
1,241
2,637
3,878

1,286
11
64
1,361

The Provision for derivatives, liabilities includes the effects of the fair value valuation (Mark to Market) of the
existing derivative financial instruments. For information on “Financial derivatives, liabilities”, please see the
specific paragraph in the Other Information section of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
The item Other provisions as at 31 December 2019, in the amount of 24,771 thousand euro, mainly refers to:
- 18,274 thousand for the provision for penalties imposed by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM),
prudently allocated by Colacem S.p.A. As has been largely explained in the Pending Disputes and
Proceedings section of the Management Report, the Provision for penalties imposed by the Italian
Competition Authority (AGCM), relates to the provision set aside in previous periods (on 31 December 2018,
the amount was 11,000 thousand euro) and as at 31 December 2019 an additional 7,274 thousand euro
was added by Colacem S.p.A., connected to the foreseeable risk of losing the case, equal to a prudential
amount based on the current fine imposed by the AGCM. In particular, the Directors of Colacem S.p.A.
attempted- through their legal counsel- to appeal the fine decided by the Italian Competition Authority
(AGCM). This decision was confirmed for the entire amount with the ruling of the Council of the State
delivered on 16 March 2020.
On the day on which the ruling was delivered, the total debt of 18,274 thousand euros was recognized and,
at the same time, the provision was utilized. The debt was offset with the credit already recognized in these
financial statements for the instalments already paid.
- 1,309 thousand euro for charges connected with the extension and expansion of the Sasso Poiano mine in
Caravate (VA), which Colacem S.p.A. undertook to bear during 2019 and in the coming years;
- 875 thousand euro to the provisions made during the consolidation with the equity method of the investments
in the subsidiary Radio Gubbio S.r.l. for 140 thousand euro, in the associated company Cava di Cusago
S.r.l. for 666 thousand euro and in the associated company Bervan S.r.l. for 69 thousand euro in respect of
the adjustment of the book value as illustrated in the table below;
- 872 thousand euro for provisions made by CAT S.A. relating to tax audits relating to the tax periods from
2013 to 2015;
- 700 thousand euro for provisions made by Colabeton S.p.A. for disputes relating to work carried out;
- 795 thousand euro for the provision made in 2018 by Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. relating to the restoration of
the Vittoria quarry;
- 659 thousand euro for provisions made by Aermarche S.r.l. for maintenance related to the helicopter;
- 257 thousand euro for provisions made by Colacem Albania Sh.P.K. relating to tax assessments;
As regards the amount of 3,580 thousand euro relating to the proceedings between Colabeton S.p.A. and the
Italian Competition Authority (AGMC), it should be noted that the company, considering the final nature of the
fine provided for in the decision of AGMC that was made final with the ruling of the Council of the State in March
2019, the company decided to reclassify the amount under review to "Other payables".
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COMPANY

REGISTERED

OFFICE

SHARE CAPITAL

SHARE OWNED BY PARENT
IN %

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

CONSOLIDATED BOOK
VALUE

SHARE OWNED BY
GROUP IN %

Colabeton S.p.A

Subsidiaries excluded from line-by-line consolidation due to dissimilar activities or irrelevance
Radio Gubbio S.p.A.

Via del Molino, 23
Gubbio [PG] - ITALY

95.64

202

(140)

95.64

TOTAL (140)

COMPANY

OFFICE

REGISTERED

SHARE
CAPITAL

SHARE OWNED BY THE
PARENT IN %

SHARE OWNED BY
SUBSIDIARIES IN %

CONSOLIDATED BOOK
SHARE OWNED BY THE
VALUE
GROUP IN %

Colabeton S.p.A

Associate

Cava di Cusago S.r.l.

Bervan S.r.l.

Via Cascina del
Bosco, 2
Cusago [MI] - ITALY
Via Flaminia, 171
Rimini [RN] - ITALY

-

50.00

(666)

50.00

(69)

50.00

10

15

-

50.00

Total

(735)

TOTAL

(875)

There are additional disputes pending, which are related to ordinary company business activities. Although it is
not possible to predict or determine with certainty the outcome of these proceedings, the Group feels that the
final rulings will not have a significant negative impact on the economic-financial conditions, considering the
allocations already reported in the Financial Statements.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (TFR)
The changes in the item during the year were as follows:

2018

2019
Opening balance
Change in the scope of consolidation
Provision for the year
Uses/payments
CLOSING BALANCE

17,561

17,285

269

554

4,225

4,156

(5,422)

(4,434)

16,633

17,561

This item increased as a result of the inclusion of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation, which
contributed a total of 269 thousand euro, for the amounts set aside in favor of staff for post-employment benefits
(TFR) pursuant to the law, and decreased due to the payments made to former employees, for advances
granted for healthcare expenses and for the purchase of their first home and, since July 2007, for companies
under Italian law, based on the reform of the supplementary pension (Legislative Decree no. 252/2005), for
payments made to closed pension funds and to the Treasury Fund managed by INPS.
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PAYABLES
Below we explain the composition and changes in the year of the items included in this grouping.
Pension and
Banks
Opening balance
Change in year
Closing balance
Share with expiry over 5 years

Other lenders Advances

144,861
(29,422)
115,439

47,281
5,620
52,901

1,126

Suppliers

institutions

Taxes

90,869

587
1,713

social security

Subsidiaries Associates

1,083
91,952

Other

Total
Payables

998

8,958

9,223

4,646

58,000

365,962

(53)

5,874

3,642

184

(6,666)

(19,151)

945

14,832

12,865

4,830

51,334

346,811

PAYABLES TO BANKS
Payables to bank comprise the following:
2019

2018

DUE DATE IN YEARS
WITHIN 1

Pool financing UniCredit, MPS Capital Services, BPM
Popular Bank Limited
Banco Popular Dominicano
Syndicated loan Unicredit - BPM - Banca Popolare Valconca
- MPS - ICCREA
Ubi Banca
Banca Popolare di Desio
Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena
Ministero dello Sviluppo Economico
UniCredit
Banco BPM
Veneto Banca
Cassa di Risparmio di Orvieto
Intesa SanPaolo
BNA

BCC Leverano
Banca Popolare Valconca
Amortized cost effect on POOL loan 2018
TOTAL

FROM 1 TO 5

15,000
8,243
4,226

60,000
16,832
-

1
2,500
2,127
1,668
159
824
746
394
250
234

2,847
652

TOTAL

OVER 5

TOTAL

-

75,000
25,075
4,226

90,000
27,314
4,367

2,848
2,500
2,127
1,668
1,145
824
746
394
250
234

7,441
5,367
6,656
1,304
499
336
1,473
750
-

28

77

1
-

3
1,514

-

(1,627)

334

115,439

(2,240)
144,861

334

28

1
-

-

(567)

(1,060)
79,271

35,834

-

The change in payables due to banks, following the inclusion of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation,
did not cause a specific change in the amount of bank debt since Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. did not have any bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2019.
Details are provided below on the main transactions with credit institutions shown in the table above. With regard to
the loan granted by the Pool UniCredit, MPS Capital Services and BPM, taken out by Colacem S.p.A. on 28 June
2018, during 2018 the company finalized the Refinancing agreement of the consolidated debt, based on the loan
agreement entered into with a pool of banks comprising UniCredit S.p.A, Banco BPM S.p.A. and MPS Capital
Services Banca per le Imprese S.p.A. for a total of 120 million euro, which provided for a first line of 90 million euro,
maturing on May 30, 2024, and a second line of RCF facility for a total of 30 million euro, maturing on 31 December
2021, used by the company in the technical form of signing commitments.
In early 2019, the company obtained from the lending institutions to consent to certain derogations from the loan
agreement, as well as to make certain amendments to it, in order to adapt the related provisions to the new 20192025 Business Plan, with particular reference the above extraordinary transactions during the period. On 22 March
2019, Colacem S.p.A. signed the waiver agreement and the amendment to the original loan agreement, with a
consistent redefinition of the existing financial covenants, all of which were met at 31 December 2019.

As part of these transactions, we negotiated the release and return of the bank guarantee issued by Unicredit
S.p.A. in the amount of 30 million euro to guarantee the deferred part of the consideration for the purchase of
the investment in Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l..
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Financial transactions with the Popular Bank Limited Inc., in the amount of 25,075 thousand euro, include:
- 11,361 thousand euro of disbursements to Domicem S.A. of which 6,680 thousand euro relating to a mediumterm loan maturing in 2021 and 4,681 thousand euro relating to short-term credit lines;
- 13,714 thousand euro paid to Citdelle United S.A. for two loans which include a short-term amount of 890
thousand euro and 12,824 thousand euro due beyond the next year.
The outstanding credit lines with Banco Popular Dominicano S.A., in the amount of 4,226 thousand euro, relate
to a short-term loan granted to Domicem S.A.
Financial transactions with the Pool of Banks, Unicredit - BPM - Banca Popolare Valconca - MPS - ICCREA, in
the amount of 2,848 thousand euro, are in place with Santa Monica S.p.A., which in the month of December
2019, settled the three debts with the Banca Popolare Valconca totaling 1,256 thousand euro and Intesa San
Paolo totaling 632 thousand euro by concluding a new syndicated (pool) loan with the Unicredit bank hub worth
a total of 7,900 thousand euro. Approximately 1,880 thousand euro was used by the company to repay the
above-mentioned debts, while the remaining 6,020 thousand euro represents a new loan to be used for the
investment planned by Santa Monica S.p.A. for the construction of the "New Box Building". The loan under
review will be disbursed in three tranches over a period of 12 months from the signing of the deed (19 December
2019). The first tranche of 3,000 thousand euro was paid at the time of signing, and the second tranche will be
paid within 6 months for an amount not exceeding 3,000 thousand euro, depending on the work progress
schedule. The loan under review is backed by collateral on corporate assets such as land and buildings.
Financial transactions with Ubi Banca, in the amount of 2,500 thousand euro, are in place with Colacem S.p.A.
relating to a medium-term loan maturing on 27 November 2020.
Financial transactions with Banco Desio S.p.A., in the amount of 2,127 thousand euro, regard:
- an amount of 1,105 thousand euro to the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A., for a loan repayable by 3 April 2020;
- an amount of 1,022 thousand euro to the subsidiary Colabeton S.p.A., of which 557 thousand euro for a loan
repayable by 21 June 2020 and 465 thousand euro for bank overdrafts.
Financial transactions with Banca Monte dei Paschi di Siena S.p.A., in the amount of 1,668 thousand euro,
regard bank overdrafts for Colabeton S.p.A.
Financial transactions with the Ministero dello Sviluppo Economico Ministry of Economic Development, in the
amount of 1,145 thousand euro, is entirely attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and related to the energy efficiency
development project of the Galatina plant (LE). The repayment date of the loan under review is scheduled for
31.12.2026.
Financial transactions with UniCredit S.p.A., for a total of 824 thousand euro, regard:
- an amount of 762 thousand euro of disbursements to Colabeton S.p.A. relating to a bank overdraft.
- an amount of 62 thousand euro of disbursements to Tourist S.p.A. relating to a bank overdraft.
Financial transactions with Banca BPM di Milano, in the amount of 746 thousand euro, are all attributable to
Colabeton S.p.A. for bank overdrafts.
Financial transactions with Veneto Banca S.p.A., for a total of 394 thousand euro, regard a loan disbursed in
2008 to the parent company Financo S.r.l. repayable by 31 December 2020.
Financial transactions with Cassa di Risparmio di Orvieto S.p.A., for a total of 250 thousand euro, are entirely
attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and related to a medium-term loan maturing on 30 June 2020.

PAYABLES TO OTHER LENDERS
This item had a balance of 52,901 thousand euro. The increase compared to the previous year, in the amount
of 5,620 thousand euro, was mainly attributable to Colacem S.p.A. and Citadelle United S.A.
With regard to Colacem S.p.A.:
payables to other lenders came to a total of 50,599 thousand euro.
- The amount of 42,072 million euro reflects the outstanding debt towards Italcementi S.p.A. of which 26,072
thousand euro for the deferred payment, with final maturity on 31 December 2025, for the purchase of the
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-

-

equity investment in Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l., and 16,000 thousand euro related to the deferred payment,
with final maturity on 31 December 2024, for the purchase of the equity investment in Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
The total debt of 42,072 thousand of Euro was secured by a pledge made on the shares representing 100%
of the share capital of the subsidiary Ragusa Cementi S.p.A. which, starting from 1 March 2019, was the
subject of the contribution by the immediate parent Colacem S.p.A. of the cement production plant located
in Contrada Tabuna - Ragusa (RG) and the related mining activities.
The amount of 8,336 thousand euro related to the disposal of the investment in the subsidiary Colacem
Canada Inc. by Colacem S.p.A., which was preceded by the buy back by Colacem Canada Inc. of the shares
held by the shareholder Simard Beaudry, the payment of the price of which has been deferred and last
instalment is expected in April 2022. At the same time as the sale of the shareholding, Colacem S.p.A. took
on this debt, of which it received the relative nominal value from the subsidiary Colacem Canada Inc,
guaranteeing it, in part, by channeling the cash flows stemming from the extension of the sale price of the
investment granted to Beton Inc, accompanied by the personal guarantee issued by the parent company
Financo S.r.l.
Lastly, the amount of 191 thousand euro refers to the loan granted by IBM Italia Servizi Finanziari S.p.A to
purchase hardware.

As regards Citadelle United S.A., the balance as at 31 December 2019, in the amount of 2,302 thousand euro,
refers to the interest-bearing loan with a repayment obligation granted by the non-controlling shareholder Bigio
Gilbert.

PAYABLES FOR ADVANCES
Payables for advances, in the amount 1,713 thousand euro, regard advances received from customers for
future sales; during the previous year they amounted to 1,126 thousand euro.

PAYABLES TO SUPPLIERS
This item, in the amount of 91,952 thousand euro, increased by 1,082 thousand euro year compared with the
previous year, due to the effect of the inclusion of Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. into the scope of consolidation, which
led to an increase of 1,063 thousand euro in trade payables, and the combined effect of the increases recorded
by Domicem S.A. (2,494 thousand euro) and CAT S.r.l. (1,531 thousand euro), increases offset by reductions
in the trade payables recorded by Colacem S.p.A. (5,137 thousand euro), Colabeton S.p.A. (804 thousand
euro), Maddaloni Cementi S.r.l. (772 thousand euro) and Citadelle United S.A. (501 thousand euro).
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PAYABLES TO SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
The nature and composition of the Payables to subsidiaries and associates are shown below:

2019
Payables due to subsidiaries
Financial
Skydomus S.r.l.
Group IRES
Finanza Editoriale S.r.l.
Granulati Centro Italia S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Grifo Insurance Brokers S.p.A.
Total
Group VAT
Trading Puglia S.p.A.
Skydomus S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Total
Other
Skydomus S.r.l.
Radio Gubbio S.r.l.
Total
Total

2018

-

120

263
105
465
23
856

264
106
419
69
858

1
85
86

17
17

1
2
3
945

1
1
2
997

The nature and composition of Payables to associates are shown below:

2019

2018

Payables to associates
Trade
Calce e Cementi Lauriano S.p.A.
Cava di Cusago S.r.l.
Consorzio Stabile
San Francesco
Consorzio San Francesco S.c.a.r.l., in liquidation
S.c.a.r.l. Coriobeton S.r.l.
Edilcalce Viola Olindo & Figli S.p.A.
Poggiovalle S.r.l.
Calcestruzzi Coriano S.r.l.
Monteverde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
Luciani S.p.A.
Consorzio Vallemme
Nuova Calcestruzzi Colabeton S.r.l.
Eugreen S.c.r.l.
Total

2
493
13,319
1
31
95
35
8
79
41
692
1
3
14,800

143
458
7,791
4
29
87
8
366
9
8,895

Other
Monte Verde Calcestruzzi S.r.l.
Other
Total
Total

31
1
32
14,832

15
48
63
8,958
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TAX LIABILITIES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2019

2018

Payables to tax authorities
Income taxes for the year

8,088

3,666

Payables for withholdings
VAT

4,476
301

4,492

12,865

9,223

TOTAL

1,065

PAYABLES TO PENSION AND SOCIAL SECURITY INSTITUTIONS
This item, in the amount 4,830 thousand euro, refers to the payables due at the end of the year to these
institutions for the portions paid by the Group companies and borne by the employees in relation to the wages
and salaries of December, as well as for the share of deferred remuneration.

OTHER PAYABLES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2019

2018

Short-term payables
Payables to employees for wages and salaries

5,081

6,423

Payable for the purchase of a company branch

310

75

34,593

48,284

1,542

-

5,155

-

2,924

2,583

49,605

57,365

Payable for the purchase of a company branch

310

-

Payable for the purchase of equity investments

198

-

Payable due to the Province of Varese
Payable to AGCM

483

-

710

-

Payable to the Ministry of the Environment (Italy) for EUAs
Payable to AGCM
Payable for differences on futures contracts for the repurchase
of EUAs
Other
Total
Long-term payables

Other
Total
TOTAL

28

635

1,729

635

51,334

58,000

Among Other Payables, the most significant change related to the recognition by Colacem S.p.A. of the payable due to the
Ministry for the Environment connected with the obligation to return EUAs on the basis of greenhouse gas emissions
produced during the year. This debt was entered at its presumed expiry value which, in consideration of the signing of
futures contracts for the forward repurchase of allowances, coincides with the forward value envisaged by the
aforementioned contracts inclusive of the positive margins already credited to the company under the aforementioned
futures contracts. During 2019, the Company recognized a surplus of allowances, as the difference between the free
allocation of EUAs and those consumed during the year, which reduced the allowance deficit for the year ending 31
December 2019 compared to the previous year. The debt of the previous year was therefore reduced in proportion to the
surplus allowances and as a counter-entry was recognized in the item Other Revenue and Income, while the reduction
related to the positive margins credited relating to futures contracts previously included in the debt, was recognized under
the item Accruals and deferred income pending the result of the actual realization pertaining to the year .
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The amount of 5,155 thousand euro also refers to Colacem S.p.A. and concerns the differentials on futures
contracts for the repurchase of EUAs pertaining to the financial year debited by the bank in early January. The
payable due to the Province of Varese posted by Colacem S.p.A. already in 2015 and recognized in the 2018
consolidated financial statements in the item Other, is related to the charges due to the Entity for the expansion
and extension of the "Sasso Poiano" mining concession in Caravate (VA).
The payable for the purchase of a company branch, in the total amount of 620 thousand euro, of which 310
thousand euro is due after the financial year, refers to the outstanding debt contracted by Colacem S.p.A. for
the purchase of the company branch for the exercise of mining activities already mentioned in the section on
Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights.
As already discussed in the section on Provisions for risks and charges, during the year Colabeton S.p.A.
recognized under Other payables the payable, net of the provision previously made in the amount of 3,580
thousand euro, relating to fine provided for in the decision of AGMC that was made final with the ruling of the
Council of the State in March 2019. This amount was decreased by the instalment payments already made by
the company until March 2019 and recognized in the item Other receivables, while the amount of 710 thousand
euro falls due after the year.

MATURITIES OF PAYABLES DUE BEYOND THE NEXT YEAR
Payables due after the next financial year, broken down by maturity, are as follows:
DUE DATE IN YEARS
FROM 1 TO 5 BEYOND 5

TOTAL

Payables to banks

79,271

334

Payables to other lenders

46,022

-

144

-

144

1,729

-

1,729

127,166

334

127,500

Payables to suppliers
Other payables
TOTAL

79,605
46,022

BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL PAYABLES BY INTEREST RATE CATEGORY
The breakdown of financial payables by interest rate category is as follows:

2019

2018

Interest rate classes
Up to 2%

56,107

2.01 to 4%

23,066

Over 4.01%
TOTAL

54,362
106,930

89,480
168,653

28,293
189,585

Pursuant to art. 2427 of point 6 of the Italian Civil Code, the following table shows a geographic breakdown of
the payables reported in the financial statements:
Geographic area
Other
lenders

Banks
Italy

Advances

Subsidiaries Associates

Suppliers

86,110

50,599

555

73,398

945

Europe

-

-

10

2,501

-

North America

-

-

-

-

Central America
North Africa
TOTAL

29,301
28
115,439

8

2,302
-

1,148
-

9,257
6,788

-

52,901

1,713

91,952

945

-

Pension and
social security

Taxes

14,832

Other

TOTAL

5,665

4,110

50,648

286,862

-

221

30

36

2,798

-

-

-

-

8

-

5,230
1,749

68
622

264
386

47,570
9,573

12,865

4,830

51,334

346,811

14,832
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PAYABLES BACKED BY COLLATERAL ON CORPORATE ASSETS
Other
lenders

Banks

Pension and
social security Other
institutions

Advances Suppliers Subsidiaries Associates Taxes

TOTAL

Payables backed by Collateral
Backed by Mortgages
Backed by Pledges

2,848
81,680

Total

84,528

Unsecured debt

30,911
115,439

TOTAL

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,848

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

81,680

-

-

52,901 1,713
52,901 1,713

-

-

-

91,952
91,952

945
945

14,832
14,832

-

-

12,865
12,865

4,830
4,830

-

84,528

51,334
51,334

262,283
346,811

The mortgages recorded on the Group's assets refer to those recorded on the property owned by Santa Monica
S.p.A. to guarantee financing obtained by these companies.
As for pledges, the amount indicated in the previous table may be broken down as follows:
- with reference to the loan granted by the Pool UniCredit, MPS Capital Services and BPM, in the amount of
75 million euro, Colacem S.p.A. has made a pledge in favor of credit institutes on some investments held in
subsidiaries. In particular, a pledge was made on the equity investment held in Tourist S.p.A. for a nominal
value of 10.2 million euro, representing the entire share capital of the company, on the equity investment
Santa Monica S.p.A., for a nominal value of 13.8 million euro, representing 92.89% of the share capital, and
finally on the entire stake held in CAT S.A.;
- for 6,680 thousand euro for a pledge made by Domicem S.A. on machinery relating to the new Loesche mill
in favor of Popular Bank Limited to guarantee the loan granted.
ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
As at 31 December 2019, this grouping was as follows:

2018

2019
Accruals

2,465

3,232

Deferrals
TOTAL

20,284
22,749

11,125
14,357

The item Accrued expenses was mainly attributable to personnel costs, such as the performance bonus for the
year including additional personnel contributions and payments accrued during the year but paid in 2019, and
interest on loans.
The item Deferred income includes an amount of 19,905 thousand euro for the positive differentials relating to
futures contracts of Colacem S.p.A. on the surplus allowances as at 31 December 2019 and credited on 31
December 2019 in consideration of the positive differential between the EUA market price and the price agreed
with the subscription of the future whose positive economic manifestation pertains to the year of actual
realization, consistent with the hedging strategy applied to mitigate the risk of EUA price changes estimated by
the company, in a context not affected by COVID-19, to have to return to the competent authority at the end of
the current National Emission Program.
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NOTES TO THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE INCOME STATEMENT
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales and service revenues
Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services are as follows:

2019

2018

Cement and hydraulic binders

397,909

337,950

Concrete and aggregates

102,159

104,341

Other
TOTAL

23,399
523,467

24,237
466,528

These revenues are from sales to domestic customers for 62.5% and sales to foreign countries for the remaining
37.5%.
Revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services are broken down by geographic area as follows:

2018

2019
Italy

327,086

281,003

Europe

42,259

48,775

North Africa
North America

40,227
2

32,688
6,989

113,891
2
523,467

96,700
373
466,528

Central America
Other
TOTAL

CHANGES IN INVENTORIES FOR IN-PROGRESS, SEMI FINISHED AND FINISHED
PRODUCTS
The item under review had a negative balance of 3,802 thousand euro, mainly attributable to the decrease in
the inventories of semi-finished products.

INCREASE IN OWN WORK CAPITALIZED
In 2019, costs relating to materials and labor for a total of 1,787 thousand euro were capitalized in this item,
mainly including an amount of 822 thousand euro attributable to Domicem S.A. and an amount of 616 thousand
euro attributable to Colacem S.p.A.
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OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME
This item comprises:

2019

2018

Operating grants
Other
Other revenue and income
Operating income
Capital gains from disposals
Rental income

436

553

26,610
13,748
1,903

23,146
36,995
1,873

Other
Total
TOTAL

5,717
47,978
48,414

2,099
64,113
64,666

Operating income includes the revenues of Colacem S.p.A. relating to the energy interruptibility service and
revenues relating to the EUAs resulting from the negotiation of the allowances available - within the context of
free allocation - directly on the market. The change compared to the previous year is due to the lower revenues
relating to the interruptibility and "interconnector" service and the lower revenue stemming from EUAs, the latter
of which decreased from 7,464 thousand euro in 2018 to 3,443 thousand euro in 2019.
Capital gains on disposal of assets mainly relate to the capital gain realized by Colacem S.p.A. resulting from
the sale of the business unit for marketing white cement, which was discussed in the management report.
The item Other, in the amount of 5,717 thousand euro, included 4,690 thousand euro in revenue related to the
management of Colabeton S.p.A.'s consortia activity attributable to the pro-rata chargeback of the portion of
revenue pertaining to Colabeton S.p.A. concerning the Consorzio Stabile San Francesco S.c.a.r.l. and
Vallemme.

OPERATING COSTS
COSTS FOR PURCHASES
Costs for purchases comprised the following items:

2019
Raw materials
Subsidiary materials and consumables
Finished products and goods
Maintenance materials
Energy products
TOTAL

60,629
42,530
4,347
10,167
51,636
169,309

2018
57,121
37,127
5,386
8,026
49,104
156,764

The item Costs for purchases, in the amount of 169,309 thousand euro, is mainly attributable to costs
contributed by Colacem S.p.A. for 68,686 thousand euro, by Colabeton S.p.A. for 31,409 thousand euro, by
Domicem S.A. for 29,733 thousand euro, by CAT S.A. for 12,138 thousand euro, by Tracem S.p.A. for 3,176
thousand euro, by Ragusa Cementi S.r.l. for 5,547 thousand euro and by Inba S.p.A. for 1,070 thousand euro.
The increase in this item came to a total of 12,545 thousand euro related to the higher volumes of production
achieved in 2019.
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SERVICE COSTS
Service costs comprise the following items:

2019
Production services
Sales services
General administrative services
Remuneration of corporate bodies
Directors' fees
Statutory Auditors' fees
Independent auditor
Supervisory body
Total
Other
TOTAL

2018

95,491
58,302
9,982

84,928
61,468
10,583

3,722
292
301
58
4,373
22,268
190,416

3,268
285
266
57
3,876
21,294
182,149

The item Service costs, in the amount of 190,416 thousand euro, was mainly attributable to costs relating to
Colacem S.p.A. for 84,530 thousand euro, to Colabeton S.p.A. for 37,437 thousand euro, to Domicem S.A. for
22,041 thousand euro, to Santa Monica S.p.A. for 10,659 thousand euro, to CAT S.A. for 8,732 thousand euro,
to Tracem S.p.A. for 6,073 thousand euro, to Ragusa Cementi S.r.l. for 5,487 thousand euro, to Maddaloni
Cementi S.r.l. for 2,207 thousand euro, to Inba S.p.A. for 1,714 thousand euro, to Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. for
1,432 thousand euro, to Tourist S.p.A. for 1,561 thousand euro, to Colacem Albania for 1,361 thousand euro
and to Financo S.r.l. for 1,191 thousand euro.
The item Other mainly refers to insurance premiums, EDP and external consulting costs.
This item increased by a total of 8,267 thousand euro, of which 1,432 thousand euro relating to Spoleto Cementi
S.r.l. as a result of its inclusion in the scope of consolidation, 1,784 thousand euro relating to Citadelle United,
1,342 thousand euro relating to CAT S.A. and 1,093 thousand euro relating to Tracem S.p.A.

COSTS FOR USE OF THIRD-PARTY ASSETS
This item comprises:

2019

2018

Rental fees

5,128

4,924

Leasing fees
TOTAL

1,830
6,958

1,749
6,673

Rental fees are mainly related to the use of production plants by Group companies, while Leasing fees are
mainly related to the use of vehicles.
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PERSONNEL COSTS
The composition of this item has already been provided in the Income Statement. The average number of employees broken down by
category is as follows:

2019

2018

Senior management

39

41

Middle managers

84

83

White-collar employees
Blue-collar workers
TOTAL

737

747

1,091
1,951

1,125
1,996

Other personnel costs in 2019, in the amount of 4,655 thousand euro, included the costs for temporary workers,
costs pertaining to the year for early retirement and leaving incentives, and expenditure incurred for gifts to
employees.

DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND WRITE-DOWNS
The breakdown of this item is already provided both in the Income Statement and in the tables reporting changes
in tangible and intangible fixed assets.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS
As has been largely explained in the section on Provisions for risks and charges in these notes and in the
Pending Disputes and Proceedings section of the management report, to which the reader is referred, the
provision under review relates to the additional amount of 7,274 thousand euro set aside by Colacem S.p.A. in
relation to the fine imposed by the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM), in order to align the provision for risks
to the total amount of the fine, in the amount of 18,273 thousand euro, confirmed by the ruling of the Council of
the State delivered on 16 March 2020.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
This item may be broken down as follows:

2019
Taxes other than income taxes

2018
6,063

5,687

Miscellaneous commercial costs
Advertising and entertainment

350
839

705

Losses on disposal of assets and contingent liabilities

119

2,772

3,633
11,004

3,839
13,683

Other
TOTAL

680

Taxes other than income taxes include mainly the IMU (municipal property tax) pertaining to the year.
The decrease in the item Losses on disposal of assets and contingent liabilities was mainly attributable to the
economic effects included in the 2018 financial statements, and not in these financial statements, relating, for
an amount of 1,436 thousand euro, to the lower realizable value resulting from the sales of inventories and an
amount of 889 thousand euro for the settlement of a pending dispute with a neighbor of the property complex.
Both of these situations concerned Colacem Canada Inc. which was sold in 2018.
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FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES)
OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME
This item may be broken down as follows:

2019
Receivables entered as fixed assets
Interest on loans granted to subsidiaries
Interest on loans granted to associates
Other income
Total
From other non-current securities
Miscellaneous income
Other income
Financial income on derivative instruments
Bank interest received
Other
Total
TOTAL

2018

44
30
15
89
1

15
58
15
88
-

395
10

8,843
261
24

405
495

9,128
9,216

INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCIAL EXPENSES
The item Other interest and financial expenses may be broken down as follows:

2019
Interest expense on financial debt
Subsidiaries
Other interest and financial expenses
Interest expense on bank debt
Interest expense on other debts
Other
Total
TOTAL

2018

-

1

5,046
452
1,668
7,166
7,166

6,579
220
2,319
9,118
9,119

Interest and other financial expenses mainly related to the loan agreements in place with the various credit
institutions as already explained in the item Payables to banks.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES
This item suffered a net loss of 2,127 thousand euro due to the combined effect of exchange gains in the amount
of 18,997 thousand euro and exchange losses in the amount of 21,124 thousand euro, both mainly attributable
to the companies Colacem S.p.A., Citadelle United S.A. And Domicem S.A.
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VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS
REVALUATIONS
The item Revaluations of equity investments, in the amount of 198 thousand euro, relate to the positive
differences resulting from the valuation of the equity investments using the equity method.

WRITE-DOWNS
The item Write-downs, in the amount of 827 thousand euro, mainly relates to the negative differences resulting
from the valuation of equity investments using the equity method.

AMOUNT AND NATURE OF INDIVIDUAL ITEMS OF INCOME/EXPENDITURE OF
EXCEPTIONAL SIZE OR INCIDENCE
No items of income or expenditure of exceptional size or incidence were recognized in 2019 which, pursuant to
article 2427 paragraph 13 of the Italian Civil Code must be indicated separately.

CURRENT, DEFERRED, AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES FOR THE YEAR
This item, in the amount of 19,931 thousand euro, comprises current taxes for the year in the amount of 18,163
thousand euro, the allocation of prepaid taxes in the amount of 686 thousand euro and the allocation of deferred
taxes in the amount of 1,082 thousand euro.
The expense for income taxes for the year is significantly influenced by permanent differences between the
before tax result for purposes of financial reporting and the taxable income of subsidiaries, due to the nondeductibility for tax purposes of certain costs and expenses. Following is a table reconciling the theoretical tax
burden with the actual charges posted to the Income Statement.
2019
Earnings before taxes
Applicable tax rate % - IRES

(a)
(b) %

2018

31,249

30,365

24

24

(c) = (a) x (b)

7,500

7,288

Effect of the difference between the tax rate of the parent company
and that of the other companies

(d)

1,399

963

Tax effect on permanent differences

(e)

388

(1)

Tax effect on temporary differences

(f)

2,883

272

Effects of the change in tax rates

(h)

128

-

Withholding taxes on foreign dividends

(g)

1,444

1,081

Other changes

(h)

5,091

171

19,392

9,774

539

497

Theoretical tax

Actual income tax burden
Actual IRAP tax charge (for Italian companies)

(i) = (c) + (d) + (e) + (f) + (g) + (h)
(l)

19,931
10,271
Actual tax charge recorded in the Income Statement
(m) = (i) + (l)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

NOTES TO THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
A cash flow statement was been prepared which represents the summary document that links the changes that
occurred during the year in the company's assets to the changes in the financial situation; it highlights the values
relating to the financial resources generated by the company during the year as well as the related uses. With
regard to the method used, it is specified that the Group has adopted, according to the provisions of OIC 10,
the indirect method according to which the cash flow is reconstructed by separating the operating result from
the non-monetary items.
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OTHER INFORMATION
COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES NOT DISCLOSED IN
THE BALANCE SHEET
Details of the commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities not included in the Balance Sheet as at 31
December 2019 are shown below.

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS
[Amounts in thousands of euro]

2019
2018
A) PERSONAL GUARANTEES PROVIDED
1) Sureties in favor of
a) others
TOTAL PROFESSIONAL GUARANTEES PROVIDED

60

60

60

60

4,087

4,841

2,002

1,070

-

1,041

61,500

61,825

67,589

68,777

67,649

68,837

C) COMMITMENTS
1) Upcoming lease payments
3) Letters of comfort to
a) subsidiaries
b) associates
4) For financial instruments
TOTAL COMMITMENTS
TOTAL MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS

SURETIES
OTHER COMPANIES
Sureties, in the amount of 50 thousand euro refer to those issued by Inba S.p.A. in favor of Tirrenia S.p.A.,
relating to tolls and sea freights in progress.

COMMITMENTS
UPCOMING LEASE PAYMENTS
The commitments for financial leasing fees falling due, in the total amount of 4,087 thousand euro, mainly
represent the total value of the leases falling due and to be paid to the lessor companies, including the final
redemption value envisaged by the contracts and excluding the fees already paid.
The accounting system followed for these assets complies with the civil law in force in Italy and provides for the
recognition in the Income Statement of paid lease fees. The adoption of the financial method, the effects of
which would not determine significant values, would have led to the recognition in the consolidated Income
Statement of the year of the interest accrued on the financed capital and of the amortization portions on the
value of the assets themselves, in addition to the entry of the assets under Assets and the residual debt under
Liabilities.
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LETTER OF COMFORT
Subsidiaries
The binding letters of comfort were issued by the parent company Financo S.r.l. to the subsidiaries Grifo
Insurance Brokers S.p.A., Radio Gubbio S.r.l. and Poggiovalle S.r.l.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As already discussed in the Management Report, Colacem S.p.A. has signed futures contracts for the forward
repurchase of 2.5 million energy certificates. The value of the forward repurchase commitments of the
certificates amounted to a total of 61.5 million euro at 31 December 2019, compared to 61.8 million euro in the
previous year.

DISCLOSURE ON DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Some Group companies are exposed to different types of financial risks, including interest rate risks. Therefore,
in order to minimize these risks, the companies use derivative instruments as part of their "risk management"
activities, while derivatives or similar instruments are not used or held for purely trading purposes.
The exposure to interest rate risk in terms of fluctuations in interest rates is essentially linked to the existence
of loans negotiated at variable rates. This risk manifests itself in the possibility of a rise in market rates leading
to a greater disbursement in terms of interest expense.
The aim of this type of hedging is to minimize the fluctuation in interest flows generated by variable rate passive
loans. The exposure to the risk of interest rate fluctuations is calculated on the basis of the amortization schedule
for the loan and the reference parameter used to determine the interest.
All the companies involved have designated under hedge accounting both the derivative instruments present
from 1 January 2016, having verified the eligibility criteria of the hedge accounting, and the derivative
instruments subscribed subsequently.
The aforementioned hedging transactions concern derivative financial instruments having characteristics very
similar to those of the hedged element, so that they can be defined as “simple hedging relationships” and the
derivative financial instrument is subscribed at market conditions.
Therefore, the subscribed derivative financial instruments have been designated as hedging instruments
pursuant to article 2426 paragraph 1, number 11-bis, of the Italian Civil Code, which sets out “hedging is
considered to exist in the presence of a close and documented correlation between the characteristics of the
hedged instrument or transaction and those of the hedging instrument”.
As at 31 December 2019, the subsidiary Colacem S.p.A. has the following transactions in place to hedge the
risk of changes in interest rates for certain loans. In accordance with the provisions of article 2427-a of the
Italian Civil Code and the OIC document no. 32 we provide the following information regarding these contracts:
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Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2019:

Euro (575,092)

Liabilities covered:

UniCredit Pool Loan no. 23433413

Notional value on the reporting date:

30,937,500 euro

Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2019:

30,937,500 euro
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Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2019:

Euro (190,177)
Liabilities covered:
Monte dei Paschi Pool loan no. 35814 901
Notional value on the reporting date:
10,312,500 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2019: 10,312,500 euro

Company:

Colacem S.p.A.

Type of derivative contract:

Interest Rate Swap

Purpose:

Hedging

Underlying Financial Risk:

Interest rate risk

Fair value of the derivative ("Mark to Market") as at
31.12.2019:

Euro (154,174)

Liabilities covered:
BPM Pool loan no.118601
Notional value on the reporting date:
8,250,000 euro
Carrying amount of the hedged liability as at 31.12.2019: 8,250,000 euro

INFORMATION ON RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions were carried out during the year. However, these transactions were concluded at
market conditions, therefore, based on current legislation, no additional information is provided with respect to
what has already been reported in these notes to the financial statements and further explained in the
Management Report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
With reference to point 22-quater of article 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, after the end of the year no significant
events occurred after the reporting period whose effects could require changes or additional comments with
respect to the financial position and financial performance as at 31 December 2019.
With the recent and rapid development of the COVID-19 outbreak, many countries have imposed restrictions
or suspensions of certain business activities and adopted travel restrictions and quarantine measures
("Containment Measures"). Disruptions are more pressing and pronounced in some industries such as tourism,
hospitality, transportation, retail sales and entertainment, while other industries such as manufacturing are
expected to experience possible domino effects. Immediate consequences were seen in the financial markets.
The outbreak of the coronavirus epidemic in China subsequently spread to the rest of the world. On 30 January
2020, the IHR Emergency Committee set up by the WHO declared the outbreak a "public health emergency of
international concern." On 31 January 2020, the Council of Ministers declared a public health emergency until
31 July 2020. Since then, many more cases have been diagnosed, also in other countries. In Italy, the pandemic
initially affected the regions of Northern Italy and then spread to the rest of the country. The Italian Government
has issued a number of Decrees in support of the public emergency and the Presidency of the Council of
Ministers has introduced increasingly restrictive measures on businesses and social gathering sectors in order
to reduce the risk of infection.
The circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, extraordinary in both nature and scope, are having
repercussions on all of the Group's economic activities and have created an environment of general uncertainty,
the evolution of which, and relative effects, is difficult to predict at the moment.
For purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019, events related to
COVID-19 are considered "non-adjusting events" in the financial results. Moreover, the Group will continue to
constantly monitor the evolution of the emergency situation linked to the spread of the COVID-19 virus, in view
of both changes in regulatory framework and the complex global economy, in order to assess whether to
implement further measures to protect its assets. However, it is worth noting that the administrative and
accounting structure are capable of promptly identifying these risks.
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TRANSPARENCY OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO ART. 1, PARAGRAPH 125, OF LAW
NO. 124 OF 4 AUGUST 2017
Law 124/2017 has introduced in article 1, paragraphs 125-129, new disclosure obligations regarding the
transparency of public funds received and granted; in particular, for companies, the legislation requires the
publication in the explanatory notes to the financial statements for the individual companies under Italian law
included in the consolidation area, of all economic benefits of an amount equal to or greater than 10,000 euro,
received from public sources of the Italian state. More recently, law no. 12 of 11 February 2019 (with which the
"simplification decree" was converted), created a link between the obligations established by law no. 124/2017
and the discipline of the National Register of State Aid, with the aim of simplifying the publication for the
companies benefiting from the aid.
In addition to what is indicated in the National Register of State Aid, section “Transparency”, available at
(https://www.rna.gov.it/RegistroNazionaleTrasparenza/faces/pages/TrasparenzaAiuto.jspx)
the
following
additional disbursements were collected from the companies under Italian law included in the consolidation
area:
Colacem S.p.A.
As for the benefits stemming from the application of art. 39 of Legislative Decree No. 83 of 22 June 2012,
converted into Law no. 134 of 7 August 2012 (so-called energy-efficient tariffs), which the company received in
2018, reference should be made to the National Register of State Aid (RNA), introduced by art. 52 of Law no.
234 of 24 December 2012, subsequently amended by art. 14 of Law no. 115 of 29 July 2015 and whose
operation is regulated by Ministerial Decree 115/2017.
Finally, it should be noted that the company received benefits from the so-called virtual import of foreign
electricity prices (pursuant to Law no. 99 of 23 July 2009). These benefits, however, entail a precise series of
obligations for the company, which together with other "assignee companies", has undertaken to participate in
investments aimed at the construction of power lines connecting the neighboring countries. This is evidenced
by the company Terna S.p.A.., which fulfills the related publication duty.
Spoleto Cementi S.r.l.
In 2019, Spoleto Cementi S.r.l. recognized an estimated benefit of 476 thousand euro towards electricity cost
reductions as a relief measure pursuant to art. 39 of Legislative Decree No. 83 of 22 June 2012, converted into
Law no. 134 of 2012. To date, the receivable is still recognized under the item “Other receivables” in current
assets, since no amount has been collected in this regard. The aforementioned benefit, intended for “energyintensive” companies, has already been published in the National Register of State Aids by the C.S.E.A. public
body.
Inba S.p.A.
In 2019, Inba S.p.A. took advantage of the reduction in excise duties on diesel for automotive use in relation to
the liters consumed, for which the economic benefit during the year was 173 thousand euro. Moreover, in 2019
the company benefited from the Ferry Bonus for 5 thousand euro.
Santa Monica S.p.A.
Santa Monica S.p.A. in 2010 opened a workshop for the production of electricity through a photovoltaic system,
part of the European incentive program for the production of electricity from solar sources through plants
permanently connected to the electricity grid.
This led to an agreement with the Gestore dei Servizi Energetici (GSE) for the recognition of a financial
contribution for each KWh produced. For 2019, energy production amounted to 425,037 kWh, developing a
contribution of 143 thousand euro.
In addition, Santa Monica S.p.A., from 2014, started participating in tourism promotional marketing projects,
falling under the minimum regime, financed by the Emilia Romagna Region according to Regional Law 7/98, as
amended, in the form of an ATI (temporary association of companies).
In 2019, the project resulted in a contribution of 18 thousand euro not yet paid up at the time of drafting this
document. It should also be noted that the contribution of 24 thousand euro pertaining to 2018 was paid in 2019.
Tourist S.p.A.
Tourist S.p.A., pursuant to art. 10 of Legislative Decree no. 83/2014 regulated by Ministerial Decree of 7 May
2015, concerning the costs relating to building renovation or to the elimination of architectural barriers incurred
by hotel companies and structures that carry out farm holiday activities and structures that provide spa
treatments, on 9 July 2019 received a tax credit by the Ministry of Agriculture in the amount of 38 thousand euro
which will be settled by offsetting it in the F24 tax form used to pay taxes for the period.
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Tracem S.p.A.
During 2019, Tracem S.p.A. received an economic benefit of 420 thousand euro relating to the reduction of
excise duty on diesel for automotive use in relation to the liters of fuel consumed during 2019.
In addition, in 2019 the company made investments benefiting from the contributions provided for by Mit Decree
no. 305 of 20 June 2017, as well as by the implementing decree of 17 July 2017. The related contribution benefit
to the plant was 70 thousand euro, of which 60 thousand euro related to the purchase of 2 vehicles fueled by
LNG (Liquefied Natural Gas) and 10 thousand euro relating to the purchase of 2 diesel-powered vehicles.
Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l.
During 2019, Trasporti Marittimi del Mediterraneo S.r.l. took advantage of the reduction in excise duties on
diesel for automotive use in relation to the liters consumed, for which the economic benefit during the year was
45 thousand euro.

Gubbio, 28 May 2020
The Board of Directors
Francesca Colaiacovo
Maria Carmela Colaiacovo
Carlo Colaiacovo
Stefano Farabbi
Mariano Spigarelli
Paola Colaiacovo
Giuseppe Colaiacovo
Cristina Colaiacovo

Chairman
Vice Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
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The undersigned Francesca Colaiacovo hereby declares that the balance sheet and income statement were
not prepared according to the format prescribed in Italian XBRL taxonomy, as it is not sufficient to represent
the Company's specific situation, in accordance with the principle of transparency and providing a true and fair
view as per art. 2423 of the Italian Civil Code. "Stamp duty paid using the virtual system via the Chamber
of Commerce of Perugia authorized with Ord. Prot. no. 159194/01 of 22/11/2001 of the Ministry of
Finance - Dept. of Revenue - Revenue office of Perugia".
Self-certification, pursuant to and for the purposes of articles 21, first paragraph, 38, second paragraph, 47,
third paragraph and 76 of Presidential Decree no. 445 of December 28, 2000, and subsequent additions and
amendments: "The undersigned Colaiacovo Francesca, as Chairman of the Board of Directors, hereby
declares that this electronic document is consistent with the document transcribed and signed in the
in the company’s ledgers.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
PURSUANT TO ART. 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO. 39 of 27 JANUARY 2010

To the Shareholders of
Financo S.r.l.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group (the "Group"), comprising the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019,
the income statement and the cash flow statement for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the Group as at 31 December
2019, the results of operation and the cash flow for the year ended in accordance with the Italian standards regulating the basis of preparation of
financial statements.

Basis for opinion
We have audited the accounts in compliance with the international standards on auditing (ISA Italia). Our responsibilities pursuant to these standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent from Financo
S.r.l. in accordance with the standards and principles relating to ethics and independence applicable to Italian law on the auditing of financial statements.
We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate evidence on which to base our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw your attention to the information provided by the Directors in the "Business outlook" section of the management report, concerning the
circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic which are impacting the Group's business. In this context, some subsidiaries of the parent company,
Financo S.r.l., approved an update to their 2020 financial budgets that foresees, among other things, new financing transactions in the framework of
the measures enacted by the Italian Government through recent regulatory measures to provide liquidity to companies.
The Directors, in view of the advanced stage of negotiations with the banks at the reporting date (without prejudice to the completion of all the relevant
decision-making processes as part of the simplified procedure for obtaining the SACE guarantee or the SME Guarantee Fund), indicate that they are
reasonably certain that these financing transactions will be concluded, which will enable them to adequately manage the financial resources needed
to meet the Group's obligations in the foreseeable future.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Responsibilities of the directors and the board of statutory auditors for the consolidated financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that provide a true and fair view in accordance with Italian regulations on
the basis of preparation and, within the time limits established by law, for that part of the internal control deemed necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In drafting the consolidated financial statements, they
are responsible for the appropriateness of the assumption of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, as well as for adequate disclosure on
the subject. The directors prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless they have determined that conditions exist
for winding up parent company Finance s.r.l. or for interruption of business operations or have no realistic alternatives to these choices.
The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for monitoring, within the terms provided by law, the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Italian International Standards) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with international audit standards (ISA Italia), we exercised professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit of the accounts. We also:
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identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;



obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control;



evaluated the appropriateness of accounting standards used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management;



reached a conclusion on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
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the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern;


evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;



obtained skepticism sufficient and appropriate evidence on the financial information of the companies or of the different economic
activities carried out within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
management, supervision and performance of the Group's audits. We have the exclusive responsibility of the audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements.

We communicated to the heads of governance activities, identified at an appropriate level as required by ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our
audit.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Assessment pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 39/10
The Directors of Financo S.r.l. are responsible for preparing the Financo Group management report as at 31 December 2019, including its consistency
with the skepticism related consolidated financial statements and its compliance with the law.
We carried out the procedures indicated in the auditing standard (SA Italia) no. 720B in order to express an opinion on the consistency of the
management report with the consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group as at 31 December 2019 and on its compliance with the law, and to
issue a statement on any material misstatements.
In our opinion, the management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of the Financo Group as at 31 December 2019 and was
prepared in compliance with the law.
With reference to the statement required by art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e) of Legislative Decree 39/10, based on our knowledge and understanding of
the company and its environment obtained through our audit, we have nothing to report.

Rome, 30 June 2020
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"Stamp duty paid using the virtual system via the Chamber of Commerce of Perugia authorized with
Ord. Prot. no. 159194/01 of 22/11/2001 of the Ministry of Finance - Dept. of Revenue - Revenue office of
Perugia".
Self-certification, pursuant to and for the purposes of articles 21, first paragraph, 38, second paragraph, 47,
third paragraph and 76 of Presidential Decree no. 445 of December 28, 2000, and subsequent additions and
amendments: "The undersigned Colaiacovo Francesca, as Chairman of the Board of Directors, hereby
declares that this electronic document is consistent with the document transcribed and signed in the
in the company’s ledgers.
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